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In the more than 50 years since its founding in 1952, All

Nippon Airways Co., Ltd. (ANA), has provided air transportation

services, with the highest priority on safe operations. ANA is

proud of the high level of trust that customers have placed in the

Company. As a result of that trust, ANA has grown into a world-

class airline, with more than 50 million passengers a year.

With an overriding emphasis on safety and customer 

satisfaction, the ANA Group will continue working to be Asia’s

Number 1 Airline.

Our Commitments
On a foundation of security and reliability, the ANA Group will

• Create attractive surroundings for customers

• Continue to be a familiar presence

• Offer dreams and experiences to people around the world

ANA Group Safety Principles
Safety is our promise to the public and is the foundation of our business.

Safety is assured by an integrated management system and mutual respect.

Safety is enhanced through individual performance and dedication.

Forward-Looking Statements
This annual report contains statements based on ANA’s current plans, estimates, strategies, and beliefs; all statements that are not
statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements. These statements represent the judgments and hypotheses of the
Company’s management based on currently available information. Air transportation, the Company’s core business, involves govern-
ment-mandated costs that are beyond the Company’s control, such as airport utilization fees and fuel taxes.

In addition, conditions in the markets served by the Company are subject to significant fluctuations. Factors that could affect
actual results include, but are not limited to, economic trends, sharp changes in exchange rates, fluctuations in the price of crude oil
and disasters.

Due to these risks and uncertainties, the Company’s future performance may differ significantly from the contents of this annual
report. Accordingly, there is no assurance that the forward-looking statements in this annual report will prove to be accurate.

ANA Group Corporate Philosophy

Profile
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U.S. dollars (Note 2)
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2007 2006 2008
For the Year

Operating revenues ¥ 1,487,827 ¥ 1,489,658 ¥ 1,368,792 $14,850,055
Operating expenses 1,403,438 1,397,468 1,279,990 14,007,765
Operating income 84,389 92,190 88,802 842,290
EBITDA (Note 3) 201,176 180,800 165,003 2,007,945
Net income 64,143 32,658 26,722 640,214

Cash flows from operating activities 165,765 158,714 128,525 1,654,506
Cash flows from investing activities (69,827) (128,298) (46,449) (696,946)
Cash flows from financing activities (87,336) (100,897) (3,137) (871,704)
Free cash flow 95,938 30,416 82,076 957,561

Depreciation and amortization
(excluding extraordinary depreciation) 116,787 88,610 76,201 1,165,655

Capital expenditure 357,733 251,926 235,580 3,570,546

At Year-End
Total assets ¥1,783,393 ¥1,602,091 ¥1,666,843 $17,800,110
Interest-bearing debt 767,876 749,446 846,317 7,664,198
Total shareholders’ equity (Note 4) 452,972 398,223 346,309 4,521,130

Yen U.S. dollars (Note 2)

Per Share Data
Net income ¥  32.93 ¥  16.77 ¥  15.64 $0.329
Net assets 232.58 204.42 177.89 2.321
Cash dividends 5.00 3.00 3.00 0.050

• Operating revenues totaling ¥1,487.8 billion were essentially unchanged, despite a decrease in the number 
of domestic passengers and the sale of the hotel business, because of measures to increase operating revenues 
and the contribution of air fare revisions. 

• Operating expenses increased 0.4% to ¥1,403.4 billion. ANA responded to the rising price of fuel by better 
matching capacity to demand, reducing fuel consumption and lowering other costs.
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Consolidated Financial Highlights
All Nippon Airways Co., Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries (Note 1)

Years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

Note: Increases and decreases are compared with the fiscal year ended March 2007.
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• EBITDA increased 11.3% to ¥201.1 billion despite an 8.5% decrease in operating income to ¥84.3 billion. 

• Net income increased 96.4% to a record high of ¥64.1 billion, reflecting the contribution of the gain on sale 
of hotel business assets. 

• ANA worked to strengthen its financial structure. The debt/equity ratio improved to 1.7 times from 1.9 times
and the equity ratio increased to 25.4% from 24.9%.

Total Shareholders’ Equity (¥ Billions)
Equity Ratio (%)
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Total Shareholders’ Equity /
Equity Ratio
(¥ Billions, %)

Depreciation and Amortization*/
Capital Expenditure
(¥ Billions)

Number of Passengers
(Thousands)

Cargo Volume
(Tons)

2008 2007 2006
Management Indexes

Operating income margin (%) 5.7 6.2 6.5
ROA (%) (Note 5) 5.3 6.0 5.7
ROE (%) (Note 6) 15.1 8.8 9.5
Equity ratio (%) 25.4 24.9 20.8
Debt/equity ratio (times) (Note 7) 1.7 1.9 2.4

Operating Data
Domestic passenger services:

Available seat-km (millions) 62,651 62,414 60,973
Revenue passenger-km (millions) 39,928 40,564 39,712
Number of passengers (thousands) 45,557 46,471 45,474
Load factor (%) 63.7 65.0 65.1

International passenger services:
Available seat-km (millions) 28,285 26,607 25,338
Revenue passenger-km (millions) 21,291 20,145 18,769
Number of passengers (thousands) 4,827 4,552 4,135
Load factor (%) 75.3 75.7 74.1

Cargo volume:
Domestic (tons) 462,569 457,914 440,750
International (tons) 332,507 277,571 248,735

Notes: 1. As of March 31, 2008, there were 81 consolidated subsidiaries and 23 equity-method subsidiaries and affiliates.
2. U.S. dollar amounts in this report are translated, for convenience only, at the rate of ¥100.19=US$1, the approximate exchange rate as of March 31, 2008.
3. EBITDA = operating income + depreciation and amortization
4. Total shareholders’ equity = shareholders’ equity + valuation, translation adjustments and others
5. ROA = (operating income + interest and dividend income) / simple average of total assets
6. ROE = net income / simple average of total shareholders’ equity
7. Debt/equity ratio = interest-bearing debt / total shareholders’ equity
8. Yen amounts are rounded down to the nearest million. U.S. dollar translations, percentages and other operating data are rounded to the nearest number.

Depreciation and Amortization*
Capital Expenditure

Domestic
International

Domestic
International

*Excluding extraordinary depreciation



During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2008, the rising price of

crude oil and intensifying competition, both global and domestic,

made our operating environment challenging. In addition to steadily

accumulating profits, ANA has made bold moves to improve its

financial structure including the issuance of new stock to increase

capital in March 2006 and the transfer of its hotel business assets

in June 2007. These moves have enabled us to concentrate

management resources on our core air transportation business and

to make progress in building a corporate structure that can generate

stable earnings in a variety of operating environments. As a result,

operating income exceeded our initial plan for the fiscal year, even

though the price of fuel reached an historic high during the period.

The number of takeoff and landing slots at Narita and Haneda

airports is set to increase in 2010, and the price of fuel continues to

rise. With these and other changes in our operating environment in

mind, we formulated the new ANA Group Mid-Term Corporate

Strategy (April 2008 to March 2012) in January 2008. Its goals are

to make ANA Asia’s Number 1 Airline and to establish the solid

operating base that will allow us to maintain that position. With our

unyielding commitment to air traffic safety as our core value, we

will continue to deploy management resources to promote global-

ization of our businesses and innovation of their structure, two key

growth drivers that will enhance ANA’s corporate value.

We intend to meet expectations by steadily implementing our

Mid-Term Corporate Strategy and decisively capturing opportunities

to grow. I would like to request the continued support of our valued

shareholders as we do so. 

July 2008

Mineo Yamamoto

President and Chief Executive Officer
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ANA is working to create new value
to achieve its corporate vision of being
Asia’s Number 1 Airline. 

To Our Shareholders



Innovation:

Globalization:

New approaches and practices for work that go
beyond the conventional framework
Expanding scope of activity worldwide

Key Factor:
Expansion of Takeoff and Landing Slots at Tokyo Area Airports

2009 2010 2011 2012

October 2010: 
New runway begins operation

Haneda
Airport

March 2010: 
Runway extension

Narita
Airport

Key Themes: Innovation and Globalization

Prior investments necessary for
growth from the fiscal year ending
March 2011

Enhanced corporate value from prior
investments made in Step One and
expanded scale of business

Targets of the Mid-Term
Corporate Strategy

(Fiscal year ending March 2012)

• mber 1Numb  in Asia by customer 
action     satisfa index*

• g income: Operating 
    ¥120 lion or higher billio

• ncome margin: Operating inc 7% or higher

• n total assets calculated using Return on t
ing income (ROA):     operatin 6% or higher

Achieve our corporate vision of 
being Asiab ’s Number 1 Airline and’s

uild the robust management basebui
sustain itto su

• International Passenger Business I
     Available seat-kilometers: +18%

• Cargo Business
     Freighter capacity: +302%

• Domestic Passenger Business
     Available seat-kilometers: unchanged

siness PlanBusin
s. fiscal year ended March 2008)(vs.

Step One
Investment for expansion of
Haneda Airport

Step Two
Sustainable growth enabled by 
expansion of takeoff and landing slots 
at Tokyo area airports

(Fiscal years ending March 31)

*Average of results of customer satisfaction index surveys

Expansion from
300 thousand to
420 thousand (final stage)

Expansion from
200 thousand to
220 thousand (final stage)
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Growth in Business Scale and Profits (Model)

Expansion of
business scale/
earnings base

Expansion into
new business areas

Reinforcement of
operational structure

＋22%

Business Scale

Boost profitability through

Innovation

+5%

Domestic
Passengers

FY2011
Revenues

(vs. FY2007)

FY2007
Revenues

Example

Circle size represents scale of revenues.
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ANA Group Mid-Term Corporate Strategy
(April 2008 to March 2012)

Overview of Mid-Term Corporate Strategy

Note: Comparisons with the fiscal year ended March 2008 are based on actual results and therefore differ from the ANA Group Mid-Term Corporate Strategy, 
which was formulated prior to the announcement of results for the fiscal year ended March 2008.
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An Interview with President and CEO Mineo Yamamoto

What specific changes in ANA’s operating
environment did you take into account in
creating the ANA Group Mid-Term Corporate
Strategy (April 2008 to March 2012)? What are
its initiatives for ANA’s growth?

In 2010, takeoff and landing slots are set to increase
at Tokyo area airports: at Narita Airport in March, and
at Haneda Airport in October. But on the demand side,
the domestic air travel market is maturing and 
competition has intensified. Low-cost carriers (LCCs)
are emerging in the deregulated international air travel
market. Moreover, with crude oil prices forecast to
remain high, ANA needs a management plan that deals
decisively with fuel issues.

In this changing environment, we formulated our
Mid-Term Corporate Strategy to help us achieve our
corporate vision of being Asia’s Number 1 Airline,
measured by quality, customer satisfaction and value
creation. During the first two years, defined as “Step
One,” we will make proactive investments to prepare
for the airport capacity expansions, which are an excel-
lent opportunity for us to strengthen competitiveness

and to expand our business scale. In “Step Two”
during the two years to March 2012, we will be
positioned to take full advantage of the increase in
takeoff and landing slots and to grow our business
aggressively. Ultimately, airport slots are scheduled to
increase by approximately 40% and 10%, respectively,
at Haneda and Narita airports, with total capacity in the
Tokyo area rising by approximately 30%. By the time
we complete our Mid-Term Corporate Strategy in
March 2012, we project a total increase of approxi-
mately 15% from the current level, with 50,000 slots at
Haneda and 20,000 at Narita. Based on this expansion,
we are targeting revenue growth of approximately
16% compared with the fiscal year ended March 2008,
and an increase in operating income of about 1.4 times
to more than ¥120 billion.

Public awareness of environmental issues has
been rising notably. Dealing with those issues is one of
our key business challenges. In May 2008, we supple-
mented the ANA Group Mid-Term Corporate Strategy
(April 2008 to March 2012) by announcing the ANA
Ecology Plan (April 2008 to March 2012). ANA is the
first among the world’s airlines to set CO2 emission
targets. We intend to reduce CO2 emissions on
domestic routes from the current 4.9 million tons to an
annual average of 4.7 million tons or less during the
plan. Including international routes, our target for the
fiscal year ending March 2012 is to reduce CO2

emissions 10% on a per passenger- and ton-kilometer
basis compared with the fiscal year ended March 2007.

We are well aware that the rising price of fuel
exerts a substantial impact on airline management. The
ongoing increase in fuel prices since we formulated the
Strategy has been a concern. Therefore, reforming our
cost structure is crucial to achieving our financial
targets. We must accelerate innovation, which is a key
element of the Mid-Term Corporate Strategy, and
optimize our route networks and number of flights
from the standpoint of profitability. 

By steadily implementing these measures, we will
create new value and meet the expectations of share-
holders and investors.

Moving Ahead with the ANA Group Mid-Term Corporate Strategy
(April 2008 to March 2012)

Mineo Yamamoto, President and Chief Executive Officer
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Innovation and Globalization are the key
themes of the ANA Group Mid-Term
Corporate Strategy (April 2008 to March 2012).
How will ANA give concrete expression to
these themes, and what specific targets does it
plan to achieve?

Airlines that stick to the approaches and mindset
of the past are not going to survive in a deregulated,
competitive environment. We selected Innovation
and Globalization as our key themes because they
highlight what we need to do to succeed in these
new conditions.

Innovation is essential both for the services we
offer customers and for business growth that does not
require substantial increases in human and physical
resources. We will introduce new approaches and
practices. By automating operations with information
technology (IT), we plan to raise the level of productiv-
ity per employee1 by 20% by March 2012, with the
fiscal year ended March 2008 as the benchmark. We
will also change our cost structure to achieve consis-
tent growth in profitability.

Globalization involves accurately understanding
customer needs from an international perspective in
markets that are expanding on a worldwide scale. 
We will also globalize capacity so that our profitability
continues to grow as the scale of our business
expands.

Our target for the fiscal year ending March 2010 is
to be Asia’s Number 1 Airline measured by customer
satisfaction indicators.2 We also want to be the leader
in Asia in value creation. For the fiscal year ending
March 2012, we have targeted operating income of
¥120 billion or higher, an operating income margin of
7% or higher, and return on total assets, calculated
using operating income, of 6% or higher.

1. Available passenger- and ton-kilometers per employee
2. Average of results of customer satisfaction index surveys

How will ANA develop its businesses under its
Mid-Term Corporate Strategy? For example,
ANA plans to rapidly expand the scale of its
cargo business. However, trends in that indus-
try suggest that doing so may not be feasible. 

First of all, in domestic passenger operations, the
conventional method is to match capacity to demand
by route. A shift to capacity-demand matching across
our entire network will let us accommodate the matur-
ing market and the changing competitive environment.
We will concentrate on increasing operations at
Haneda Airport, which are highly profitable, and employ
a simple rotation system for aircraft between hubs and
destinations. This system will not only facilitate the
assignment of aircraft that match demand on each
route, but will also allow us to excel at repositioning
aircraft in the event of operational irregularities and
improve on-time performance. A simple rotation
system will also contribute to reducing costs.
Furthermore, our differentiation strategy will include
setting diverse fares in response to customer needs,
promoting the evolution of the SKiP system that elimi-
nates check-in at airports, and further expanding and
developing our high-grade Premium Class.

Our international passenger operations will adopt a
“network airline” business model to expand the scale
of business. With the increase in airport slots in the
Tokyo area, by the fiscal year ending March 2012 we
expect to increase the number of flights by approxi-
mately 30% compared with the fiscal year ended
March 2008. Haneda Airport will therefore be at the
center of our plan to expand our network of China and
short-haul Asia routes while matching capacity with
demand. We plan to increase flights on existing high
load factor routes and add destinations on European
and medium-haul Asia routes, while strengthening
profitability and competitiveness by enhancing
products and services. Needless to say, both the Star
Alliance and bilateral alliances with other airlines will
remain strategically important.

Finally, we have formulated plans for the cargo
business based on an exhaustive survey of corporate
shippers. Simply expanding our existing cargo consoli-
dation business model will not result in higher
profitability. However, we do see excellent growth
prospects for an integrated shipping business within
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Asia that provides intercompany distribution and
package express services. In April 2008, we estab-
lished the international express business company All
Express Corporation, which began operations in July
2008. In the fiscal year ending March 2010, we plan to
meet our customers’ wide-ranging needs by building a
cargo hub in Okinawa that will operate 24 hours per
day. Although we will emphasize business develop-
ment within Asia, we will also generate synergies with
our network of North America and Europe routes. We
plan to increase our cargo freighters from the current
six to fourteen for this purpose. We have targeted a
profit margin close to 10% in the cargo business by the
fiscal year ending March 2012, driven by a precision
shipping service that employs sophisticated IT to
ensure a tight focus on customer needs, efficient
revenue management, and consistent top-line growth.

In the fiscal year ended March 2008, ANA
made large-scale investments totaling ¥357.7
billion. What are ANA’s future capital 
expenditure plans, and how will it strengthen
its financial position? 

In the fiscal year ended March 2008, we used the
cash generated by the divestiture of our hotel business
to invest in fuel-efficient aircraft to strengthen our
competitiveness in anticipation of changes in our
operating environment. We also aggressively invested
in reinforcing operation support systems and improving
safety to prevent a recurrence of the problems caused
by the landing gear incident at Kochi Ryoma Airport in

March 2007 and the passenger check-in system
outage at Haneda Airport in May 2007.

We will continuously invest to position our
businesses to grow and become more competitive
during Step Two, which will begin in April 2010. Over
four years, we will invest a total of ¥920 billion, consist-
ing of ¥630 billion for aircraft and ¥290 billion mainly for
IT, innovation and the highest possible operational
safety. We plan to fund this investment with operating
cash flow, financing and returns on our investments.
Interest-bearing debt will increase moderately through
the fiscal year ending March 2012, but we intend to
maintain a sound financial position by improving our
debt/equity ratio.

In April 2008, Boeing announced delays in deliver-
ing the Boeing 787. ANA is minimizing the impact of
the delay on its Mid-Term Corporate Strategy by
moving forward with required adjustments to stay on
plan regarding business expansion and cost reductions.

What are ANA’s plans for future shareholder
returns?

Shareholder returns are ANA’s top priority, and we
intend to maintain a good balance with investments for
future growth. We increased cash dividends per share
for the fiscal year ended March 2008 by ¥2.00
compared with the previous fiscal year to ¥5.00 since
we achieved results that exceeded our plan, partly by
divesting our hotel business. The fiscal year ending
March 2009 will be challenging, particularly because of
the continuing rise in fuel prices, and we will balance
shareholder returns with investment in future business
expansion and a stronger financial structure. We there-
fore plan to pay cash dividends per share totaling
¥3.00, and we will determine dividend payments for
the fiscal year ending March 2010 after comprehen-
sively considering the operating environment and our
performance. 

We will increase shareholder value by achieving
the objectives of the ANA Group Mid-Term Corporate
Strategy (April 2008 to March 2012) as we work to
enhance future shareholder returns. We are counting
on the continued support of our shareholders and
investors as we work to meet their expectations.
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Doing What It Takes 
to be Asia’s Number 1 Airline

In light of major changes in its operating environment, ANA formulated the ANA Group
Mid-Term Corporate Strategy (April 2008 to March 2012) in January 2008 to realize its
corporate vision of being Asia’s Number 1 Airline.

Rapidly changing conditions require a more innovative mindset and business model in
order to become Asia’s Number 1 Airline. ANA must take on the additional challenges of
developing new demand and enhancing customer satisfaction to advance to the stage
where it can create new value.

Embracing a New Business Model >>> Page 10

Cargo Business Growth Drivers: A Hub in Okinawa and the Express Business

Advancing into a new business field to cultivate new demand, ANA will develop

the cargo business into a third pillar of earnings and a symbol of growth. We will

actively deploy management resources and initiate a new business model with the

twin objectives of expanding our businesses and strengthening profitability.

Number 1 in Asia 
in Customer Satisfaction >>> Page 14

Innovative, Customer-Oriented Products and Services

ANA’s goal is to become Asia’s Number 1 Airline in terms of customer satis-

faction indicators by the fiscal year ending March 2010. In addition to 

improving operational safety and punctuality, ANA aims to increase customer

satisfaction by thoroughly incorporating customer feedback in its development of

products and services.

Special Feature
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ANA has decided to aggressively deploy management resources in the cargo business in
Asia, a region where strong growth is expected to continue. The ANA Group Mid-Term
Corporate Strategy (April 2008 to March 2012) has set the objective of expanding this
business to achieve operating revenues of more than ¥200 billion by the fiscal year ending
March 2012.

The following covers ANA’s strategies for making its cargo business pivotal to the logistics
needs of Japanese companies in Asia in order to meet this growth objective.

Basic Strategy for Generating Dramatic Growth 
in the Cargo Business

Building a New Business Model and a Cargo Hub in Okinawa

Express Services: Creating a New Business

Doing What It Takes 

Embracing a New Business Model
Cargo Business Growth Drivers: A Hub in Okinawa and the Express Business
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The Air Cargo Needs of Japanese Companies
Computer parts, semiconductors and other high-technology products

and components account for the largest proportion of air cargo demand
from Japanese companies. Moreover, Japanese companies maintain
component inventories at warehouses overseas to avoid domestic
inventory costs, and their logistics requirements include flying the
necessary components for assembly into Japan on a nearly daily basis.
On the other hand, because the shift of production overseas among
Japanese companies has caused concerns about the outflow of know-
how, many manufacturers produce key components only at their
domestic plants. ANA therefore forecasts stable demand for consistent
transportation services for the customized components required by
manufacturers’ production plans.

Framework for Growth in the Cargo Business
Under the ANA Group Mid-Term Corporate Strategy (April 2008 to

March 2012), ANA will establish a cargo hub in Okinawa with the aim of
attaining leadership in air cargo logistics for Japan-Asia and intra-Asia city
pairs. ANA will respond to diverse customer requirements for business-to-business
(“B-to-B”) logistics by establishing an express freight business and providing door-
to-door delivery services while enhancing its network in North America and Europe
with wide-body cargo freighters.

Basic Strategy for Generating Dramatic
Growth in the Cargo Business

Okinawa

North AmericaEurope

Manila

Taipei
Xiamen

Hong Kong

Tianjin

Qingdao

Guangzhou

Dalian
Seoul

Kansai

Bangkok

Ho Chi Minh City

Kuala Lumpur

Hanoi
Destinations
within four hours
of Okinawa

Beijing

Shanghai

Haneda/Narita

Advantages of the Okinawa Hub

Promoting Three Strategies to Build a New Business Model

Building advanced logistics from the three perspectives of quality, speed and
cost is a critical issue for many companies today. ANA has decided to concentrate
on B-to-B logistics by building a new business model that is distinct from its exist-
ing cargo business, which emphasizes high volume using wide-body freighters. In
order to expand the cargo business, which is key to our Mid-Term Corporate
Strategy, we will organically apply the three strategies of establishing a cargo hub
in Okinawa, building the express business, and expanding our Europe and North
America network. I am certain that these initiatives will raise the satisfaction of
shipping customers.

Akinori Nomoto
Executive Vice President, Cargo Marketing & Services
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From Okinawa to Asia, from Asia to Okinawa
Okinawa is centrally located among sources of strong air cargo demand in Japan

and Asia. Numerous key cities are within four hours by plane, and ANA has a broad
network of domestic passenger flights accessing Okinawa. ANA will make the
most of these strengths by constructing a cargo hub in Okinawa to start an efficient
shipping system during the fiscal year ending March 2010. This hub will be a
concentrated, efficient cargo transshipment point linking cities in Japan and Asia.
Preparations for the construction of a large-scale cargo handling facility on a
27,700m2 site are progressing steadily, and ANA will set up an operations and
management system in cooperation with Okinawa Prefecture.

Effectively Using the Benefits of Transit Flights
When completed, the Okinawa hub will be capable of operating 24 hours a day,

thus allowing ANA to offer late-night flights. Cargo departing from its origin
between approximately 9:00 and 11:00 PM will be able to pass through Okinawa
and arrive at its destination between approximately 5:00 and 7:00 AM the next day
(see chart at left). 

For specific city pairs where insufficient cargo demand makes direct flights
unprofitable, ANA will increase load efficiency and enhance profitability by routing
transshipments through Okinawa. This will enable ANA to provide competitive air
cargo rates for a diverse array of products to capture demand between numerous
city pairs, including on intra-Asia routes originating outside Japan, where demand
has been growing in recent years.

Building a New Business Model and
a Cargo Hub in Okinawa

Other cities
in Japan
(Sapporo,
Hiroshima,
Takamatsu,

Fukuoka,
Kumamoto 
and others)

Other cities
in Japan
(Sapporo,
Hiroshima,
Takamatsu,

Fukuoka,
Kumamoto 
and others)

21:00～
23:00

departure 

Tokyo
(Haneda)

Osaka
(Kansai)

05:00～
07:00

arrival

Asian
city（Ａ）

Asian
city（B）

Asian
city（C）

Asian
city（Ａ）

Asian
city（B）

Asian
city（C）

03:00
departure

01:00
arrival

Cargo storage

Naha Airport

Sorting &
customs

Tokyo
(Haneda)

Osaka
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The Okinawa Cargo Hub 

Shipping Model

A Competitive Cargo Hub Creates Even More Potential for ANA 

ANA will build an efficient shipping system with the construction of the Okinawa
cargo hub. The resulting high-density network in Asia will use medium-body
freighters as well as cargo space in the approximately 80 ANA passenger flights per
day between the main islands of Japan and Okinawa. This original business model
will allow ANA to provide a wide range of express services. The creation of the
Okinawa cargo hub will require sophisticated know-how in airport operations, and
we will deploy the on-site knowledge and wisdom the ANA Group has accumulated
to ensure its competitiveness. The hub will also contribute to industrialization and
economic development in Okinawa, and preparations for construction are progress-
ing steadily with the full cooperation of Okinawa Prefecture.

Masahiko Tsuchiya
Manager, Cargo Services Planning
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Shippers can obtain reliable, seamless shipping services from the ANA Group,
with later pick-ups and faster delivery than competitors in Japan offer.

Speed Convenience Credibility Reliability Quality Simplicity

● ANA’s Six Strengthsg

●● Seamless Delivery through ANA and All ExpressS l D li h h ANA d All E
Shipper (Japan) Consignee

(Overseas)
Pickup DeliveryRegional airport

in Japan
Overseas airportOkinawa (Naha)

Airport
Air transportation Air transportation

ANA ANAProvider Provider
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airport storage
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same day pickup

and delivery
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ANA’A’s domestic’
route network

ANA’A’s guarantee’
of space
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specified delivery date
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Real-time information
available through an

integrated system
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Consistent quality
control through
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and
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Market Conditions ◆ Shipper needs for seamless express delivery services　◆ Rapid growth projected for the express delivery market in Asia

Doing What It Takes

Demand for High-Quality, Seamless, 
Business-to-Business Shipping

Issues faced by current air cargo service providers include cargo size regulations
and other restrictions, guaranteed loading, flight punctuality, and the quality-related
matters of damage, theft and missing cargo. After interviewing approximately 100
Japanese companies that are manufacturing in Asia and conducting market surveys,
ANA has learned that strong demand exists for high-quality, seamless, business-to-
business shipping services, and that existing suppliers are not sufficiently meeting
such total logistics needs.

The Start of Integrated Express Shipping
In April 2008, ANA established All Express Corporation, a joint venture with

Nippon Express Co., Ltd., Kintetsu World Express Inc., MOL Logistics (Japan) Co.,
Ltd., and Yusen Air & Sea Service Co., Ltd., to provide business-to-business
international express delivery services. This company’s objective is to acquire new
customers by meeting corporate demand for logistics services that are not currently
provided by existing shippers.

All Express started operations in July 2008 with service from Japan to Hong
Kong and Shanghai, and will successively expand its destinations and initiate
service originating outside Japan. ANA projects operating revenues of around ¥2.0
billion for its first year of operations, rising to between ¥50.0 billion and ¥60.0 billion
in the fiscal year ending March 2012 following the full-scale expansion of its
shipping network in tandem with the start of operations at the Okinawa cargo hub
in the fiscal year ending March 2010.

Express Services:
Creating a New Business
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Planned Cargo Business 
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Doing What It Takes 

As customer lifestyles diversify, companies in all industries vie daily to provide higher
quality products and services. This is equally true in the airline industry, and the products and
services each airline offers continue to evolve at a dizzying pace.

Under the ANA Group Mid-Term Corporate Strategy (April 2008 to March 2012), ANA aims
to be Asia’s Number 1 Airline in terms of customer satisfaction indicators by the fiscal year
ending March 2010. The following presents ANA product strategies to achieve this objective.

Products and Services that Establish the ANA Brand

The Launch of New Premium Class

A New Boarding Procedure that Raises Convenience
and Efficiency

Number 1 in Asia in Customer Satisfaction
Innovative, Customer-Oriented Products and Services
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Product Strategy for Peerless Customer Satisfaction

Airlines are basically in the business of getting passengers to their destination
safely and on time. Strategies for products and services begin with an accurate
understanding of customer needs and desires. At Products & Services Innovations,
we analyze customer feedback collected from contact points such as customer
support desks and from research, as well as general consumer trends and compar-
isons with the services other airlines provide. Based on these analyses, we use the
latest marketing methodologies to develop and implement ANA’s mid-term
product strategy. Our goal is to make ANA Asia’s Number 1 Airline by delivering a
consistent ANA brand of products and services at a level of quality that our
competitors cannot achieve.

Katsuya Kato
Vice President, Products & Services Innovations

Products and Services
that Establish the ANA Brand
Customer Needs and
ANA’s Strategy for Products and Services

ANA operates a broad network in Japan and overseas, and serves customers
that expect ANA to provide a variety of services according to route distance, flight
time and destination. For example, passengers on long-haul routes expect much
more in the way of airport lounge facilities, comfort and meal service than
passengers on short-haul routes. Business travelers look for frequent departures,
simple and convenient boarding, and quick service.

ANA has been meeting diverse customer requirements by renewing existing
products and planning services based on new concepts. The comfort and high-end
services offered to first-class and New Style CLUB ANA business-class passengers
on international routes and by Super Seat Premium, which was introduced on
domestic routes in 2004, have caught on among customers. At the same time, ANA
has been ahead of its competitors in introducing self check-in machines (SCM),
which make boarding faster and simpler, thus raising convenience. Customers have
responded enthusiastically to the introduction of Premium Class to replace Super
Seat Premium on domestic routes and the SKiP service that eliminates the need for
airport check-in procedures. Our services continue to evolve.

Our product and service strategy is critical to our development as a premium
airline. Moreover, given our goal of being Asia’s Number 1 Airline, we must take a
global perspective in catering to the preferences and sensibilities of non-Japanese
passengers. ANA will work to maximize customer satisfaction by providing
products and services that anticipate constantly changing customer needs.
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Renewal with a Focus on Customer Requirements
Noting the existing demand for high-quality service even on domestic routes,

which have short flight times, ANA introduced Super Seat Premium in 2004, and
added more routes in 2005 by increasing equipped aircraft. In April 2008, we
renewed Super Seat Premium as Premium Class, offering enhanced seat comfort
and services. We also extended the pitch between rows from 38 inches to 50
inches, giving passengers ample legroom. (Premium Class seats in the Boeing 747
are scheduled to have a 45-inch pitch.) Moreover, all flights offer either meals or the
Premium Deli light meal service, and an enhanced beverage lineup with
champagne, appellation d'origine contrôlée (AOC) wine and original blended tea. In
addition, ANA offers passenger lounges at Haneda Airport and Itami Airport.

We have begun offering Premium Class on the narrow-body Boeing 737.
Passengers can now enjoy comfortable, high-quality products and services on more
domestic routes.

Premium-Priced Services that Win Customer Loyalty
Even though ANA added an average ¥1,000 to ¥2,000 to Premium Class

airfares, sales have increased since April 2008 because of steady acceptance
among customers seeking a higher grade of service. The introduction of Premium
Class to respond to the need for high-end services has created the opportunity to
meet high-yield passenger demand, thus contributing to enhanced profitability in
the maturing domestic market.

The Launch of New Premium Class
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Further Evolution of the Breakthrough SKiP Service

We were temporarily reassigned from our passenger service duties to

begin preparing for the launch of the SKiP service six months prior to its

advance introduction in September 2006. We made use of our experience on

the front lines of customer service to develop a system that reflected 

customer needs.

Customers really appreciate the SKiP service because it makes the most 

effective use of the time they must spend at airports. However, we are still 

perfecting its capabilities in areas such as dealing with flight delays. We will

continue to develop the SKiP service into a system that is simple, convenient and

easy to understand, even for customers who are not used to boarding planes. 

Manami Hori (left) and Yoshiko Oyama (right)
Next-Generation Domestic Passenger Services Development Project Team

Doing What It Takes

A New Boarding Procedure that Raises
Convenience and Efficiency
A Completely New Domestic Route Boarding Procedure
for the First Time in Two Decades

Another way ANA is responding to customer demands for improved convenience is
by implementing new boarding procedures. We introduced the SKiP service at 50
airports in Japan from September 2007, and have renewed it with the addition of a two-
dimensional bar code and IC touch pad. As a result, passengers who have been assigned
their seat in advance no longer need to go through the usual check-in procedures, but
can simply board the aircraft without going to a check-in counter or SCM. Moreover,
customers can also use their IC-enabled cellular phones to handle all functions from
reservation, ticket purchase and seat assignment or change to boarding procedures.

Since the advance introduction of SKiP at certain airports in September 2006, the
usage rate has increased from about 10-15% to 45% in the fiscal year ended March
2008, with rapid expansion since September 2007. We are implementing programs such
as developing system functionality, increasing the number of terminals and revising
layout. Our target is for 70% of passengers to choose SKiP check-in-free boarding as
their standard boarding procedure. This will raise the quality of airport operations and
enhance productivity while contributing to smooth and convenient air travel.

Greater Convenience and Enhanced Workforce Productivity
Enhanced convenience that makes air travel more accessible as a mode of

transportation will contribute to ANA’s growth in the future. Promoting this kind of
innovation also improves workforce productivity, which will contribute significantly to
cost competitiveness as ANA expands its scale of operations from 2010.
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Yoji Ohashi
Chairman of the Board
1993: Executive Vice President
2001: President & Chief Executive Officer
2005: Chairman of the Board
2007: Chairman of the Board

Mineo Yamamoto
President & Chief Executive Officer,
Chairman of Group Strategy Committee,
Head of Safety Promotion Committee
and CSR Promotion Committee
1999: Director and General Manager, Office of the President
2005: President & Chief Executive Officer

Koshichiro Kubo
Senior Executive Vice President, 
Executive Office, Personnel, ANA JINZAI University, 
Employee Relations, Business Support
2003: Executive Vice President
2007: Senior Executive Vice President

Shinichiro Ito
Senior Executive Vice President, 
Marketing & Sales, CS Promotion, 
Products & Services Strategy, 
Chairman of CS Promotion Committee
2003: Executive Vice President
2007: Senior Executive Vice President

Shin Nagase
Executive Vice President, 
General Administration, Public Relations, CSR Promotion,
Chairman of CSR Promotion Committee, 
Environment Committee, 
Risk Management Committee and Compliance Committee
2001: Senior Vice President
2004: Executive Vice President

Mitsuo Morimoto
Executive Vice President, 
Operations & Airport Services, Corporate Safety and Audit,
Chairman of Safety Promotion Committee
2004: Senior Vice President
2005: Executive Vice President

Tomohiro Hidema
Executive Vice President,
Investor Relations, Group Business Development, 
Finance & Accounting, Purchasing
2003: Senior Vice President
2004: Executive Vice President

Keisuke Okada
Executive Vice President, 
Alliance & International Affairs, 
Information Technology Services, 
Chairman of Information Technology Strategy
2003: Senior Vice President
2004: Executive Vice President

Akinori Nomoto
Executive Vice President, 
Cargo Marketing & Services
2001: Senior Vice President
2005: Executive Vice President

Hayao Hora
Executive Vice President,
International & Regulatory Affairs, Facilities
1971: Joined Ministry of Land, Infrastructure,

Transport and Tourism
2003: Road Transport Bureau, Vice-Minister for Transport
2007: Full-time Advisor 
2008: Executive Vice President

Junko Yamauchi
Executive Vice President, 
Inflight Services
2004: Senior Vice President
2007: Executive Vice President

Osamu Shinobe
Executive Vice President, 
Engineering & Maintenance
2004: Senior Vice President
2007: Executive Vice President

Katsumi Nakamura
Executive Vice President, 
Operations & Airport Services, 
Chairman of Operations Committee
2005: Senior Vice President
2007: Executive Vice President

Shinichi Inoue
Executive Vice President, 
Flight Operations
2005: Senior Vice President
2008: Executive Vice President

Shigeyuki Takemura
Executive Vice President, 
Corporate Planning, Corporate Affairs-Asia, 
Government & Industrial Affairs, 
B787 Launch Project
2005: Senior Vice President
2008: Executive Vice President

Misao Kimura
External Director,
Chairman of Nagoya Railroad Co., Ltd. 
2004: External Director

Shosuke Mori
External Director,
President and Director of 
The Kansai Electric Power Co., Inc.
2006: External Director

Board of Directors

Front row, from left, K. Kubo, Y. Ohashi, M. Yamamoto, and S. Ito
Back row, from left, A. Nomoto, M. Kimura, T. Hidema, S. Inoue, S. Nagase, O. Shinobe, J. Yamauchi, K. Nakamura, M. Morimoto, S. Takemura, K. Okada, S. Mori, and H. Hora

Management Members and Group Organization
(As of June 23, 2008)
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Kunitaka Kajita
External Corporate Auditor

Koji Ohno
Corporate Auditor

Hiroyuki Ito
Corporate Auditor

Shingo Matsuo
External Corporate Auditor,
Chairman, Kyushu Electric
Power Co., Inc.

Hideo Minamiyama
External Corporate Auditor,
Senior Advisor, Hokkaido Electric
Power Co., Inc.

Minoru Aimono
Senior Vice President,
Marketing & Sales,
President of ANA Sales Co., Ltd.

Katsuyori Kikuchi
Senior Vice President,
General Manager,
Tokyo Sales Office

Shinsuke Maki
Senior Vice President,
Engineering & Maintenance

Osamu Asakawa
Senior Vice President,
President of Air Nippon Co., Ltd.

Akihiko Nakamura
Senior Vice President,
General Manager, 
Fukuoka Sales Office

Tsukasa Shibata
Senior Vice President,
General Manager, 
Nagoya Sales Office 

Toru Sato
Senior Vice President,
Information Technology
Services

Yoshinori Maruyama
Senior Vice President,
Marketing & Sales

Kiyoshi Tonomoto
Senior Vice President,
Cargo Marketing & Services

Motomu Iwaya
Senior Vice President,
Operations & Airport Services

Yasuo Goto
Senior Vice President,
CSR Promotion

Eiji Kanazawa
Senior Vice President,
Finance & Accounting

Ken Nishimura
Senior Vice President,
General Manager, 
Osaka Sales Office

Katsumi Kobayashi
Senior Vice President,
General Manager, Narita Airport

Shinya Katanozaka
Senior Vice President,
Personnel,
President, ANA JINZAI
University

Akira Okada
Senior Vice President,
Corporate Planning

Toshifumi Oshida
Senior Vice President,
Flight Operations

Shunichi Kobayashi
Senior Vice President,
Flight Operations

Nobuyuki Sato
Senior Vice President,
General Manager, China

Koichi Uchizono
Senior Vice President,
General Manager, Osaka Airport

Hideo Yaguchi
Senior Vice President,
General Manager, Tokyo Airport

Akihiko Hasegawa
Senior Vice President,
Engineering & Maintenance

Takashi Shiki
Senior Vice President,
General Manager, 
Sapporo Sales Office

Corporate Executive Officers

Corporate Auditors Office

Gen. Mtg. of Stockholders

Corporate Auditors
Board of Corporate Auditors

Board of Directors

Internal Audit
Chairman
President & CEO
Senior Executive Vice President

Management Committee

Operations Committee

CSR Promotion Committee

Operational Reporting and Review Committee

CS Promotion Committee

Safety Promotion Committee 

IT Strategy & Governance Committee  Risk Management Committee

Compliance Committee

Environment Committee 

ANA

Air Transportation: Transportation Related

Air Nippon Co., Ltd.
Air Nippon Network Co., Ltd.
Air Japan Co., Ltd.
Air Central Co., Ltd.
Air Next Co., Ltd.
ANA&JP Express Co., Ltd.

Air Transportation: Transportation Support Related

International Airport Utility Co., Ltd.
ANA Catering Service  Co., Ltd.
New Tokyo Airport Service Co., Ltd.
ANA Aircraft Maintenance Co.,  Ltd.

ANA Sales Co., Ltd.
ANA Sales Americas

Travel Services

All Nippon Airways Trading Co., Ltd.
ANA Information Systems Planning 
   Co., Ltd.
Sky Building Service Co., Ltd.
ANA Logistic Service Co., Ltd.
ANA Business Create Co., Ltd.

Other BusinessesANA GROUP

Subsidiaries: 112
Affiliates: 40

Note: ANA transferred its hotel business outside the Group in June 2007. (As of March 31, 2008)

Headquarters Department

Marketing & Sales Cargo Marketing & Services Flight Operations Engineering & Maintenance Inflight Services

Domestic Branches
Overseas Branches
Overseas Airport Offices

Domestic Airport Branches
Domestic Airport Offices

Operations & Airport Services

ANA Group Organization

Corporate Auditors
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Fundamental Approach to Corporate Governance
ANA believes that it is essential to institute a system of corporate

governance that promotes operational (management) transparency and
accountability to stakeholders in order to continue enhancing ANA’s enter-
prise value.

Implementation of Corporate Governance Initiatives

Governing Bodies of the Company

ANA’s management system comprises 17 directors, 5 corporate
auditors, and 36 corporate executive officers (including those who are both
directors and corporate executive officers). ANA’s Articles of Incorporation
stipulate that the number of directors shall not exceed 20.

Under the Corporation Law of Japan, important issues must be
considered by the Board of Directors, which makes the final decision on
such issues. All directors including the 2 external directors and the 5
corporate auditors including the 3 external auditors attend meetings of
the Board of Directors, which are led by the chairman. The Board of
Directors met 13 times in the fiscal year ended March 2008, including
extraordinary meetings.

For important administrative issues, discussions are held and decisions
are made by the Management Committee, which is chaired by the presi-
dent and includes the 14 other directors who are also corporate executive
officers as members. In addition, 2 corporate auditors also participate.

The general manager of the Operation & Airport Service Division
chairs the Operations Committee, which meets once a month to handle
structural issues related to ANA Group operations. Its perspective covers
organization, cultivation of personnel, systems, regulations and authority in
investigating and deciding on interdivisional solutions among relevant
Group flight service companies.

Requirements for Election of Directors
ANA’s Articles of Incorporation stipulate that

directors shall be elected by the majority voting rights
of a meeting of shareholders, where the sharehold-
ers present at the meeting are holding one-third or
more of the voting rights of all shareholders.

Special Resolutions at General Meeting of
Shareholders

With regard to the passing of special resolutions
at the General Meeting of Shareholders, as stipulated
in Article 309, Paragraph 2 of the Corporation Law of
Japan, ANA’s Articles of Incorporation have been
amended to state that the presence of shareholders
representing not less than one-third of voting rights is
required for a quorum, and the affirmative votes of
two-thirds of the voting rights present are required to
pass the special resolution. By relaxing the quorum
requirements for a special resolution, ANA aims to
promote smoother management of the General
Meeting of Shareholders.

Decision Making Body for Stock Repurchases
ANA’s Articles of Incorporation have been amended to allow stock

repurchases to be carried out per resolution of the Board of Directors, as
stipulated in Article 165, Paragraph 2 of the Corporation Law of Japan.
Through this measure, ANA aims to implement a flexible capital policy. 

Exemption of Directors and Auditors from Liability
As stipulated in Article 426, Paragraph 1 of the Corporation Law of

Japan, ANA’s Articles of Incorporation have been amended to exempt
directors (including former directors) and corporate auditors (including
former corporate auditors) from liability for damage to the limit stipulated in
Article 423, Paragraph 1 of the Corporation Law of Japan. Through this
amendment, ANA aims to enable directors and corporate auditors to fully
exercise their expected roles in carrying out their duties.

Enhancement of Internal Control System and 

Risk Management System

The ANA Group defines its internal control system as a framework
built internally by management, and the processes using that framework
carried out by everyone in the Group, with the four objectives of “business
effectiveness and efficiency,” “reliability of financial reporting,” “obser-
vance of laws and regulations for business activities” and “conservation of
assets.” Specifically, considering risk management, compliance and inter-
nal audits to be instrumental in achieving these objectives, in April 2003,
ANA founded its internal control system, which comprises the Risk
Management Committee, the Compliance Committee, and the Internal
Audit Division. 

ANA is working to enhance its internal control system. In structuring
the internal control system for corporate social responsibility (CSR), ANA
has put in place important defensive elements and concentrated risk
management and compliance functions that had been separate in the Risk
Management Section of the recently established CSR Promotion Division.

Board of Directors

President & CEO

CSR Promotion Committee

Internal Audit
Division

Chief CSR Promotion Officer
(Director in charge of 

CSR Promotion Division)

(Group companies)
CSR Promotion Officers

CSR Promotion Leaders
(Responsible for risk management 
in their companies / departments)

Information Security Subcommittee

Air Transportation Safety / Crisis Management

Risk Management Subcommittee

Export Control Safety and Security Subcommittee

Risk Management Committee

Chief CSR Promotion Officer
(Director in charge of 

CSR Promotion Division)

(Group companies)
CSR Promotion Officers

CSR Promotion Leaders
(Responsible for compliance 

in their companies / departments)

Compliance Committee

Risk Management Section
(Secretariat)

Internal Control System

Risk Management System

Internal Control System and Risk Management System

Corporate Governance
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The risk management system is one component of the internal control
system. The Risk Management Section, which is the Risk Management
Committee’s secretariat, and CSR Promotion Leaders assigned to major
departments and affiliated companies facilitate risk management activities
based on the Risk Management Committee’s policies. The role of CSR
Promotion Leaders is to promote risk management in their departments by
executing risk countermeasures according to plans. Moreover, in addition
to the Risk Management Subcommittee, the Risk Management Committee
has established subcommittees with expertise in specific risks, such as the
Air Transportation Safety / Crisis Management Subcommittee, the
Information Security Subcommittee and the Export Control Safety and
Security Subcommittee, to which it delegates the response to certain risks,
such as new types of influenza.

Internal Audits, Audits by Corporate Auditors, and Account Audits

The Internal Audit Division (17 members) conducts internal audits and
reports directly to the president. It carries out operational audits, accounting
audits and evaluations pursuant to the “Evaluation System for Internal
Controls for Financial Reporting” under the Financial Instruments and
Exchange Law of Japan for ANA and Group companies. The Division
conducts regularly scheduled audits according to the plan for the fiscal year
and unscheduled audits at the will of senior management. Scheduled
audits are conducted from an independent and impartial standpoint based
on risk analysis of ANA’s divisions and Group companies. Auditing results
are reported to the president each month, and important items are also
reported to the corporate auditors on a quarterly basis. 

Audits by corporate auditors are performed by the 5 corporate
auditors, 3 of whom are external auditors. Each corporate auditor conducts
audits of operations at each office and audits of subsidiaries and reports
the results to the board of corporate auditors and to the representative
directors. The auditors share information and opinions with the Internal
Audit Division and the independent auditors on a quarterly basis and work
to enhance auditing.

As for account auditing, Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC audits the
Company, its work sites, and Group companies in accordance with the
Corporation Law and the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of
Japan. Auditing results are reported to ANA’s management and to the
board of corporate auditors.

Independent Auditors Engaged in Audits

Name of Certified Public Accountant Name of Audit Corporation

Kazuo Tanimura

Engagement Partner Masatsugu Hamada Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC

Mitsuo Cho

Note: 1. All the independent auditors have less than 7 continuous auditing 
years. Therefore, figures for continuous auditing years have been omitted.

2. The audit corporation has voluntarily adopted a system whereby their 
executive officers cease from ANA account auditing after a specified period.

There are 12 Certified Public Accountants, 4 Junior Accountants,
and 10 other staff members assisting with audit services.

External Directors and External Auditors

External Directors

ANA has 2 external directors: Misao Kimura and Shosuke Mori.
Both use their broad insights as managers to provide appropriate
advice to the Company and were selected because the Company
judged that they would further strengthen its management structure.

Mr. Kimura and Mr. Mori attend meetings of the Board of
Directors, and also provide advice and exchange opinions with repre-
sentative directors as needed outside of meetings of the Board of
Directors. 

Nagoya Railroad Co., Ltd., where Mr. Kimura serves as chairman
and representative director, is the largest shareholder of ANA, holding
4.13% of total voting rights. In addition, ANA and Nagoya Railroad Co.,
Ltd., have dealings concerning the consignment of flight ticket sales
business. There is no particular business relationship between ANA
and The Kansai Electric Power Co., Inc., where Mr. Mori serves as
president and director.

External Corporate Auditors

ANA has three external corporate auditors: Kunitaka Kajita (full-
time), Shingo Matsuo and Hideo Minamiyama.

As a full-time corporate auditor, Mr. Kajita attends meetings of the
Board of Directors, the Board of Auditors, the Management Committee
and other regularly scheduled meetings of officers, and also conducts
visiting audits of offices and divisions inside and outside the Company.
Mr. Matsuo and Mr. Minamiyama attend meetings of the Board of
Directors and the Board of Auditors.

There are no particular business relationships between ANA and
Mr. Kajita, Mr. Matsuo, or Mr. Minamiyama or between ANA and
Kyushu Electric Power Co., Inc., where Mr. Matsuo serves as chairman
and representative director, or Hokkaido Electric Power Co., Inc.,
where Mr. Minamiyama serves as advisor.

Overview of Limited Liability Agreements
Based on Article 427, paragraph 1 of the Corporation Law of

Japan, ANA has entered into agreements with external directors and
external auditors whereby their liability for actions set forth in Article
423, paragraph 1 of the Corporation Law of Japan is limited to the
amount provided for in Article 425, Paragraph 1 of the Corporation
Law of Japan.

Efforts to Improve Corporate Governance in the
Fiscal Year Ended March 2008

Advisory Board

In order to hear frank and open opinions and advice about the
Group’s management, ANA established the Advisory Board, which
consists of 6 members with a range of backgrounds. The board met 4
times during the fiscal year ended March 2008.
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Enhancing the Internal Control System

In the fiscal year ended March 2008, ANA made the following
efforts to reinforce its internal control system, which is an important
part of the infrastructure supporting effective corporate governance.

1. Risk Management Function
ANA continuously promotes its risk management system and has

strengthened countermeasures for specific risks with the goal of
raising the stability and efficiency of Group management. ANA has
structured a system with two approaches to managing the various
risks it faces in the course of its business. The risk management
approach entails a preventative perspective with the goal of advance
preparation and control. The crisis control approach is for handling risks
that actually materialize.

For the risk management approach with a preventative perspec-
tive, ANA is building a risk management cycle (risk exposure ➞ analysis
➞ evaluation ➞ study and implementation of controls and countermea-
sures ➞ monitoring) with the goal of minimizing risk, and has started
efforts to expand its scope of application to the entire ANA Group.

In response to the requirement to establish a system for internal
control of financial reporting, the ANA Group has prepared a company-
wide system with the cooperation of related divisions. In the field of
information security, ANA has formulated rules and guidelines for
individual customer information, and has created robust measures for
information security. 

On the other hand, for the crisis control approach, ANA has succes-
sively enhanced responsiveness to network outages that have
occurred. Although many customers were inconvenienced, ANA has
taken steps such as constructing a system to improve its technological
responsiveness and system management and administration frame-
work and enhance overall passenger handling, verification, prevention
of recurrence, and countermeasures against the occurrence of large-
scale irregularities.

Moreover, ANA is reviewing approaches to risk management for
daily flight operations as well as for general crisis management (such
as information leaks and new types of influenza), including consistency
with existing regulations. ANA has continued to conduct Companywide
operational training sessions for the safety confirmation system in use
since its introduction in March 2006, and is constantly working to
enhance crisis awareness within the Company.  

In the future, the ANA Group will continue to promote risk and
crisis management.

2. Compliance Function
In enhancing internal control, compliance is an important structural

element in addition to the risk management function. ANA has moved
to fulfill its compliance responsibilities by evaluating compliance
penetration based on the code of ethics of the ANA Group, and is
working to strengthen promotion of compliance activities throughout
the entire ANA Group. Efforts during the fiscal year ended March 2008
included designation of a CSR Promotion Month in the fall, compliance

lectures, surveys of Group employee awareness of compliance,
inspection of the Company’s corporate behavior and education
concerning the Antimonopoly Act. 

In addition, CSR Promotion Leaders are responsible for promoting
compliance. Centered on the fair dispatch of contract workers and
temporary workers and compliance with the Subcontract Law, they
continuously implement Group efforts to ensure compliance with
business-related laws and regulations. 

Internal reporting contact points have been established inside the
Company and outside the Company at a law firm. In accordance with
the provisions of the Whistleblower Protection Act of April 2006,
ANA established regulations concerning the handling of internal
reporting and disseminated them throughout the ANA Group and to
its business partners.

3. Internal Auditing Function
The Audit Division reports directly to the president. It audits the

management and operating systems throughout the operations of
ANA and Group companies, and also conducts activities such as
studying, evaluating, advising and making proposals from the perspec-
tives of the legal compliance of operating conditions, rationality and
corporate ethics. During the fiscal year ended March 2008, the Audit
Division audited approximately 20 offices and Group companies,
primarily related to the cargo business and operations. Important
auditing matters included business strategies, sales management,
revenue management and measures for legal and regulatory compli-
ance. In addition, the Audit Division conducted an examination of
evaluation methods and a trial test for the “Evaluation System for
Internal Controls of Financial Reporting” under the Financial
Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan. 

Remuneration of Directors and Corporate Auditors
and Audit Fees in the Fiscal Year Ended March 2008
Remuneration of Directors and Corporate Auditors

2008 2007

Remuneration paid to directors ¥441 million ¥420 million
(External directors) (¥  12 million) (¥    6 million)

Remuneration paid to auditors ¥  82 million ¥  81 million
(External auditors) (¥  39 million) (¥  33 million)

Total ¥524 million ¥501 million

Audit Fees

ANA paid the following fees to Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC.

Fees in accordance with services described in Article 1, 
paragraph 2 of the Certified Public Accountant Law.........................¥59 million

Fees based on services other than above..............................................¥47 million
Total ......................................................................................................¥107 million

Note: The above audit fees include the audit fees described in the Corporation Law of 
Japan and the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan.
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Basic Perspective
The ANA Group has a diverse range of stakeholders –

customers, shareholders and investors, employees, business
partners, and local communities. The foundation of our CSR activ-
ities is to fulfill our responsibility to stakeholders through constant
communication with them, allowing us to co-exist with society in
a sustainable manner while enhancing corporate value.

CSR means that each ANA Group member understands and
follows the ANA Group Corporate Philosophy, thereby giving all
stakeholders a sense of security and trust. With our responsibility
for safety at the core, we will fulfill our responsibilities to stake-
holders in the following three categories:

1. We will fulfill our economic responsibility* by ensuring safety 
and compliance (the base line).

2. To improve quality and employee motivation, we will enhance 
CS (Customer Satisfaction) and ES (Employee Satisfaction).

3. We will work to solve social and environmental problems.

* Economic responsibility entails implementing thorough risk management and 
operating the business effectively and efficiently, while reinforcing the internal 
control system in conjunction with compliance responsibility.

System for Promoting CSR
ANA has revised its former system for promoting CSR by

creating the CSR Promotion Division in April 2007 to coordinate
CSR activities throughout ANA Group management, and has
consolidated departments that handle the internal control system,
environmental protection and social contribution within this
division. Moreover, in August 2007 the ANA Group enhanced its
CSR promotion system by reorganizing relevant committees under
the CSR Promotion Committee, the supreme decision-making
body for CSR promotion, which is supervised by the President.

Together with enhancing communication with stakeholders,
the foundation for CSR at the ANA Group is contributing to
society through its core businesses. We do not undertake special
CSR activities. Rather, we will work to conduct the activities we
have carried out to date more conscientiously. Doing so allows us
to co-exist with society in a sustainable manner while enhancing
corporate value and fulfilling our responsibility to stakeholders.

The ANA Group publishes a CSR Report every year in the fall,
and makes it available on its website.
(http://www.ana.co.jp/eng/aboutana/corporate/csr/index.html)

External Evaluations
ANA Achieves Inclusion in FTSE4Good Index

Since September 2006, ANA has been included in the
FTSE4Good Index*, an internationally recognized index of corpo-
rate social responsibility investment. For inclusion, companies
must meet evaluation criteria in the following areas: environmen-

tal conservation activities, support of
human rights, positive relationships with
stakeholders, and prevention of corrupt
practices and bribery.

* The FTSE4Good Index is one of two major interna-
tional indices for socially responsible investment 
(SRI). FTSE is an independent company owned by 
the Financial Times and the London Stock 
Exchange. It creates and manages indices measur-
ing the performance of companies by business, 
financial, and other criteria.

Approach to Safety
ANA Group Safety Principles

The ANA Group has formulated the ANA Group Safety
Principles, stipulating that safety is our promise to the public and
is the foundation of our business. It goes on to clearly assert the
Group’s obligations with regard to air transport.

Squarely in the tradition of the Group’s safety culture, the
philosophy plainly sets forth the roles and responsibilities of the
three both universal and basic entities for maintaining and improv-
ing safety: companies, organizations and individuals.

In April 2007, the Company established the CSR Promotion Division, with the objective of further
enhancing corporate value by mobilizing the entire Group in the areas of society, the environment, and
sustainable co-existence.

Customers

Financial Responsibility

Compliance Responsibility

Safety Responsibility

Global Environment

Business
Partners

Communities

Shareholders
&

Investors

Employees

Public
Authorities

Environmental and Social Initiatives

CS ESCustomer Satisfaction
(quality enhancement)

Employee Satisfaction
(motivation enhancement) 

ANA Group Safety Principles

Safety is our promise to the public and is the
foundation of our business.

Safety is assured by an integrated management system
and mutual respect.

Safety is enhanced through individual performance
and dedication.

CSR (Corporate Social Responsibility)
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Safety Management System

When revisions to the Civil Aviation Law and other transport-
related business laws took effect in October 2006, it became
mandatory for operators of land-, water- and air-based transporta-
tion to establish new approaches to safety.

Accordingly, the ANA Group created the Safety Management
Regulations, its new top regulation on safety, and a powerful new
post, that of Chief Safety Officer, to manage the Safety
Management System (SMS).* Chairmen of the Safety Promotion
Committees of each airline in the Group have been appointed to
the position.

We also established a Group Safety Promotion Committee as
our highest decision-making body related to safety. The commit-
tee’s main tasks are to communicate important safety-related
cases within the ANA Group, to stipulate safety-related policies
and promote awareness, and, where needed, to advise Group
companies on safety issues.

Moreover, the ANA Group introduced the Safety Evaluation
and Review (SAFER) program for internal safety auditing in the
fiscal year ended March 2002, and since the fiscal year ended
March 2008 has been implementing initiatives such as a system
of qualifications for auditors and using the same training and
practices throughout the air transportation companies in the ANA
Group with the aim of further raising the audit quality.

Under these systems, in 2004 ANA was the first airline in
Japan to obtain certification for the IATA Operational Safety Audit
(IOSA), an internationally recognized safety audit system. In
addition the ANA Group company Air Nippon has also obtained
certification. IOSA certification is required for membership in the
International Air Transport Association (IATA), and it is evidence
of the ability to meet international safety standards.

* Safety Management System: A documented process for managing risks that 
integrates operations and technical systems with the management of financial and 
human resources to ensure aviation safety or the safety of the public.

Environmental Protection
Global Warming Countermeasures

With the theme of “For People and the Planet,” ANA recog-
nizes that the Earth’s environmental problems are an important
management issue, and is rapidly implementing environmental
countermeasures. Under the ANA Ecology Plan 2003-2007, we
set the goal of reducing CO2 emissions per seat-kilometer for the
fiscal year ended March 2008 by 12% compared with the fiscal
year ended March 1991, or 89.8 g-CO2 per seat-kilometer. For the
fiscal year ended March 2008, the final year of ANA Ecology Plan
2003-2007, CO2 emissions per seat-kilometer totaled 90.4 g-CO2,
a reduction of 11.4% compared with fiscal 1990. 

On May 22, 2008, ANA announced its new mid-term
environmental management plan, ANA Ecology Plan 2008-2011,
which is based on the start of the first commitment period of
the Kyoto Protocol.

Of note, ANA is the first of the world’s airlines to set these
targets for reducing CO2 emissions. As a company that recog-
nizes that the Earth’s environmental problems are an important
management issue, ANA aims to be a leading environmental
airline, and these targets indicate the ANA Group’s strong stance.
In the future, the ANA Group will implement internal, interdivi-
sional countermeasures such as revising our network, appropri-
ately deploying aircraft, renewing our fleet with new aircraft, and
using air transportation techniques and water wash engines that
reduce environmental loading.

On the other hand, society is increasingly concerned about
the carbon trading system, bio fuels, carbon offsets and other
issues. A task for the air transportation industry as a whole is
cooperating with relevant international institutions and govern-
ment agencies to promote surveys and research.

Moreover, during the fiscal year ended March 2008, ANA
conducted its third year of “e-flight” activities that consider the
global environment from mid-air together with customers.

Safety Promotion Committee for the ANA Group

Recommendations, advice and instructions

Group Safety Promotion
Departments

Capacity Division

Overall Safety Promotion Committee

Capacity divisions

Safety Promotion Committees

ANA ANK  AJX  NXA
AKX  CRF  AJV

Departments in charge
of safety promotion

p Saroup afetaGrr tyt
n Cootion ommoPromoo mitteem

Safety
Promotion

Coordinating
Committee

Group Safety Management (Safety Management System

and Safety Promotion Committee)

0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

85

90

95

100

105

91 92 93 94 95 96 97 98 99 00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08
(Fiscal Year)

Fiscal Year Ended March
2008 Target: 89.8 g-CO2

90.4 g-CO2

Fuel Usage (Million Kiloliters)
(Left Scale)

CO2 Emissions per Seat-Kilometer (g-CO2)
(Right Scale)

ANA Group CO2 Emissions per Available Seat-Kilometer



25Annual Report 2008

CSR (Corporate Social Responsibility)

Environmental Contributions
Environmental Picture Book Competition

The Aozora (“Blue Sky”) Environmental Picture Book
Competition, begun in 2003, aims to teach and inspire future
generations about the value of nature. Held for the fifth time in
2007, it received approximately 500 submissions from eight
countries. The winning submission, One Sweater, was written in
Japanese and is being translated into English, Chinese, Korean,
Thai, Vietnamese, French and German.

Nationwide Forestation Activities Near Airports

The Aozora Forestation Project, begun in 2004, is a 10-year
plan that aims to promote forestation and forest management
activities in areas surrounding the 50 domestic airports serviced
by the ANA Group. The ANA Group has also conducted reforesta-
tion activities in 20 countries including Thailand and China.

Coral Restoration Project

Team Tyura Sango is working to restore and protect the criti-
cal coral community near Onnason, Okinawa Prefecture. Active
over the past 5 years, the group formed in 2004 with the goal of
restoring and supporting coral ecosystems. ANA is one of 13
corporations operating in Okinawa that are participating in this
coral restoration project, and the Ministry of the Environment,
Okinawa Prefecture and other government organizations are
backing these private sector environmental protection activities.
Four times a year, in the spring and fall, volunteer divers hand
plant coral grown in Onnason, Okinawa according to guidelines
set by the Japanese Coral Reef Society. 

C.W. Nicol, ping pong player Ai Fukuhara and Ayumi
Kataoka of the Ibaraki Golden Goals participated as judges
of the Aozora Environmental Picture Book Competition.
First-prize winner Emiko Ishikawa is standing in the center.

The Aozora Forestation Project after forestation near
Matsuyama Airport, Uwajima Shinju

“‘My Aozora’ Tyura Sango Reef Restoration” activities in
Onnason, Okinawa Prefecture

Overview of ANA Ecology Plan 2008-2011

Aiming to be a Leading Airline in Environmental Protection
The First Airline in the World to Set CO2 Emission Targets

Global Warming
Countermeasures

Air Pollution
Countermeasures

Noise
Countermeasures

Reduction in
Resource Use

Jet fuel

Energy in the workplace Reduce energy use 1% each year at all work sites (per basic unit)

Aircraft All aircraft including leased aircraft to conform with ICAO emission standards.

Ground vehicles Actively introduce hybrid and electric vehicles.

All aircraft including leased aircraft to conform with ICAO Chapter 4 noise standards.

Reduce waste and paper used in sales by 5%, conduct recycling at all business sites

Jet fuel (Fuel efficiency): 10% reduction
For the fiscal year ending March 2012, 10% reduction in CO2

emissions per paid ton-kilometer on domestic and international
routes compared with the fiscal year ended March 2007 (25%
reduction compared with the fiscal year ended March 1991)

Total CO2 emissions: Less than 4.7 million tons
For the period from April 1, 2008 through March 31, 2012, keep
average annual CO2 emissions on domestic routes below 4.7
million tons.

Note: Assessments include environmental impact of cargo shipping in accordance with IATA standards from the fiscal year ended March 2008.
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Segment Revenues (¥ Billions)Segment Revenues as a % of Operating Revenues

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008 1,301.6

997.9

1,066.9

1,132.6

1,248.7

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008 215.3

168.6

190.2

199.4

208.0

2004

2005
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2008 198.9
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183.3
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196.8

2004

2005

2006
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2008 739.5
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685.0

726.0

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008 311.5

176.9

210.7

229.2

278.4

2004

2005
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2007

2008 114.3

82.2

90.9

96.7

105.1

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008 136.2

93.8

106.4

121.6

139.0

43.1%

18.2 %

6.7%

75.9%

12.6%

11.6%

7.9%

Air Transportation
>>> Page 28

Other Businesses
>>> Page 36

Travel Services
>>> Page 35

Cargo and 
Mail Operations

>>> Page 33

Other Transportation
Services

>>> Page 34

Domestic
Passenger Operations

>>> Page 29

International
Passenger Operations

>>> Page 31

ANA at a Glance

Note: Elimination of the Hotel Operations Business Segment
ANA transferred the shares and assets of its 14 hotel-related subsidiaries outside the ANA Group in June 2007. Accordingly, the Hotel Operations segment has been eliminated as of the 
fiscal year ended March 2008.



➤ Air transportation revenues ¥1,301.6 billion (+4.2%)

➤ Operating income ¥77.9 billion (-2.2%)

➤ ROA* 5.0% (-0.5 percentage points)
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HighlightsBusiness Activities

➤ Cargo and mail revenues ¥114.3 billion (+8.7%)

➤ Cargo volume 795 thousand tons (+8.1%)

➤ Mail volume 104 thousand tons (-2.2%)

➤ Travel services revenues ¥215.3 billion (+3.5%)

➤ Operating income ¥1.0 billion (-44.1%)

➤ ROA* 2.1% (-1.7 percentage points)

➤ Operating revenues ¥198.9 billion (+1.1%)

➤ Operating income ¥5.1 billion (-7.4%)

➤ ROA* 4.4% (-0.1 percentage points)

➤ Passenger revenues ¥739.5 billion (+1.9%)

➤ Passenger numbers 45.6 million (-2.0%)

➤ Available seat-kilometers 62.7 billion (+0.4%)

➤ Passenger revenues ¥311.5 billion (+11.9%)

➤ Passenger numbers 4.8 million (+6.0%)

➤ Available seat-kilometers 28.3 billion (+6.3%)

The ANA Group ranks 11th among the world’s airlines in terms of revenue passen-
gers. To provide high-quality air transportation services, ANA and 6 of its Group
companies operate passenger and cargo flights. Other Group companies provide
services to customers of the air transportation business or perform aircraft mainte-
nance, airport handling services and related duties.

The ANA Group serves approximately 46 million passengers annually through
910 flights on 124 routes each day, and is a leader on domestic routes with a
48% share of Japan’s domestic passenger services market. We incorporate
the latest information technology to improve customer satisfaction with
simpler, more convenient operations, from reservations to boarding and in-
flight services.

The ANA Group serves approximately 4.8 million international passengers
annually through 626 flights on 39 routes from Japan each week. As a core
member of the Star Alliance, the world’s largest airline alliance, the ANA Group
provides high-quality, highly convenient air transportation services. We are
enhancing our East Asia network, primarily in China, to expand revenues.

The ANA Group provides cargo services through 6 cargo freighters and belly
space on passenger planes. We offer 10 domestic flights on 4 routes daily,
and 104 international flights on 18 routes weekly. We are raising the number
of cargo freighters and enhancing our cargo network with an emphasis on East
Asia to increase revenues.

➤ Other transportation services revenues
¥136.2 billion (-2.1%)

International Transport Utility Co., Ltd, ANA Aircraft Maintenance Co., Ltd.,
ANA Telemart Co., Ltd. and other Group companies provide ground support,
aircraft maintenance, reservation confirmation and other services at airports as
required by air transportation services. These services are also provided to
airlines outside the ANA Group.

Centered on ANA Sales Co., Ltd., operations in this business encompass sales of
tickets for ANA flights and planning and sales of branded travel packages using ANA
flights, such as ANA Sky Holiday and ANA Hallo Tours. Overseas, the ANA Group
provides local services to customers who purchased travel packages in Japan.
Inbound and outbound air tickets and travel products are also sold abroad.

These air transportation-related services encompass information systems, product
sales, logistics, and aircraft parts and repair. In information systems, the ANA Group
mainly develops and manages airline information terminals and software. Logistics
services include storage and management of imported air cargo and ground trans-
portation. The ANA Group is also involved in product sales including spare parts and
other aircraft-related products, retail sales at airport stores and mail-order sales.

* ROA = (operating income + interest and dividend income) / simple average of total assets
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Highlights

Air transportation revenues ................. ¥1,301.6 billion (+4.2%)
Operating expenses.............................. ¥1,223.6 billion (+4.7%)
Operating income ...................................... ¥77.9 billion (–2.2%)
ROA* ............................................ 5.0% (-0.5 percentage points)

ROA = segment operating income / 
[(segment assets at beginning of period + segment assets at end of period) / 2]

The air transportation segment accounted for 75.9% of total operating
revenues before eliminations.

2004 2005 2006 2007

27.2

68.0
74.1

79.7

2008

77.9

2.7

6.4 6.5 6.4 6.0

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

1,301.6

997.9
1,066.9

1,132.6

1,248.7

Operating Revenues
(¥ Billions)

Operating Income/
Operating Income Margin
(¥ Billions/%)

Air Transportation

In domestic passenger operations, the number of
passengers decreased due to intensified competition
with air and other transportation and weakened
demand. In international passenger operations, firm
business demand and route network expansion in
China and Asia resulted in a year-on-year increase in
the number of passengers. In cargo and mail opera-
tions, cargo volume rose substantially as a result of
improved convenience from an increase in cargo
freighters in international routes and enhancements
to the network.

ANA worked to improve products and services
and to acquire high-yield passengers and raised fares
in response to rising fuel prices. As a result, air trans-
portation revenues increased year on year. On the
other hand, although ANA reduced transportation
costs by matching capacity to demand and introduc-
ing fuel-efficient new aircraft, operating income
decreased slightly year on year. 

Review of Operations
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Domestic Passenger Operations

Highlights

Passenger revenues................................. ¥739.5 billion (+1.9%)
Passenger numbers..................................... 45.6 million (-2.0%)
Available seat-kilometers ............................ 62.7 billion (+0.4%)
Unit revenues.......................................................... ¥11.8 (+¥0.2)
Yield ......................................................................... ¥18.5 (+¥0.6)
Unit price............................................................ ¥16,233 (+3.9%)

Overview of the Fiscal Year Ended March 2008 

Flexible Pricing and a Shift to More Profitable Routes

With weaker overall demand on domestic routes, compe-
tition with other airlines and the Shinkansen bullet train
intensified on our main routes.

ANA focused on capturing business demand while
setting and introducing discount fares to generate new
demand. Other initiatives to strengthen competitiveness
included adding flights during peak demand periods. Ongoing
efforts from the previous fiscal year to improve ANA’s
network included reducing flights on less profitable routes
while increasing flights on routes where demand is strong.
Moreover, ANA took steps to raise the competitiveness of

its network by offering a code-sharing service with Starflyer
Inc. for flights on the Haneda–Kitakyushu route from June
2007 and with Skynet Asia Airways Co., Ltd. for the
Haneda–Kagoshima route from September 2007.

Increasing Revenues with Improved Service and 

Higher Unit Prices

Based on the concepts of simplicity and convenience,
the SKiP boarding service eliminates the need for check-in at
airports. ANA strengthened its functions by extending the
SKiP service to all domestic airports that the ANA Group
serves and to passengers who are checking baggage. In
order to enhance sales competitiveness, ANA formed an
alliance with Rakuten Travel Co., Ltd. to provide the
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ANA@desk business support system to corporations, and
concluded a comprehensive alliance agreement in December
2007 with East Japan Railway Company to provide seamless
air and rail service. 

As a result, while the number of passengers decreased
2.0% year on year to 45,557 thousand, passenger unit price
increased 3.9%, and revenues rose year on year due to a
fare revision in April 2007, an increase in passengers who
used high-yield Super Seat Premium, and sales strategies
tailored to demand trends. 

Initiatives in the Fiscal Year Ending March 2009

For domestic routes, ANA will cut back routes connect-
ing regional cities and increase the percentage of highly
profitable Haneda routes. Simplifying aircraft operations
will improve on-time performance. For discontinued routes,
offering discounted fares for connections via major airports
will capture demand.

Super Seat Premium was upgraded to Premium Class
in April 2008. In the future, ANA will equip new narrow-
body Boeing 737-700/800 aircraft with Premium Class
seats. In addition, a substantial renewal of ANA Mileage
Club services in April 2008 is aimed at attracting more
high-yield passengers and improving service.

These initiatives will improve the profitability of domes-
tic routes in an environment characterized by rising fuel
costs, mature demand and intensifying competition.
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Air Transportation
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International Passenger Operations

Highlights

Passenger revenues............................... ¥311.5 billion (+11.9%)
Passenger numbers ...................................... 4.8 million (+6.0%)
Available seat-kilometers ............................ 28.3 billion (+6.3%)
Unit revenues.......................................................... ¥11.0 (+¥0.5)
Yield ......................................................................... ¥14.6 (+¥0.8)
Unit price............................................................ ¥64,555 (+5.5%)

Overview of the Fiscal Year Ended March 2008 

Route Network Expansion in China and Asia, 

New Route to Mumbai

The favorable conditions of the previous fiscal year
continued on international routes, with solid demand for
business and inbound travel.

In response, ANA reinforced its route network in the
growth markets of China and Asia. Twice-daily service began
on the Narita–Guangzhou route in May 2007, the Haneda–
Shanghai Hongqiao route opened in September 2007, and
flights increased on the Narita–Ho Chi Minh City route from
October 2007. ANA also worked to capture business
demand in the rapidly growing Japan-India market. In

September 2007, all-business class ANA BusinessJet service
began on the Narita–Mumbai route, using a Boeing 737-
700ER.

Improving Number of Passengers and Unit Price by

Matching Supply to Demand and Enhancing Service

To match supply to demand, ANA downsized from
Boeing 767-300ER to Airbus A320-200 on the Chubu–
Shanghai route from May 2007 and on the Narita–Xiamen
route from June 2006. Furthermore, following its introduc-
tion on North American routes, ANA deployed the highly
fuel-efficient Boeing 777-300ER on the Narita–London route
in May 2007. Enhancing the Premium Economy service
strengthened the competitiveness of ANA’s U.S. and

Review of Operations

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

28.3

21.3

26.6

20.1

25.3

18.8

25.2

19.2

24.6

17.0

76.2 74.1 75.7 75.3
68.8

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

311.5

176.9

210.7
229.2

278.4

Operating Revenues
(¥ Billions)

■ Available Seat-km (ASK)
■ Revenue Passenger-km (RPK)

Load Factor 
(km Billions / %)

0

5

10

15

20

2004 2008200720062005

14.6

11.0
10.4

11.0
12.2

13.8

7.2
8.4 9.0

10.5

Unit Revenues / Passenger Yield
(¥)

Unit Revenues               Passenger Yield

ANA BusinessJet



European routes in meeting business travel demand. This
service has gained popularity for its comfort, as well as in-
cabin and airport services. As a result, passengers increased
6.0% year on year to 4,827 thousand.

Passenger unit price increased 5.5% year on year
because of increased business class sales, revision of IATA
fares and fuel surcharges. Revenues also increased substan-
tially year on year.

Initiatives in the Fiscal Year Ending March 2009

In April 2008, ANA began flights on the Haneda–Hong
Kong route, and will continue working to enhance its
network centered on robust routes in Asia and China. 

Liberalization of fares is ongoing, with the elimination of
minimum IATA fares and the introduction of flex fares on
Europe routes. ANA will be more flexible in setting fares,
taking competitive conditions on each route into considera-

tion. Moreover, by conducting marketing tailored to passen-
ger needs, ANA will strengthen products and services while
increasing unit revenue.
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Air Transportation
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Route Expansion during the Fiscal Year Ended March 2008

➤ Expand Haneda routes (Daily flights)
• 2 flights to Gimpo (Seoul)
• 1 flight to Hongqiao (Shanghai)
• [New] 1 flight to Hong Kong (from Apr. 1, 2008)

➤ Daily operation to
Mumbai by business jet

Start code-sharing flights 
with Jet Airways

➤ Start code-sharing flights with
United Airlines to Taipei

➤ Improve connectivity
(from Apr. 1, 2008)

➤ More flights and smaller 
aircraft on China routes

➤ Increase flights
(from October 2007)
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Cargo and Mail Operations

Highlights

Cargo and mail revenues ........................ ¥114.3 billion (+8.7%)
Cargo volume .................................. 795 thousand tons (+8.1%)
Cargo revenues ...................................... ¥102.7 billion (+10.8%)
Mail volume...................................... 104 thousand tons (-2.2%)
Mail revenues............................................. ¥11.5 billion  (-6.7%)

Overview of the Fiscal Year Ended March 2008 

Strengthening Transport Capabilities between North

America and Asia Supports Strong International Cargo

Revenue Growth

Although other companies entered the domestic cargo
business, overall demand was firm. For international cargo,
outbound shipments from Japan were weak overall. On
Japan–China routes, new market entrants and increased
flights by competitors led to challenging market conditions.

The start of consignment of some international cargo
operations to U.S. company ABX Air, Inc. in May 2007 effec-
tively expanded ANA’s fleet of cargo freighters from four to
six, thus enhancing its network, primarily on Asia and China
routes. Moreover, from January 2008 ANA consolidated its
freight operations within Kansai International Airport to
improve connections and enhance system efficiencies. ANA
moved aggressively to secure shipments from Asia and
China through Japan to North America and Europe, and

shipments within Asia via Japan. Moreover, the volume of
shipments of fresh products from North America and Europe
increased. As a result, overall international cargo volume
increased substantially year on year. Revenues also
increased, despite rising fuel prices, as ANA set fuel
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■ Cargo Volume
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Review of Operations

2008 2007 2006

Cargo Domestic 30,566 30,574 29,659

revenues International 72,192 62,195 55,380
(¥ Millions) Total 102,758 92,769 85,039

Cargo volume
Domestic 462,569 457,914 440,750

(Tons) International 332,507 277,571 248,735

Total 795,076 735,485 689,485

Cargo Revenues and Volume

2008 2007 2006

Mail revenues
Domestic 7,973 8,936 8,586

(¥ Millions) International 3,575 3,438 3,091

Total 11,548 12,374 11,677

Mail volume
Domestic 88,649 90,977 87,513

(Tons) International 15,330 15,389 14,252

Total 103,979 106,366 101,765

Mail Revenues and Volume



surcharges and took other measures to increase revenues.
In domestic cargo operations, initiatives included an

alliance with Skynet Asia Airways Co., Ltd. and the consoli-
dation of late-night cargo operations at Kansai International
Airport. As a result, domestic cargo volume remained steady,
but competition reduced unit price, causing revenues to
decrease year on year.

North American Mail Service Contributes to

International Mail Revenues 

Shipments from North America were stable, while
shipments from Japan to North America and Europe, and

from China to North America increased. These factors
supported improved performance centered on high-unit-price
routes. As a result, international mail revenues increased
year on year even though volume decreased. In domestic
mail operations, weaker demand caused volume shipped and
unit price to decrease year on year.

Initiatives in the Fiscal Year Ending March 2009

ANA will steadily upgrade its infrastructure to introduce
wide-body freighters, build a cargo hub in Okinawa and
establish an express delivery service under the Mid-Term
Corporate Strategy. In addition, ANA will strengthen compet-
itiveness and build its cargo network by increasing the
number of cargo freighters and initiating daily weekday
flights* to Xiamen, Qingdao, and Taipei, increasing the
number of early-morning and late-night flights, and improving
the convenience of connections at airports. In the express
shipping business, All Express Corporation was established
in April 2008 and began sales of express products in July
2008, initially from Japan to Hong Kong and Shanghai. In
addition, ANA is preparing to build a cargo hub in Okinawa.

* Five flights or more per week with either departure or arrival on a weekday, including
code-sharing
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Air Transportation

Other Transportation Services

Highlights

Other transportation services revenues .... ¥136.2 billion (-2.1%)

ANA worked to increase revenues from in-flight sales as well
as from aircraft maintenance and ground handling services
provided to other airlines, such as passenger check-in and
baggage handling. However, revenues decreased from the previ-
ous fiscal year, primarily due to a decrease in contract mainte-
nance revenues from other companies, mainly for maintenance
of Pratt & Whitney engines.



Travel Services

Highlights

Travel services revenues......................... ¥215.3 billion (+3.5%)
Operating expenses................................. ¥214.3 billion (+4.0%)
Operating income ...................................... ¥1.0 billion (–44.1%)
ROA .............................................. 2.1% (-1.7 percentage points)

ROA = segment operating income / 
[(segment assets at beginning of period + segment assets at end of period) / 2]

The travel services segment accounted for 12.6% of total operating
revenues before eliminations.
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Review of Operations

Overview of the Fiscal Year Ended March 2008 

Demand to Kyushu and Okinawa was strong and domestic
travel revenues increased significantly year on year. On the other
hand, overseas travel was affected by increased fuel surcharges
and lower demand to China.

ANA began sales of the Kando Annainin Plan, a domestic
travel product for individuals and ANA Hangzhou-Xi Hu Fureai
Walk for overseas travel. The former won the Grand Prix in the
domestic travel division at the Tour of the Year 2007 awards in
Japan, while the latter won a special prize in the overseas travel
division. Moreover, the number of users of Dynamic Package
(Tabi-Saku), an Internet-based direct sales product, increased

substantially. As a result, revenues increased year on year.
However, increasingly intense price competition and higher
package prices due to rising fuel costs led to a year on year
decrease in operating income.

Initiatives in the Fiscal Year Ending March 2009

ANA will broaden its product lineup to meet increasingly
diverse customer needs, enhance its sales capabilities by
expanding sales of Dynamic Package (Tabi-Saku), and raise the
cost-efficiency of retail operations, with the objective of improv-
ing profitability.



Overview of the Fiscal Year Ended March 2008 

All Nippon Airways Trading Co., Ltd. conducts
trading and retailing. In both aircraft-related and trading
operations, business was favorable and revenues
increased year on year.

Infini Travel Information Inc., which provides an
international flight reservation and ticketing system to
airlines and travel agencies, made good progress, mainly
from market development of its INFINI LINX Internet
reservations tool. However, slack demand for interna-
tional travel caused revenues to decline year on year. 

ANA Information Systems Planning Co., Ltd. princi-
pally provides information systems development,

Highlights

Operating revenues ................................. ¥198.9 billion (+1.1%)
Operating expenses................................. ¥193.7 billion (+1.3%)
Operating income ......................................... ¥5.1 billion (-7.4%)
ROA .............................................. 4.4% (-0.1 percentage points)

ROA = segment operating income / 
[(segment assets at beginning of period + segment assets at end of period) / 2]

The other businesses segment accounted for 11.6% of total operating
revenues before eliminations.
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Other Businesses

maintenance, and operations services to ANA and other
Group companies. Its Systems Development Division
handles development of the SKiP service and provides
support of the development of new systems. Although
the Maintenance Division made new business
contracts, overall revenues decreased year on year as
price competition intensified.

Initiatives in the Fiscal Year Ending March 2009

The Other Businesses segment will provide the
services necessary to implement the Mid-Term
Corporate Strategy in the Air Transportation segment,
while raising the overall strength of the ANA Group.

* Elimination of the Hotel Operations Business Segment
In line with its management strategy of increasing profitability by concentrating management resources on air transport operations, ANA transferred 
the shares and assets of its 14 hotel-related subsidiaries outside the ANA Group in June 2007. Accordingly, ANA no longer reports the Hotel Operations segment.
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2008 2007 2006 2005

For the Year
Operating revenues............................................................................ ¥1,487,827 ¥1,489,658 ¥1,368,792 ¥1,292,813 
Operating expenses ........................................................................... 1,403,438 1,397,468 1,279,990 1,215,039 
Operating income ............................................................................... 84,389 92,190 88,802 77,774 
EBITDA (Note 3)...................................................................................... 201,176 180,800 165,003 148,220 
Income before income taxes and minority interests ..................... 115,224 51,064 52,433 45,679 
Net income .......................................................................................... 64,143 32,658 26,722 26,970 

Cash flows from operating activities................................................ ¥   165,765 ¥  158,714 ¥  128,525 ¥ 149,070 
Cash flows from investing activities ................................................ (69,827) (128,298) (46,449) (169,247)
Cash flows from financing activities ................................................ (87,336) (100,897) (3,137) (51,600)
Free cash flow (loss) .......................................................................... 95,938 30,416 82,076 (20,177)
Depreciation and amortization (excluding extraordinary depreciation)... 116,787 88,610 76,201 70,446
Capital expenditure............................................................................. 357,733 251,926 235,580 210,180

At Year-End
Total assets ......................................................................................... ¥1,783,393 ¥1,602,091 ¥1,666,843 ¥1,606,613 
Interest-bearing debt (Note 4) ............................................................... 767,876 749,446 846,317 942,256 
Short-term debt (Note 4)........................................................................ 136,399 158,724 149,438 204,454 
Long-term debt (Note 4) ........................................................................ 631,477 590,722 696,879 737,802 
Total shareholders’ equity (Note 5) ...................................................... 452,972 398,223 346,309 214,284 

Per Share Data (Yen, U.S. dollars)
Net income .......................................................................................... ¥ 32.93 ¥        16.77 ¥        15.64 ¥        17.26 
Net assets............................................................................................ 232.58 204.42 177.89 128.31 
Cash dividends .................................................................................... 5.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 

Management Indexes
Operating income margin (%)........................................................... 5.7 6.2 6.5 6.0 
Net income margin (%)...................................................................... 4.3 2.2 2.0 2.1 
ROA (%) (Note 6) .................................................................................... 5.3 6.0 5.7 5.2 
ROE (%) (Note 7) .................................................................................... 15.1 8.8 9.5 14.8 
Equity ratio (%).................................................................................... 25.4 24.9 20.8 13.3 
Debt/equity ratio (times) (Note 8) ......................................................... 1.7 1.9 2.4 4.4 
Asset turnover (times)........................................................................ 0.9 0.9 0.8 0.8 
Interest coverage ratio (times) (Note 9) ............................................... 10.7 8.9 6.3 7.0 
Current ratio (times)............................................................................ 0.9 0.9 1.1 0.8 
Payout ratio (%) .................................................................................. 15.2 17.9 19.2 17.4 
Number of employees (Note 9) ............................................................ 31,345 32,460 30,322 29,098

Operating Data
Domestic passenger services

Passenger revenues (¥ millions / $ thousands) ........................... 739,514 726,063 685,074 658,762
Available seat-km (millions) ............................................................ 62,651 62,414 60,973 60,648 
Revenue passenger-km (millions) ................................................. 39,928 40,564 39,712 38,454 
Number of passengers (thousands).............................................. 45,557 46,471 45,474 44,486 
Load factor (%) ................................................................................ 63.7 65.0 65.1 63.4 
Unit revenues (¥) ............................................................................. 11.8 11.6 11.2 10.9 
Yield (¥) ............................................................................................. 18.5 17.9 17.3 17.1 

International passenger services
Passenger revenues (¥ millions / $ thousands) ........................... 311,577 278,478 229,232 210,735 
Available seat-km (millions) ............................................................ 28,285 26,607 25,338 25,190 
Revenue passenger-km (millions) ................................................. 21,291 20,145 18,769 19,191 
Number of passengers (thousands).............................................. 4,827 4,552 4,135 4,116 
Load factor (%) ................................................................................ 75.3 75.7 74.1 76.2 
Unit revenues (¥) ............................................................................. 11.0 10.5 9.0 8.4 
Yield (¥) ............................................................................................. 14.6 13.8 12.2 11.0

Domestic Cargo
Cargo revenues (¥ millions / $ thousands) ................................... 30,566 30,574 29,659 29,515 
Cargo volume (tons) ........................................................................ 462,569 457,914 440,750 422,397

International Cargo
Cargo revenues (¥ millions / $ thousands) ................................... 72,192 62,195 55,380 50,089 
Cargo volume (tons) ........................................................................ 332,507 277,571 248,735 234,417 

Notes: 1. As of March 31, 2008, there were 81 consolidated subsidiaries and 23 equity-method subsidiaries and affiliates.
2. U.S. dollar amounts in this report are translated, for convenience only, at the rate of ¥100.19=US$1, the approximate exchange rate as of March 31, 2008.
3. EBITDA = operating income + depreciation and amortization
4. Lease obligations are included for the fiscal year ended March 2008 as a result of the early application of the Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions (revised March 30, 2007).
5. Total shareholders’ equity = shareholders’ equity + valuation, translation adjustments and others
6. ROA = (operating income + interest and dividend income) / simple average of total assets

Consolidated 11-Year Summary
All Nippon Airways Co., Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries (Note 1)

Years ended March 31
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U.S. dollars (Note 2)
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 2008

¥1,217,596 ¥1,215,909 ¥1,204,514 ¥1,279,635 ¥1,209,647 ¥1,070,773 ¥1,080,506 $14,850,055
1,183,242 1,218,506 1,181,546 1,197,392 1,178,088 1,075,934 1,074,357 14,007,765

34,354 (2,597) 22,968 82,243 31,559 (5,161) 6,149 842,290
98,590 59,255 84,305 141,576 90,000 68,259 80,623 2,007,945
35,221 (54,821) (7,178) 63,289 (22,689) (2,430) (4,391) 1,150,055
24,756 (28,256) (9,456) 40,286 (15,201) (4,732) (5,398) 640,214

¥      89,793 ¥      85,952 ¥      33,993 ¥   148,796 ¥      77,249 ¥      61,285 ¥      64,772 $  1,654,506
(95,882) (52,478) (123,927) (17,964) (85,207) (19,626) (157,473) (696,946)
82,867 (63,364) 69,104 (158,359) 45,640 17,227 120,052 (871,704)
(6,089) 33,474 (89,934) 130,832 (7,958) 41,659 (92,701) 957,561

64,236 61,852 61,337 59,333 58,441 73,420 74,474 1,165,655
147,644 129,863 132,408 94,391 111,269 72,928 95,617 3,570,546

¥1,565,106 ¥1,442,573 ¥1,510,982 ¥1,451,420 ¥1,534,617 ¥1,395,189 ¥1,382,401 $17,800,110
1,031,713 945,395 1,017,823 935,730 1,112,340 1,004,126 988,218 7,664,198

206,557 83,916 221,481 175,519 268,618 197,105 169,514 1,361,403
825,156 861,479 796,342 760,211 843,722 807,021 818,704 6,302,795
150,086 121,954 138,641 150,500 97,456 112,315 118,031 4,521,130

¥        16.14 ¥       (18.42) ¥         (6.17) ¥        27.75 ¥       (10.54) ¥         (3.28) ¥         (3.74) $ 0.329
97.66 79.57 90.40 98.19 67.61 77.85 81.81 2.321

3.00 – – – – – – 0.050

2.8 – 1.9 6.4 2.6 – 0.6 
2.0 – – 3.1 – – –
2.7 0.3 2.0 6.1 2.7 0.9 1.0 

18.2 – – 32.5 – – –
9.6 8.5 9.2 10.4 6.4 8.1 8.5 
6.9 7.8 7.3 6.2 11.4 8.9 8.4 
0.8 0.8 0.8 0.9 0.8 0.8 0.8 
4.1  3.8 1.2 4.2 2.0 – –
1.0 1.1 0.9 1.0 0.9 1.0 1.0 

18.6 – – – – – –
28,870 28,907 29,095 29,358 30,303 25,824 –

644,861 646,854 662,772 672,504 653,737 654,106 – 7,381,116
63,148 62,565 60,980 61,074 60,093 59,875 56,787 
38,857 40,388 38,780 38,469 38,411 37,009 36,009 
44,784 47,133 45,796 45,509 45,431 43,893 –

61.5 64.6 63.6 63.0 63.9 61.8 63.4 
10.2 10.3 10.8 11.0 10.9 10.9 –
16.6 16.0 17.1 17.5 17.0 17.7 –

176,956 185,481 169,660 207,449 180,776 174,565 – 3,109,861
24,626 25,974 26,928 32,446 33,772 31,138 28,359 
16,950 18,719 17,799 24,124 22,510 20,562 18,835 

3,301 3,784 3,438 4,378 3,999 3,572 –
68.8 72.1 66.1 74.4 66.7 66.0 66.4 

7.2 7.1 6.3 6.4 5.4 5.6 –
10.4 9.9 9.5 8.6 8.0 8.5 –

26,670 24,330 24,746 28,283 27,718 27,853 – 305,080
414,406 383,583 386,727 434,333 420,846 410,820 –

43,205 40,393 32,937 40,403 40,081 35,755 – 720,551
220,476 195,669 152,942 192,997 195,384 161,537 –

7. ROE = net income / simple average of total shareholders’ equity
8. Debt/equity ratio = Interest-bearing debt / Total shareholders’ equity. Interest-bearing debt for the fiscal year ended March 2008 includes lease obligations as a result of the 

early application of the Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions.
9. The interest-coverage ratio prior to the fiscal year ended March 2000 and the number of employees on a consolidated basis prior to the fiscal year ended March 1999 were not disclosed 

and therefore are not presented here.
10. Yen amounts are rounded down to the nearest million. U.S. dollar translations, percentages and other operating data are rounded to the nearest number.
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Industry Trends

Source: IATA World Air Transport Statistics, 2007

Airline AirlineRanking RankingNumber of
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Overview

Overview of the ANA Group

All Nippon Airways Co., Ltd. (“ANA” or the “Company”), its
112 subsidiaries and 40 affiliates comprise the ANA Group, or the
“Group.” The Group’s primary operations are air transportation,
together with travel services and other businesses including
trading and sales, system development and maintenance. On
June 1, 2007, ANA moved to concentrate management
resources on the air transportation business by transferring all of
the shares and assets of 14 subsidiaries related to the hotel
business.1 As a result, the hotel segment was eliminated in the
fiscal year ended March 2008.

The Group implemented reforms from 2003 to shift to a
strong corporate structure that can withstand changes in the
environment. Amid a challenging operating environment charac-
terized by rising fuel prices, ANA has been working to build a
corporate structure that generates stable profits. As a result, the
Company has improved profitability by increasing revenues in
the growth areas of international passenger and cargo opera-
tions and by matching capacity to demand in domestic passen-
ger operations. The Company has also implemented measures
to counter rising fuel prices. Consequently, operating income
has continued to increase steadily since the fiscal year ended
March 2003, and earnings before income taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA)2 for the fiscal year ended March 2008
were approximately 3.4 times higher than for the fiscal year
ended March 2003. Moreover, in addition to accumulating stable
profits, ANA increased equity through the issuance of new
shares in March 2006 and transferred the shares and assets of
its hotel business in June 2007, measures which have strength-
ened ANA’s financial structure and resulted in restoration of
ANA’s single A credit rating.

1. ANA continues to participate in hotel operations through a joint venture with the 
Intercontinental Hotels Group, IHG ANA Hotels Group Japan LLC. However, this 
joint venture is an equity affiliate and is included in Other Businesses. (Please 
refer to sections that follow for more information on the impact of the divestiture 
on ANA’s performance and financial position.)

2. EBITDA = operating income + depreciation and amortization

ANA Group Mid-Term Corporate Strategy

(April 2008 to March 2012)

Against the backdrop of a rapidly changing environment
characterized by a continuing rise in fuel prices, ongoing global
liberalization of air services, and scheduled capacity expansion at
Tokyo area airports from 2010, ANA formulated the ANA Group
Mid-Term Corporate Strategy (April 2008 to March 2012) in
January 2008. The aim of this Mid-Term Corporate Strategy is to
be Asia’s Number 1 Airline in quality, customer satisfaction and
value creation, and ANA is building the strong operating base to
achieve and sustain these objectives. For ANA to boldly change
its conventional thinking and build a new business structure with
new approaches for growth, the Company has set the two key

themes of innovation and globalization, and seeks to create new
value through synergies between these two elements. More-
over, ANA will continue to strengthen its operating base for
safety and on-time performance, and will work on corporate
social responsibility (CSR), including measures to protect the
environment, as important management issues.

The numerical targets of the new Mid-Term Corporate
Strategy are as follows:

Targets of ANA Group Mid-Term Corporate Strategy

(April 2008 to March 2012)

➤ Become Number 1 in Asia by customer satisfaction 
index*

➤ Consolidated operating income of ¥120 billion or higher

➤ Operating income margin of 7% or higher

➤ ROA (calculated using operating income) of 6% or higher 

* Average of results of customer satisfaction index surveys

(Please refer to “An Interview with President and CEO Mineo
Yamamoto” on pages 6–8 for specific initiatives of the Mid-Term
Corporate Strategy.)

Economic Conditions

General Economic Overview
In the fiscal year ended March 2008, the overall Japanese

economy continued to recover due to the ongoing increase in
capital investment that resulted from firm corporate profits and
increased consumer spending that resulted from improved
employment conditions in the first half. In the second half, the
Japanese economy showed signs of slowing as a result of the
slowdown in the U.S. economy due to the impact of the
subprime mortgage crisis, rising crude oil prices and other
factors. 

Fuel Price and Exchange Rate Trends
In world crude oil markets during the fiscal year ended

March 2008, rising global demand for energy, increased geopo-
litical risk among oil-producing countries and the flow of capital
into commodities markets resulted in a continued rise in prices
to unprecedented levels. As of March 31, 2008, the Dubai
crude oil price had increased approximately 1.5 times from the
beginning of the fiscal year to $97.40 per barrel, with an
average price for the fiscal year of $77.40 per barrel. In
addition, higher crude oil prices drove the market price of
Singapore kerosene higher, ending the fiscal year at $128.50
per barrel as of March 31, 2008, with an average price for the
fiscal year of $97.40 per barrel.

The yen-dollar exchange rate remained stable at an average of
¥119.3 to US$1.00 in the first half of the fiscal year ended March
2008, but in the second half, the impact of the subprime mortgage
crisis in the United States led to concerns about a slowdown in
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the U.S. economy that caused the yen to appreciate to an average
of ¥109.3 to US$1.00. Consequently, the yen averaged ¥114.3 to
US$1.00 for the fiscal year ended March 2008.

Air Transport Traffic Trends
In 2007, the number of passengers on world air transport

traffic increased 6.0% compared with the previous year to 2.25
billion (source: ICAO preliminary report). Passengers on sched-
uled international routes of IATA member airlines increased 8.3%
and passengers on scheduled domestic routes increased 2.8%.
Moreover, scheduled global air cargo volume increased 3.1%.

The number of passengers on scheduled routes in Japan in
the fiscal year ended March 2008 decreased 2.2% compared with
the previous year to 94.85 million (source: Ministry of Land,
Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism preliminary report). Traffic
on the Tokyo–Okinawa and Tokyo–Fukuoka trunk routes was
strong, but the number of passengers on other trunk routes
declined. Consequently, the number of passengers on trunk
routes declined 0.9% from the previous year to 38.27 million. The
number of passengers on local routes decreased 3.0% from the
previous year to 56.58 million. In 2007 the volume of cargo
increased 2.4% from the previous year to 920 thousand tons.

The number of passengers carried by Japanese airlines on
international routes in the fiscal year ended March 2008 increased
1.6% from the previous year to 17.68 million. Demand on Asia
routes in China and South Korea, and on Europe routes was
robust. However, the number of passengers on continental United
States and Oceania routes declined. In 2007, volume of cargo
increased 3.1% from the previous fiscal year to 1.35 million tons.

Performance for the Fiscal Year Ended March 2008

Overview

Operating revenues totaled ¥1,487.8 billion and were essen-
tially unchanged compared with the previous fiscal year. The
reduction in operating revenues due to the elimination of the
hotel business offset a substantial increase in air transportation
operating revenues from the contribution of a revision of fares on
domestic and international routes, in addition to other measures
to increase revenues. 

The ANA Group restrained growth in operating expenses,
which increased 0.4% compared with the previous fiscal year to
¥1,403.4 billion, by implementing thorough measures to reduce
costs and secure stable income. For example, although the rising
price of crude oil caused fuel costs to rise, the ANA Group
reduced operating costs in ways such as matching capacity to
demand, reducing fuel consumption and promoting standardiza-
tion of aircraft use. 

As a result, operating income decreased 8.5% compared
with the previous fiscal year to ¥84.3 billion. Net non-operating
income totaled ¥30.8 billion, compared to a net non-operating
loss of ¥41.1 billion for the previous fiscal year, with a significant
increase in non-operating income reflecting the sale of the hotel
business. As a result, net income increased 96.4% compared
with the previous fiscal year to a record ¥64.1 billion. ROA
decreased 0.7 percentage points compared with the previous
fiscal year to 5.3%. In addition to the decrease in operating
income, primary factors in the change were the gain on the trans-
fer of the assets of the hotel business and the recording of
finance lease assets that transfer ownership on the balance sheet
due to the early application of the Accounting Standards for
Lease Transactions (revised March 30, 2007; “the new lease
accounting standards”).

Review of Operating Segments

Air Transportation
Segment revenues increased 4.2% compared with the previ-

ous fiscal year to ¥1,301.6 billion as a result of an increase in
revenues from the domestic and international passenger and
cargo businesses.

In domestic passenger services, the number of passengers
decreased compared with the previous fiscal year as demand
weakened and competition with other airlines and modes of
transportation intensified on key routes. However, revenues
increased as a result of fare revisions, discount fares, efforts to
stimulate demand tailored to passenger trends and the competi-
tive environment, and code-sharing agreements with Star Flyer
Inc. for flights on the Tokyo–Kitakyushu route to strengthen
ANA’s network. Moreover, ANA implemented measures to
increase competitiveness and passenger convenience. These
measures included promoting the use of the differentiated
product Super Seat Premium and expanding the SKiP boarding

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Dubai Crude Oil
Singapore Kerosene

4
2007

5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 1
2008

2 3 4
2007

5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 1
2008

2 3

Prices for Dubai Crude Oil
and Singapore Kerosene
(Fiscal Year Ended March
31, 2008)
(U.S. Dollars per Barrel)

Monthly Yen-Dollar
Exchange Rate (Fiscal Year
Ended March 31, 2008)
(Yen/U.S. Dollar)



43Annual Report 2008

service, which eliminates the need for airport check-in, to all
domestic airports ANA serves. As a result, the number of passen-
gers decreased 2.0% and passenger unit prices increased 3.9%
compared with the previous fiscal year. Operating revenues from
domestic passenger services increased 1.9% compared with the
previous fiscal year, or ¥13.4 billion.

In international passenger services, boosted by firm business
demand, ANA successfully strengthened its Asian route network
in India and China, and load factors on Europe, North America and
Asia routes remained at high levels. Moreover, ANA worked to
enhance profitability by starting the Haneda–Shanghai (Hongqiao)
route and introducing the Boeing 777 on the Narita–London
route. As a result, ANA increased the unit price of revenue
passengers by acquiring business passengers. Number of
passengers increased 6.0% and passenger unit prices increased
5.5% compared with the previous fiscal year. Operating revenues
from international passenger services increased 11.9% compared
with the previous fiscal year, or ¥33.0 billion.

In cargo operations, while competition intensified due to the
entry of new air carriers on domestic routes, ANA maintained the
same level of cargo volume and operating income as in the previ-
ous fiscal year. On international routes, ANA began lease opera-
tions to effectively expand its fleet from four to six cargo
freighters. This enhanced its cargo network for North America,
China and Asia, increased belly space on passenger flights, and
significantly increased cargo capacity. Consequently, operating
revenues from international cargo operations increased 16.1%
compared with the previous fiscal year, or ¥9.9 billion.  

In mail operations, mail volume carried on domestic routes

decreased and unit prices fell because of intensified competition,
resulting in a decrease of ¥0.9 billion in operating revenues. On
international routes, shipments from Japan to China decreased
due to aircraft downsizing, but increased shipments to North
America and Europe, which have a higher unit price, supported a
¥0.1 billion increase in operating revenues. 

As a result, air transportation operating revenues increased
¥52.8 billion compared with the previous fiscal year. 

Operating expenses increased 4.7% compared with the
previous fiscal year to ¥1,223.6 billion, primarily because of an
increase in fuel costs. Air transportation ROA* decreased to
5.0% from 5.5% for the previous fiscal year because of lower
operating income and the increase in assets. Air transportation
operating expenses were as follows:

*ROA = segment operating income / 
[(segment assets at beginning of period + segment assets at end of period) / 2]

• Fuel and fuel tax expenses
Fuel and fuel tax expenses increased 12.7% compared with

the previous fiscal year to ¥266.1 billion because of high fuel
prices and increased consumption of fuel due to expansion in the
scale of operations. Fuel and fuel tax expenses rose to 21.7% of
segment operating expenses from 20.2% for the previous fiscal
year. As in the previous year, the Company sought to control the
risk of jet fuel price fluctuations and stabilize expenses by
hedging risks using crude oil and jet fuel commodity derivatives in
planned, ongoing hedge transactions for specific periods of time.
To curb consumption volume, the Company took fuel manage-
ment measures to increase fuel efficiency including engine
washing and optimal altitude operation.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Yen (Millions)

Years ended March 31, 2008 2007 2006

Air Transportation Expenses
Fuel and fuel tax .................................................................................... ¥   266,127 ¥   236,128 ¥   179,827
Landing and navigation fees................................................................... 106,014 104,281 100,488
Aircraft leasing ...................................................................................... 63,389 87,222 86,706
Depreciation and amortization................................................................ 112,871 81,465 67,984
Aircraft maintenance – parts and contracts ............................................ 61,824 64,272 61,410
Personnel .............................................................................................. 241,383 232,755 230,151
Sales commissions ................................................................................ 95,307 91,645 80,274
Outsourcing........................................................................................... 82,483 80,992 73,442
Other..................................................................................................... 194,294 190,301 178,269

.......................................................................................................... 1,223,692 1,169,061 1,058,551
Travel Services Expenses.......................................................................... 214,323 206,106 196,274
Hotel Operations Expenses ......................................................................... – 61,415 61,741
Other Businesses Expenses ..................................................................... 193,776 191,281 184,123

Total Operating Expenses................................................................... 1,631,791 1,627,863 1,500,689
Intercompany Eliminations........................................................................... (228,353) (230,395) (220,699)
Consolidated Operating Expenses............................................................... ¥1,403,438 ¥1,397,468 ¥1,279,990 

Note: Operating expenses figures are before intercompany eliminations.
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• Landing and navigation fees
The number of flights increased 0.5% on domestic routes,

7.6% on international routes, and a substantial 47.1% on cargo
routes. Landing and navigation fees therefore rose 1.7%
compared with the previous fiscal year to ¥106.0 billion.

• Aircraft leasing expenses
Aircraft leasing expenses decreased 27.3% compared with

the previous fiscal year to ¥63.3 billion, mainly because the appli-
cation of the new lease accounting standards reduced expenses
¥22.0 billion.

• Depreciation and amortization expenses
Depreciation and amortization expenses rose 38.6% to

¥112.8 billion, mainly because the number of Company-owned
aircraft increased by 11 to 136, the application of the new lease
accounting standards shifted ¥21.6 billion in aircraft leasing
expenses to depreciation and amortization expenses, and tax
code revisions increased expenses.

• Aircraft maintenance expenses – parts and contracts
Aircraft maintenance expenses decreased 3.8% compared

with the previous fiscal year to ¥61.8 billion. This decrease was
principally due to a decrease in purchases of aircraft parts in
conjunction with reduced maintenance outsourcing expenses.

• Personnel costs
Personnel costs increased 3.7% compared with the previous

fiscal year to ¥241.3 billion, mainly because of an increase in
personnel at ANA Group companies due to expansion in interna-
tional passenger services and cargo operations and the addition
of two airport service companies to the scope of consolidation.

• Sales commissions
Sales commissions increased 4.0% compared with the previ-

ous fiscal year to ¥95.3 billion, primarily due to increased sales
promotion expenses caused by higher redemption expenses
accompanying the increased membership of the ANA Mileage
Club. While revenues increased in the air transportation business,
a decrease in sales commissions for international passenger
services from 7% to 5% from April 2007 kept sales commissions
in line with the previous fiscal year.

• Outsourcing expenses
Outsourcing expenses increased 1.8% compared with the

previous fiscal year to ¥82.4 billion, mainly from expanded
networks in the international passenger and cargo businesses.

• Other expenses
Other expenses rose 2.1% compared with the previous fiscal

year to ¥194.2 billion. Although the application of the new lease
accounting standards reduced rent expenses by ¥2.0 billion, rent
payments increased due to expansion of airport facilities and
purchases of goods also rose.

Travel Services
Segment revenues rose 3.5% compared with the previous

fiscal year to ¥215.3 billion because of strong growth in domestic
travel. Operating expenses rose 4.0% compared with the previ-
ous fiscal year to ¥214.3 billion, mainly due to intensifying price
competition and higher purchasing costs as a result of rising fuel
prices. Consequently, operating income decreased 44.1%
compared with the previous fiscal year to ¥1.0 billion. 

ROA declined to 2.1% from 3.8% for the previous fiscal year

Non-Operating Income (Expenses) Yen (Millions)

Years ended March 31, 2008 2007 2006

Interest and dividend income .................................................................... ¥ 4,610 ¥  5,353 ¥  4,681
Gain on sale of property and equipment .................................................... 5,184 1,073 2,638
Interest expenses ..................................................................................... (15,049) (17,708) (20,172)
Loss on sale or disposal of property and equipment .................................. (8,974) (8,402) (10,577)
Impairment loss ........................................................................................ (14,111) (10,809) (20,451)
Valuation loss on investments in securities ............................................... (3,825) (215) (751)
Valuation loss on other investments.......................................................... (9) (11) –
Equity in income (loss) of affiliates ............................................................ 385 284 (1,335)
Gain on sale of investments in securities .................................................. 876 1,239 18,632
Amortization of net transitional retirement benefit obligation ..................... (6,634) (6,713) (6,712)
Special retirement benefit expenses ......................................................... (1,217) (600) (4,373)
Refurbishment expense for return of lease aircraft.................................... (4,086) (6,533) –
Gain on sale of hotel business assets........................................................ 132,992 – –
Loss on disposal of parts for retired aircrafts property and equipment ....... (11,198) – –
Provision for loss on antitrust proceedings ................................................ (16,198) – –
Other, net ................................................................................................. (31,911) 1,916 2,051

Total ..................................................................................................... ¥ 30,835 ¥(41,126) ¥(36,369)
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because assets were essentially unchanged but operating
income decreased.

Other Businesses
Segment revenues rose 1.1% compared with the previous

fiscal year to ¥198.9 billion due to the solid performance of the
trading and retailing operations of All Nippon Airways Trading Co.,
Ltd. On the other hand, operating expenses increased 1.3%
compared with the previous fiscal year to ¥193.7 billion.
Operating income therefore decreased 7.4% compared with the
previous fiscal year to ¥5.1 billion. ROA decreased to 4.4% from
4.5% for the previous fiscal year because assets increased 4.7%
from a year earlier. 

Non-Operating Income (Expenses)

Net non-operating income totaled ¥30.8 billion, compared
with net non-operating expenses of ¥41.1 billion for the previous
fiscal year. The primary factor in the year-on-year change was the
non-recurring gain on sale of hotel business assets totaling ¥132.9
billion. However, ANA revised the estimated useful lives and
residual values of ancillary assets associated with aircraft, which
increased depreciation expenses by ¥23.7 billion compared with
the application of the former method, of which ¥22.3 billion was
recognized as extraordinary depreciation. Renewal of aircraft
resulted in impairment loss totaling ¥14.1 billion and loss on
disposal of parts for retired aircraft property and equipment of
¥11.1 billion. Moreover, the early application of the new lease
accounting standards resulted in a charge of ¥3.8 billion for valua-
tion loss on investments in securities. Provision for loss on
antitrust proceedings in connection with an alleged violation of EU
competition law totaled ¥16.1 billion. Continued reduction of inter-
est-bearing debt decreased net interest expenses by ¥1.9 billion.

Net Income

As a result, income before income taxes and minority inter-
ests increased 125.6% compared with the previous fiscal year to
¥115.2 billion. 

Income taxes increased 189.0% compared with the previous
fiscal year to ¥50.1 billion due to the increase in income before
taxes and minority interests. The effective tax rate was 43.6%,
compared with 34.0% for the previous fiscal year. 

Net income increased 96.4% compared with the previous
fiscal year to ¥64.1 billion. Net income per share was ¥32.93, an
increase of ¥16.16 compared with net income per share of
¥16.77 for the previous fiscal year.

Cash Flows

Fundamental Approach to Sources of Funds

The ANA Group’s fundamental approach to sources of funds
is to keep capital expenditures within the limits of operating cash

flows including repayment of lease obligations, and to expand
capital while controlling interest-bearing debt by managing free
cash flow. The ANA Group’s objective is to strengthen competi-
tiveness over the medium and long term through continuous
investment while enhancing financial soundness.

Overview of the Fiscal Year Ended March 2008

Free cash flow, calculated as net cash provided by operating
activities minus net cash used in investing activities, totaled
¥95.9 billion, while net cash used in financing activities totaled
¥87.3 billion. As a result, cash and cash equivalents increased
¥7.6 billion from a year earlier to ¥179.9 billion. 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities increased ¥7.0

billion compared with the previous fiscal year to ¥165.7 billion.
Income before income taxes and minority interests increased
¥64.1 billion compared with the previous fiscal year to ¥115.2
billion. Depreciation and amortization, including extraordinary
depreciation, totaled ¥139.1 billion. Income taxes paid decreased
¥14.3 billion from the previous fiscal year to ¥5.8 billion. 

The interest coverage ratio improved to 10.7 times from 8.9
times for the previous fiscal year.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities decreased ¥58.4 billion

compared with the previous fiscal year to ¥69.8 billion. The
largest use of cash was payment for purchase of property and
equipment totaling ¥357.7 billion resulting from purchases of
aircraft and other assets such as spare parts and advance
payments for planned purchases of aircraft. On the other hand,
proceeds from sale of property and equipment provided cash
totaling ¥45.2 billion. In addition, proceeds from sale of hotel
business assets provided cash totaling ¥245.9 billion. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Free Cash Flow
Free cash flow totaled ¥95.9 billion, an increase of ¥65.5 billion

from ¥30.4 billion for the previous fiscal year. The ANA Group
deployed free cash flow to maintain a stable financial base by
controlling the increase in interest-bearing debt, to maintain stable
shareholder returns, and to enhance internal capital reserves.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities decreased ¥13.5 billion

compared with the previous fiscal year to ¥87.3 billion. Proceeds
from issuance of bonds totaled ¥29.8 billion, but the ANA Group
continued to restrain interest-bearing debt by repaying long-term
debt, bonds and lease obligations. Returns to shareholders
consisted of expenditures of ¥5.8 billion for payment of dividends,
essentially the same as the previous fiscal year, and ¥0.1 billion for
purchase of treasury stock, compared with ¥0.9 billion in proceeds
from sale of treasury stock in the previous fiscal year.

Capital Expenditure and Aircraft Procurement

Capital Expenditure

The ANA Group’s capital expenditure mainly comprises the
acquisition of aircraft, aircraft engines and aircraft parts, and
investments related to information systems. Capital expenditure
in the fiscal year ended March 2008 increased 42.0% compared
with the previous fiscal year to ¥357.7 billion, mainly because of
increased aircraft-related investment.

By segment, compared with the previous fiscal year capital
expenditure increased 46.9% to ¥356.4 billion in the air trans-
portation segment, decreased 9.3% to ¥2.2 billion in the travel
services segment, and decreased 22.5% to ¥3.3 billion in the
other businesses segment. For reference, capital expenditure in
the hotel operations segment, which the ANA Group has sold,
totaled ¥2.8 billion in the fiscal year ended March 2007. 

Fundamental Approach to Aircraft Procurement

Aircraft are major investments that are in use for more than
10 years. Decisions regarding the selection of aircraft types
suited to route configuration and programs to optimize fleet
composition are among the most important issues for airline
management. Moreover, with fluctuations in the operating
environment such as the clear timetable for new runway
construction and runway extensions at airports in the Tokyo area
and rising fuel prices, the ANA Group Mid-Term Corporate
Strategy (April 2008 to March 2012) includes plans to accelerate
fleet renewal with more economically efficient aircraft.

ANA’s Fleet Strategy encompasses three policies: increasing
cost competitiveness by introducing fuel-efficient aircraft, match-
ing capacity to demand by increasing the proportion of medium-
and narrow-body aircraft, and increasing productivity by consoli-
dating the number of models. The Mid-Term Corporate Strategy
contains plans to acquire 59 fuel-efficient aircraft, which will
represent approximately 50% of the entire fleet by March 31,
2012. Moreover, the ANA Group will retire Boeing 747-400s and
Fokker 50s operating on international routes to consolidate the
number of models in use. Furthermore, in view of demand
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trends, ANA decided in March 2008 to acquire 90-seat-class
Mitsubishi regional jets, which it expects to be highly economical.
The ANA Group also plans to add freighters converted from
passenger planes and large cargo freighters because of expan-
sion in the scale of the cargo business that will result from the
construction of a hub in Okinawa.

Aircraft Procured in the Fiscal Year Ended March 2008

In line with the above Fleet Strategy, the ANA Group
increased its fleet to 218 aircraft as of March 31, 2008 by seven
from a year earlier.

Newly introduced aircraft
During the fiscal year ended March 2008, the ANA Group

took delivery of fifteen aircraft, consisting of four Boeing 777-
300s (purchased), four Airbus A320-200s (leased), and seven
Boeing 737-700s (purchased).

Retired aircraft
The ANA Group retired eight aircraft, consisting of four

Boeing 747-400s, one Airbus A320-200 and three Airbus A321-
100s. As a result, ANA has retired all of its Airbus A321s.

Aircraft purchased after lease
Among the aircraft that it uses, the ANA Group purchased

seven aircraft upon the completion of their lease term, consisting
of one Boeing 747-400, three Boeing 777-200s, two Boeing 767-
300s, and one Boeing 737-500.

Leased aircraft after sale
One Airbus A320-200 was leased after sale.

Fleet Composition

As of March 31, 2008 Total Owned Leased

Boeing 747-400 19 (-4) 18 (-3) 1 (-1)

Boeing 777-300 19 (+4) 12 (+4) 7

Boeing 777-200 23 15 (+3) 8 (-3)

Boeing 767-300 56 45 (+2) 11 (-2)

Boeing 767-300F (Cargo freighter) 4 0 4

Boeing 737-700 17 (+7) 13 (+7) 4

Boeing 737-500 25 16 (+1) 9 (-1)

Boeing 737-400 1 0 1

Airbus A321-100 0 (-3) 0 (-1) 0 (-2)

Airbus A320-200 32 (+3) 16 (-2) 16 (+5)

Bombardier DHC-8-400 14 0 14

Bombardier DHC-8-300 5 1 4

Fokker F-50 3 0 3

Total 218 (+7) 136 (+11) 82 (-4)

Note: Figures in parentheses show changes from the previous fiscal year-end.

Financial Position

Assets

As of March 31, 2008, total assets increased ¥181.3 billion
from a year earlier to ¥1,783.3 billion.

Current assets increased ¥51.4 billion from a year earlier to
¥473.4 billion. Deferred income taxes – current increased ¥24.5
billion from a year earlier and derivatives also increased.

Property and equipment increased ¥130.2 billion from a
year earlier to ¥1,309.7 billion. The transfer of the hotel
business reduced property and equipment by ¥125.3 billion,
but the ANA Group capitalized lease assets totaling ¥70.0
billion as a result of the early application of the new lease
accounting standard. In addition, the ANA Group acquired new
engines and 18 new aircraft through purchase and lease, and
advance payments for future acquisitions of aircraft also
increased property, plant and equipment.

Liabilities

Total liabilities as of March 31, 2008 increased ¥131.2 billion
from a year earlier to ¥1,327.4 billion. 

Current liabilities increased ¥73.9 billion from a year earlier to
¥546.9 billion. The ANA Group recorded lease obligation totaling
¥15.7 billion and provision for potential loss on an alleged viola-
tion of EU competition law totaling ¥16.1 billion. In addition,
accrued income taxes increased ¥77.9 billion from a year earlier
to ¥81.3 billion. Short-term loans, including the current portion of
long-term debt but excluding lease obligation, decreased ¥38.1
billion from a year earlier to ¥120.6 billion. 

Long-term liabilities increased ¥57.3 billion from a year earlier
to ¥780.4 billion. Long-term debt, excluding lease obligation,
decreased ¥16.1 billion from a year earlier as a result of net
repayment, but the ANA Group recorded lease obligation of ¥56.8
billion as a result of the early application of the new lease
accounting standards.  

Interest-bearing debt increased ¥18.4 billion from a year
earlier to ¥767.8 billion. The ANA Group reduced interest-bearing
debt by repaying short-term
loans, long-term debt and
bonds, but recorded lease
obligations totaling ¥72.6
billion as a result of the early
application of the new lease
accounting standards. 

The debt/equity ratio
improved to 1.7 times from
1.9 times a year earlier. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Net Assets

As of March 31, 2008, net assets increased ¥50.0 billion from
a year earlier to ¥455.9 billion. Retained earnings increased ¥58.2
billion from a year earlier because of factors including net income.
Total shareholders’ equity, calculated as shareholders’ equity plus
valuation, translation adjustments and others, increased ¥54.7
billion from a year earlier to ¥452.9 billion. Minority interests
decreased ¥4.7 billion from a year earlier to ¥2.9 billion. 

Net assets per share
totaled ¥232.58, an increase
of ¥28.16 from ¥204.42 at the
end of the previous fiscal year

The equity ratio increased
to 25.4% from 24.9% a year
earlier.

Bond Ratings

ANA has obtained ratings on its long-term debt from Japan
Credit Rating Agency, Ltd. (JCR) and Rating and Investment
Information, Inc. (R&I). In September 2007, R&I raised the ANA
Group’s issuer rating to BBB+ from BBB. In October 2007, JCR
raised the ANA Group’s issuer rating and rating on long-term debt
to A- from BBB+.

Bond ratings as of March 31, 2008 are as follows:

JCR R&I
(Revised October 2007) (Revised September 2007)

Issuer rating A- BBB+

Long-term senior debt A-

Commercial paper J-1 a-2

2004 2005 2006 2007

150.0

214.2

346.3

398.2

2008

452.9

9.6
13.3

20.8

24.9 25.4

Total Shareholders’ Equity
Equity Ratio

Total Shareholders’ Equity /
Equity Ratio
(¥ Billions/%)

Yen (Millions)

As of March 31, 2008 2007 2006

Short-term loans:
Short-term bank loans............................................................................ ¥    2,580 ¥    3,500 ¥    8,690 
Current portion of long-term loans ......................................................... 68,022 110,224 95,748
Current portion of bonds and notes........................................................ 50,000 45,000 45,000
Current portion of lease obligation ......................................................... 15,797 – –

.......................................................................................................... 136,399 158,724 149,438

Long-term debt (excluding current portion):
Loans, principally from banks ................................................................. 429,578 425,722 456,879
Notes and bonds ................................................................................... 145,000 165,000 240,000
Lease obligation..................................................................................... 56,899 – –

.......................................................................................................... 631,477 590,722 696,879
Total interest-bearing debt ........................................................................ ¥767,876 ¥749,446 ¥846,317
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Retirement Benefit Obligation

The Company and its domestic consolidated domestic
subsidiaries have defined benefit plans that encompass welfare
pension fund plans, tax-qualified pension plans, defined benefit
corporate pension plans and lump-sum retirement benefit plans.
The Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries have adopted
defined contribution pension plans as well as defined benefit
pension plans. Certain employees are entitled to premium retire-
ment benefits.

Fuel Price and Exchange Rate Hedging

The ANA Group controls the risk of fluctuations in fuel prices,
which significantly affect operating expenses, by continuously
conducting transactions to hedge fuel prices and fuel-related
foreign exchange rates with the goal of stabilizing fuel prices. 

The ANA Group’s policy is to hedge the price of 100% of its
fuel purchases. In each quarter, the Group continues to hedge
approximately 8% of fuel purchases three years in advance.
However, for the fiscal year ending March 2009, the Group is
hedging approximately 12% of fuel purchases in each quarter
two years in advance. As of March 31, 2008, the Group had a
hedge ratio of approximately 80% for the fiscal year ending
March 2009, approximately 50% for the fiscal year ending
March 2010, and approximately 20% for the fiscal year ending
March 2011. 

For fuel-related foreign exchange rates, the ANA Group’s
policy is to hedge 80% of annual U.S. dollar payments. Beginning
five years prior to the applicable fiscal year, the Group hedges
10% of the total estimated amount of U.S. dollar payments for
that year annually, and executes hedges for the remaining
amount in the final year. However, the hedge ratio for the fiscal
year ending March 2009 is capped at 90%. As of March 31,
2008, the Group had a hedge ratio of approximately 80% for the 

fiscal year ending March 2009, approximately 40% for the fiscal 
year ending March 2010, approximately 30% for the fiscal year
ending March 2011, and approximately 20% for the fiscal year
ending March 2012. 

Fuel price sensitivity for the fiscal year ending March 2009
without hedging is as follows:

Sensitivity to oil prices: approximately ¥2.3 billion increase
in fuel cost per US$1/BBL increase in unit price
Sensitivity to foreign exchange rates: approximately ¥1.9 
billion increase in fuel cost per ¥1 depreciation versus US$1 

Allocation of Profits

Basic Policy on Allocation of Profits

ANA recognizes that shareholder returns are an important
management priority, and balances increased shareholder
returns with efforts to enhance internal capital reserves in order
to support capital investment to strengthen future competitive-
ness. ANA will determine future dividends based on comprehen-
sive consideration of the management environment and
performance trends.

Dividends for the Fiscal Year Ended March 2008 and

for the Fiscal Year Ending March 2009

Based on its policy for the allocation of profits and the
improved balance sheet that resulted from the elimination of
hotel operations, the Company paid cash dividends of ¥5.00 per
share for the fiscal year ended March 2008, an increase of ¥2.00
from the previous fiscal year.

The Company plans to pay cash dividends per share of ¥3.00
for the fiscal year ending March 2009, assuming that it achieves
its objectives. 

Yen (Millions)

As of  / Years ended March 31, 2008 2007 2006

Retirement benefit obligation .................................................................... ¥(265,910) ¥(278,278) ¥(269,868)
Plan assets at fair value............................................................................. 97,538 118,190 110,939
Unfunded retirement benefit obligation ..................................................... (168,372) (160,088) (158,929)
Net amount unrecognized ......................................................................... 56,826 48,510 52,566

.......................................................................................................... (111,546) (111,578) (106,363)
Prepaid pension cost................................................................................. 707 1,028 1,014
Accrued employees’ retirement benefits................................................... ¥(112,253) ¥(112,606) ¥(107,377)
Net periodic pension and severance cost .................................................. ¥  (19,580) ¥  (19,634) ¥  (20,591)
Discount rate ............................................................................................ 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%
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The following risks could have a significant effect on the judgment of
investors in the ANA Group. Further, the forward-looking statements in the
following section are the ANA Group’s judgments as of March 31, 2008.

Risks Related to Crude Oil Price Fluctuations

The price of jet fuel comprises such expenses as the cost of importing,
refining, and transporting crude oil and customs tariffs. Among those costs,
the cost of importing crude oil accounts for approximately 80% of the price
of jet fuel. Consequently, if the price of crude oil increases, the price of jet
fuel will increase, leading to a significant burden for the Company.
Accordingly, to control the risk of fluctuations in the price of jet fuel and to
stabilize jet fuel expenses, ANA hedges risks using crude oil and jet fuel
commodity derivatives in planned, continuous hedging transactions for
specific periods of time.

The Company’s hedging transactions are limited to a certain percent-
age of scheduled purchases of fuel in Japan and overseas, with plans for
hedging amounts set quarterly. Individual transactions are maintained
within limits that are set in such a way that the Company’s transactions will
not affect the spot market, and margins are adjusted monthly to avoid any
physical delivery obligations. 

At present, the price of crude oil has been hovering at record-high
levels. The ANA Group’s fuel and fuel tax expenses in the year under
review were ¥266.1 billion (up ¥29.9 billion from the previous fiscal year),
representing 19.0% of operating expenses. Given the limitations of the
Company’s current efforts to offset high crude oil prices through cost
reductions and higher fares and charges, prolonged high crude oil prices
could significantly affect the Company’s performance.

Risks Related to Foreign Exchange Rate Fluctuations

Because jet fuel purchases, which account for a significant share of the
ANA Group’s expenses, are conducted in foreign currencies, the deprecia-
tion of the yen will have a significant effect on the Group’s profits.
Accordingly, to the greatest extent possible, foreign currency taken in as
revenue is used to pay expenses denominated in the same foreign
currency, thereby minimizing the risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuations.
In addition, the Group uses forward exchange agreements and currency
options for its jet fuel purchases to limit the risk of fluctuations in foreign
exchange rates and to stabilize and control payment amounts.

Risks Related to the International Situation

The ANA Group currently operates international routes, primarily to
North America, Europe, China and Asia, and international passenger opera-
tions account for nearly 24% of air transportation revenues. The occurrence
of any future international conflicts, large-scale terrorist attacks, or
outbreaks of contagious diseases could significantly affect the Group’s
performance due to the accompanying decrease in demand for travel on
these international routes. 

Risks Related to Statutory Regulations

As an airline operator, the ANA Group undertakes operations based on
the stipulations of statutory regulations relating to airline operations. The
Group is required to conduct passenger operations and cargo operations on
international routes in accordance with the stipulations of international agree-
ments, including treaties, bilateral agreements, and the decisions of the
IATA (International Air Transport Association). Further, the Group’s opera-
tions are constrained by Japanese Antitrust Law and similar laws and regula-
tions in other countries with regard to the pricing of fares and charges. 

Risks Related to Litigation

The ANA Group may become involved in various types of litigation
related to its business activities, which could affect the Group’s
performance. Specifically, the Company could be sued in the wake of
the following events:

Alleged cartel in the United States
In February 2006, the Company’s New York office was inter-

viewed by U.S. judicial authorities in relation to an alleged cartel over
airfares by major world airlines. At the same time, such authorities
issued a subpoena for the submission of various materials. In addition,
the Company’s Americas office in Los Angeles was searched by the
U.S. Federal Bureau of Investigation in March 2007, most likely in
relation to antitrust laws. The Company is currently cooperating in the
related investigation. A class action suit has been brought in the United
States relating to these incidents, but no specific damages have been
sought, making detailed analysis of the situation difficult.

Notice from the European Commission
Based on their own evidence and that provided by other compa-

nies, in December 2007 the European Commission antitrust authorities
pointed out that the Company might be violating EU Competition Law
with regard to cargo. The Company is carefully examining this claim
through attorneys and making appropriate responses. However, should
the Commission find any transgressions, a heavy fine could be levied.
The Company has set aside ¥16.1 billion, the maximum estimated
amount of the potential loss from this matter, which has been recorded
as “Provision for loss on antitrust proceedings.”

Risks Related to ANA’s Fleet Strategy

In air transportation operations, the ANA Group is pursuing a fleet strat-
egy centered on using medium- and small-sized aircraft, standardizing
aircraft models, and introducing highly economical aircraft. However,
measures related to the Fleet Strategy could prove ineffective due to the
factors given below. Further, the expected benefits of the Fleet Strategy
may diminish significantly.

Dependence on the Boeing Company
In accordance with its Fleet Strategy, the Company has ordered 85

aircraft as of March 31, 2008, most of which have been ordered from
Boeing. Therefore, should Boeing be unable to fulfill its agreements
with the Company due to financial or other issues, the Group would be
unable to acquire aircraft in accordance with its Fleet Strategy. Such
eventualities could significantly affect the ANA Group’s performance.
Currently, the Company has received notice from Boeing that delivery
of Boeing 787 aircraft will be delayed, which could create obstacles to
the Group’s medium-to-long-term operations. 

Delay of aircraft development plan
In accordance with its Fleet Strategy, the Company decided at the

end of March 2008 to introduce the Mitsubishi Regional Jet (MRJ), yet
to be developed by Mitsubishi Heavy Industries, Ltd.  Any delays in
development or delay of delivery, currently planned from 2013, could
create obstacles to the ANA Group’s medium-to-long-term operations.

Increase in the cost of raising funds 
The Company raises funds to acquire aircraft primarily through

bank loans, bond issuance and leasing. However, the cost of raising
funds could increase due to changes in the tax system or changes to
systems at governmental financial agencies that make it difficult or

Operating Risks



impossible to raise funds on terms advantageous to the Company.
Such eventualities could significantly affect the ANA Group’s
performance.

Risks Relating to Public-Sector Fees

Public-sector fees include landing and navigation fees and other airport
usage fees. In the fiscal year ended March 2008, airport usage fees for the
ANA Group totaled ¥106.0 billion, or approximately 8.0% of operating
expenses. While the government is currently implementing measures to
reduce landing fees, such measures in the past were later scaled back, and
similar changes could occur in the future.

Risks Related to Environmental Regulations

In recent years, numerous statutory environmental protection regula-
tions have been introduced or strengthened with regard to such issues as
aircraft emissions of greenhouse gases, use of environmentally polluting
substances and their disposal, and energy use at major offices. The ANA
Group shoulders a considerable cost burden in order to adhere to such
statutory regulations. However, the Group may have to shoulder a large
additional cost burden if current regulations are strengthened or if new
regulations, such as environmental taxes, are introduced.

Risks Related to Competition

The possibility of future increases in costs related to the ANA Group’s
air transportation operations due to such factors as jet fuel expenses, the
cost of raising funds, and responses to environmental regulations cannot be
denied. If such costs increase, in order to secure income, it is necessary for
the Group to reduce indirect fixed costs, reduce costs by enhancing
efficiency through the standardization of aircraft types, and pass on costs
through higher fares and charges. However, because the Group is in
competition with other airlines in Japan and overseas as well as with alter-
native forms of transportation, such as the Shinkansen, on certain routes,
passing on costs could diminish competitiveness and lead to the loss of
customers to competitors. Further, because price competition with
competitors greatly restricts the passing on of costs, an increase in costs
could affect the Group’s performance.

Risks Related to Ineffective Mergers and Strategic Alliances

Through its membership in Star Alliance, the Company enjoys a variety
of benefits, including the sale of tickets to customers of alliance partners
and heightened name recognition outside Japan. However, the benefits of
Star Alliance membership would diminish if a major partner were to leave
the alliance, or if the alliance were ordered to dissolve or reduce the extent
of its activities based on certain countries’ antitrust laws. Such eventualities
could significantly affect the ANA Group’s performance.

Risks Relating to Flight Operations

Aircraft accidents
An aircraft accident involving a flight operated by the ANA Group or

a code-share partner could cause a drop in customer confidence, creat-
ing a medium-to-long-term downturn in demand that could affect the
Group’s performance. A major accident suffered by a competitor could
similarly lead to a reduction in aviation demand that could affect the
Group’s performance. Although an aircraft accident would give rise to
significant expenses including compensation for damages and the
repair or replacement of aircraft, such direct expenses would be largely
met by aviation insurance. 

Technical circular directives
If an issue arises that significantly compromises the safety of an

aircraft, the Minister of Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism by
law issues a technical circular directive. In some cases, operations of
the same type of aircraft are not permitted until the aircraft’s safety
has been confirmed. Further, even when the law does not require the
issuance of a technical circular directive, in some cases, when safety
cannot be confirmed, the operation of the same type of aircraft is
voluntarily suspended in accordance with in-house regulations. The
occurrence of such a situation could significantly affect the ANA
Group’s performance.

Risks Related to Unauthorized Disclosure of Customer Information

The ANA Group holds a huge amount of information relating to
customers, such as that pertaining to the approximately 17.16 million
members (as of March 31, 2008) of the ANA Mileage Club. The Personal
Information Protection Law has increased the stringency required for the
proper management of such personal information. The Group has estab-
lished a privacy policy, apprised customers of the Company’s stance
regarding the handling of personal information, and established full
measures to ensure information security, including in its IT systems. In
addition, work procedures and information systems are continuously
monitored and revised when needed to eliminate any potential security
gaps. Despite these precautions, the occurrence of a major leak of
personal information caused by unauthorized access, an error in conduct-
ing business or some other factor could carry significant cost, in terms of
both compensation and loss of public confidence, which could significantly
affect the Group’s performance.

Risks Related to Disasters

The ANA Group’s data center is located in the Tokyo area, while the
operational control for all of the Group’s domestic and international
flights is conducted at Haneda Airport. Further, more than 60% of the
Group’s passengers on domestic routes use Haneda Airport. As a result,
a major disaster, such as an earthquake, in the Tokyo area or a disaster,
such as a fire, at the above-mentioned facilities could lead to a long-term
shutdown of the Group’s information systems or operational control
functions that could significantly affect the Group’s performance.
Further, the extended closure of an airport due to an earthquake, a
typhoon, or heavy snow would lead to the suspension of flight arrivals
and departures at that airport during the period of closure, which could
affect the ANA Group’s performance.

Risks Related to IT Systems

Air transportation operations are highly dependent on information
systems for such critical functions as reservations and sales, boarding
procedures, operational control, and operational management. The failure
of one of those systems or the failure of telecommunications networks
would make it difficult to maintain operations and would result in a loss of
public confidence, which could affect the Group’s performance.

Risks Related to Asset Impairment

If the profitability of various operations deteriorates, or a decision is
made to sell an asset, the ANA Group may be required to recognize asset
impairment losses in the future.
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U.S. dollars
(Thousands) 

Yen (Millions) (Note 3)

ASSETS 2008 2007 2008

Current assets:
Cash..................................................................................................... ¥     51,410 ¥     41,108 $     513,125
Marketable securities (Note 4) ............................................................ 129,279 131,884 1,290,338
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts

(¥83 million in 2008 and ¥540 million in 2007) ................................. 118,055 120,499 1,178,311
Accounts receivable from and advances to non-consolidated

subsidiaries and affiliates.................................................................. 2,384 2,039 23,795
Inventories........................................................................................... 52,893 60,736 527,927
Deferred income taxes – current (Note 8) ........................................... 33,915 9,408 338,507
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ........................................ 85,563 56,374 854,007

Total current assets ........................................................... 473,499 422,048 4,726,011

Investments and long-term receivables:
Investments in securities (Note 4)....................................................... 55,122 59,442 550,175
Investments in and advances to non-consolidated

subsidiaries and affiliates (Note 5) ................................................... 9,503 9,246 94,850
Lease and guaranty deposits............................................................... 13,096 21,482 130,712
Housing loans to employees ............................................................... 455 738 4,541
Other long-term receivables ................................................................ 40,599 40,239 405,220

Total investments and long-term receivables ................. 118,775 131,147 1,185,498

Property and equipment (Notes 6 and 9):
Flight equipment.................................................................................. 1,220,347 1,170,375 12,180,327
Ground property and equipment ......................................................... 436,670 575,250 4,358,419

1,657,017 1,745,625 16,538,746
Less accumulated depreciation ........................................................... (869,447) (872,709) (8,677,982)

787,570 872,916 7,860,765
Leased assets...................................................................................... 69,727 – 695,948
Advance payments on aircraft purchase contracts.............................. 223,499 90,952 2,230,752
Construction in progress ..................................................................... 18,254 5,942 182,194

Net property and equipment ............................................ 1,099,050 969,810 10,969,658
Deferred income taxes – non-current (Note 8)..................................... 44,848 35,556 447,630
Other assets ........................................................................................... 47,221 43,530 471,313

Total assets......................................................................... ¥1,783,393 ¥1,602,091 $17,800,110

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
All Nippon Airways Co., Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries
As of March 31, 2008 and 2007
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U.S. dollars
(Thousands)

Yen (Millions) (Note 3)

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 2008 2007 2008

Current liabilities:
Short-term loans, including current portion of long-term debt, 

and finance lease obligation (Note 6).................................................. ¥   136,399 ¥   158,724 $  1,361,403
Accounts and notes payable – trade.................................................... 182,013 197,869 1,816,678
Accounts payable to non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates ....... 798 1,475 7,965
Advance ticket sales............................................................................ 53,507 51,043 534,055
Accrued expenses ............................................................................... 45,492 39,271 454,057
Accrued income taxes ......................................................................... 81,324 3,369 811,698
Other current liabilities ........................................................................ 47,417 21,283 473,271

Total current liabilities....................................................... 546,950 473,034 5,459,128

Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt, less current portion, 

and finance lease obligation (Note 6)................................................ 631,477 590,722 6,302,795
Accrued employees’ retirement benefits (Note 7) .............................. 112,253 112,606 1,120,401
Deferred income taxes – non-current (Note 8) .................................... 75 1,488 749
Other long-term liabilities .................................................................... 36,692 18,329 366,224

Total long-term liabilities .................................................. 780,497 723,145 7,790,169

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 11)

Net assets (Notes 8 and 10):
Shareholders’ equity ......................................................................... 422,657 364,545 4,218,555

Common stock:
Authorized – 3,900,000,000 shares
Issued – 1,949,959,257 shares at March 31, 2008 and 2007...... 160,001 160,001 1,596,976

Capital surplus ................................................................................. 125,750 125,739 1,255,115
Retained earnings............................................................................ 137,829 79,530 1,375,676
Less treasury common stock, at cost (2,343,856 shares 

at March 31, 2008 and 1,935,975 shares at March 31, 2007)...... (923) (725) (9,212)
Valuation, translation adjustments and others ............................... 30,315 33,678 302,575

Net unrealized holding gain on securities ........................................ 7,858 10,885 78,431
Deferred gain on hedging instruments............................................ 22,269 23,155 222,268
Foreign currency translation adjustments ....................................... 188 (362) 1,876

Minority interests............................................................................... 2,974 7,689 29,684
Total net assets .................................................................. 455,946 405,912 4,550,814
Total liabilities and net assets........................................... ¥1,783,393 ¥1,602,091 $17,800,110
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Consolidated Statements of Income
All Nippon Airways Co., Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries
Years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

U.S. dollars
(Thousands)

Yen (Millions) (Note 3)

2008 2007 2006 2008

Operating revenues:
Passenger ............................................................................ ¥1,051,091 ¥1,004,541 ¥   914,306 $10,490,977
Cargo ................................................................................... 102,758 92,769 85,039 1,025,631
Incidental and other ............................................................. 333,978 392,348 369,447 3,333,447

......................................................................................... 1,487,827 1,489,658 1,368,792 14,850,055
Operating expenses:

Aircraft and flight operations................................................ 394,422 385,554 326,622 3,936,740
Aircraft maintenance............................................................ 81,399 81,225 86,060 812,447
In-flight services................................................................... 70,601 66,175 65,495 704,671
Flight control and ground handling....................................... 282,125 269,594 258,018 2,815,900
Reservations, sales and advertising..................................... 232,696 230,327 214,588 2,322,547
General and administrative .................................................. 42,743 39,831 35,516 426,619
Depreciation and amortization ............................................. 116,787 88,610 76,201 1,165,655
Other costs .......................................................................... 182,665 236,152 217,490 1,823,186

......................................................................................... 1,403,438 1,397,468 1,279,990 14,007,765
Operating income .................................................................. 84,389 92,190 88,802 842,290
Non-operating income (expenses):

Interest and dividend income .............................................. 4,610 5,353 4,681 46,012
Gain on sale of property and equipment.............................. 5,184 1,073 2,638 51,742
Interest expenses ................................................................ (15,049) (17,708) (20,172) (150,205)
Loss on sale or disposal of property and equipment ........... (8,974) (8,402) (10,577) (89,570)
Impairment loss (Note 15) ................................................... (14,111) (10,809) (20,451) (140,842)
Valuation loss on investments in securities......................... (3,825) (215) (751) (38,177)
Valuation loss on other investments.................................... (9) (11) – (90)
Equity in income (loss) of affiliates ...................................... 385 284 (1,335) 3,843
Gain on sale of investments in securities ............................ 876 1,239 18,632 8,743
Amortization of net transitional retirement benefit obligation.... (6,634) (6,713) (6,712) (66,214)
Special retirement benefit expenses ................................... (1,217) (600) (4,373) (12,147)
Refurbishment expense for return of lease aircraft............. (4,086) (6,533) – (40,782)
Gain on sale of hotel business assets ................................. 132,992 – – 1,327,398
Loss on disposal of parts for retired aircraft property

and equipment.................................................................. (11,198) – – (111,768)
Provision for loss on antitrust proceedings (Note 2 (j))........ (16,198) – – (161,673)
Other, net ............................................................................ (31,911) 1,916 2,051 (318,505)

......................................................................................... 30,835 (41,126) (36,369) 307,765
Income before income taxes and minority interests .......... 115,224 51,064 52,433 1,150,055
Income taxes (Note 8):

Current................................................................................. 84,886 12,818 20,935 847,250
Deferred............................................................................... (34,692) 4,552 5,955 (346,262)

......................................................................................... 50,194 17,370 26,890 500,988
Income before minority interests ......................................... 65,030 33,694 25,543 649,067
Minority interests................................................................... 887 1,036 (1,179) 8,853
Net income ............................................................................. ¥     64,143 ¥     32,658 ¥     26,722 $     640,214

U.S. dollars
Yen (Note 3)

Net income per share (Note 2 (p)) ........................................... ¥       32.93 ¥       16.77 ¥       15.64 $         0.329
Net income per share assuming full dilution (Note 2 (p)).......... — – 15.64 —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



Yen (Millions)

Shareholders’ equity Valuation, translation adjustments and others

Net Total
unrealized Deferred Foreign valuation, Minority

Common Capital Retained Less treasury Total holding gain on currency translation interests in
stock surplus earnings common shareholders’ gain on hedging translation adjustments consolidated Total

(Note 10) (Note 10) (Note 10) stock, at cost equity securities instruments adjustments and others subsidiaries net assets

Balance at March 31, 2005 ........... ¥107,292 ¥  73,676 ¥  31,225 ¥   (857) ¥211,336 ¥  4,620 ¥(1,672) ¥  2,948 ¥10,217 ¥224,501
Issuance of new stock by execution

of stock acquisition rights ........ 4,208 4,208 8,416 8,416
Issuance of new stock by public

offering and allocation to
third party................................. 48,500 48,130 96,630 96,630

Cash dividends paid ................... (5,010) (5,010) (5,010)
Net income ................................ 26,722 26,722 26,722
Purchase of treasury stock ........ (260) (260) (260)
Disposition of treasury stock ..... (410) 89 (321) (321)
Changes in scope of

consolidation and application
of the equity method ............... (240) (240) (240)

Net changes of items other
than shareholders’ equity
during the period...................... 4,790 1,296 6,086 (3,085) 3,001

Total changes during the period ..... 52,709 51,929 21,472 (171) 125,939 4,790 1,296 6,086 (3,085) 128,940

Balance at March 31, 2006 ........... 160,001 125,605 52,697 (1,028) 337,275 9,410 (376) 9,034 7,132 353,441
Cash dividends paid ................... (5,839) (5,839) (5,839)
Net income ................................ 32,658 32,658 32,658
Decrease resulting from 

purchase of treasury stock....... (311) (311) (311)
Disposition of treasury stock ..... 134 614 748 748
Changes in scope of

consolidation and application
of the equity method ............... 14 14 14

Net changes of items other
than shareholders’ equity
during the period...................... 1,475 ¥23,155 14 24,644 557 25,201

Total changes during the period ..... – 134 26,833 303 27,270 1,475 23,155 14 24,644 557 52,471

Balance at March 31, 2007 ........... 160,001 125,739 79,530 (725) 364,545 10,885 23,155 (362) 33,678 7,689 405,912
Cash dividends paid ................... (5,844) (5,844) (5,844)
Net income ................................ 64,143 64,143 64,143
Decrease resulting from 

purchase of treasury stock....... (307) (307) (307)
Disposition of treasury stock ..... 11 109 120 120
Net changes of items other

than shareholders’ equity
during the period...................... (3,027) (886) 550 (3,363) (4,715) (8,078)

Total changes during the period ..... – 11 58,299 (198) 58,112 (3,027) (886) 550 (3,363) (4,715) 50,034
Balance at March 31, 2008 ........... ¥160,001 ¥125,750 ¥137,829 ¥   (923) ¥422,657 ¥  7,858 ¥22,269 ¥    188 ¥30,315 ¥  2,974 ¥455,946

U.S. dollars (Thousands) (Note 3)

Shareholders’ equity Valuation, translation adjustments and others

Net Total
unrealized Deferred Foreign valuation, Minority

Common Capital Retained Less treasury Total holding gain on currency translation interests in
stock surplus earnings common shareholders’ gain on hedging translation adjustments consolidated Total

(Note 10) (Note 10) (Note 10) stock, at cost equity securities instruments adjustments and others subsidiaries net assets

Balance at March 31, 2007 ........... $1,596,976 $1,255,005 $ 793,792 $(7,236) $3,638,537 $108,644 $231,111 $(3,613) $336,141 $76,744 $4,051,422
Cash dividends paid ................... (58,329) (58,329) (58,329)
Net income ................................ 640,214 640,214 640,214
Decrease resulting from 

purchase of treasury stock....... (3,064) (3,064) (3,064)
Disposition of treasury stock ..... 110 1,088 1,198 1,198
Net changes of items other

than shareholders’ equity
during the period...................... (30,213) (8,843) 5,490 (33,566) (47,061) (80,627)

Total changes during the period ..... – 110 581,884 (1,976) 580,018 (30,213) (8,843) 5,490 (33,566) (47,061) 499,391
Balance at March 31, 2008 ........... $1,596,976 $1,255,115 $1,375,676 $(9,212) $4,218,555 $  78,431 $222,268 $ 1,876 $302,575 $29,684 $4,550,814

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
All Nippon Airways Co., Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries
Years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
All Nippon Airways Co., Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries
Years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

U.S. dollars
(Thousands)

Yen (Millions) (Note 3)

2008 2007 2006 2008
Cash flows from operating activities:

Income before income taxes and minority interests ................ ¥ 115,224 ¥   51,064 ¥   52,433 $ 1,150,055
Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes and
minority interests to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization (including extraordinary depreciation).. 139,118 88,610 76,201 1,388,542
Impairment loss .................................................................... 14,111 10,809 20,451 140,842
Loss on adoption of new accounting standards for leases... 3,823 – – 38,158
Loss on disposal and sale of property and equipment ......... 15,128 7,533 7,939 150,993
Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts....... 24 273 (4,403) 240
Increase (decrease) in accrued employees’
retirement benefits ............................................................. 1,848 5,241 (408) 18,445

Interest expenses ................................................................. 15,049 17,708 20,172 150,205
Interest and dividend income ............................................... (4,610) (5,353) (4,681) (46,013)
Exchange loss (gain) ............................................................. 810 (348) (91) 8,085
Gain on sale of hotel business assets .................................. (132,992) – – (1,327,398)
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable.......................... 997 (10,620) 520 9,951
(Increase) decrease in other current assets.......................... (10,976) (1,165) 3,007 (109,552)
(Decrease) increase in accounts and notes payable — trade .... (11,909) 28,389 28,417 (118,864)
Other, net ............................................................................. 37,827 (233) (3,673) 377,552

Cash generated from operations .............................................. 183,472 191,908 195,884 1,831,241
Interest and dividends received ................................................ 4,797 5,390 4,726 47,879
Interest paid .............................................................................. (15,446) (17,787) (20,511) (154,167)
Income taxes paid..................................................................... (5,841) (20,197) (47,201) (58,299)
Other, net.................................................................................. (1,217) (600) (4,373) (12,148)

Net cash provided by operating activities ................ 165,765 158,714 128,525 1,654,506
Cash flows from investing activities:

Payment for purchase of property and equipment ................... (337,212) (236,750) (218,278) (3,365,725)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment ....................... 45,206 104,900 125,392 451,203
Payment for purchase of intangible assets............................... (20,521) (15,176) (17,302) (204,821)
Payment for purchase of marketable securities ....................... (13,018) (5,995) – (129,933)
Proceeds from redemption of marketable securities................ 13,018 21,410 – 129,933
Proceeds from sale of investments in securities...................... 1,551 1,015 11,282 15,481
Payment for advances .............................................................. (493) (2,416) (1,528) (4,921)
Proceeds from collection of advances ...................................... 2,124 5,606 49,574 21,200
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary’s stock with changes in
scope of consolidation ............................................................ – 1,375 12,219 –

Proceeds from sale of hotel business assets ........................... 245,909 – – 2,454,427
Other, net.................................................................................. (6,391) (2,267) (7,808) (63,790)

Net cash used in investing activities......................... (69,827) (128,298) (46,449) (696,946)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Decrease in short-term loans, net............................................. (920) (5,190) (7,355) (9,183)
Proceeds from long-term debt.................................................. 103,992 97,158 84,278 1,037,948
Repayment of long-term debt................................................... (142,484) (113,809) (163,141) (1,422,138)
Proceeds from issuance of bonds ............................................ 29,847 – 34,813 297,904
Repayment of bonds................................................................. (45,000) (75,000) (40,000) (449,147)
Repayment of finance lease obligation ..................................... (22,867) – – (228,236)
Payment for dividends .............................................................. (5,844) (5,839) (5,010) (58,329)
Proceeds from issuance of new stock by public offering and
allocation to third party............................................................ – – 95,865 –

Other, net.................................................................................. (4,060) 1,783 (2,587) (40,523)
Net cash used in by financing activities....................... (87,336) (100,897) (3,137) (871,704)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents... (912) (59) 517 (9,103)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents............. 7,690 (70,540) 79,456 76,754
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year...................... 172,274 242,785 163,155 1,719,473
Net increase (decrease) resulting from 
changes in scope of consolidation ......................................... – 29 174 –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 14)................. ¥ 179,964 ¥ 172,274 ¥ 242,785 $ 1,796,227

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
All Nippon Airways Co., Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries

57Annual Report 2008

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of All
Nippon Airways Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its consolidated
subsidiaries are prepared on the basis of accounting principles
generally accepted in Japan, which are different in certain
respects as to application and disclosure requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards, and are compiled
from the consolidated financial statements prepared by the
Company as required by the Financial Instruments and

Exchange Law of Japan. In preparing the accompanying
financial statements, certain reclassifications have been made
to the financial statements issued domestically in order to
present them in a form which is more familiar to readers outside
Japan. In addition, the notes to the consolidated financial
statements include information which is not required under
accounting principles and practices generally accepted in Japan
but is presented herein as additional information.

(a) Principles of consolidation and accounting for investments 
in non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
the Company and all of its significant subsidiaries (81 subsidiaries
for 2008, 95 subsidiaries for 2007 and 98 subsidiaries for 2006). All
significant inter-company accounts and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Investments in certain subsidiaries and significant affiliates (23
companies for 2008, 25 companies for 2007 and 23 companies for
2006) are accounted for by the equity method of accounting. The
difference between the cost and the underlying net equity in the
net assets at dates of acquisition of consolidated subsidiaries and
companies accounted for by the equity method of accounting is
amortized using the straight-line method over a period of five years.

Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates not
accounted for by the equity method of accounting (48 companies
for 2008, 52 companies for 2007 and 49 companies for 2006) are
stated at cost. The equity in undistributed earnings of these
companies was not significant.

During 2008 and 2006, subsidiaries which were not
consolidated in prior years were included in consolidation. The
effect of changes in the scope of consolidation has been credited
or charged to retained earnings (deficit) and the consolidated
financial statements for prior years have not been restated.

Certain foreign subsidiaries have fiscal years ending on
December 31 and necessary adjustments for significant
transactions, if any, are made on consolidation.

(b) Foreign currency translation
The balance sheet accounts of foreign consolidated subsidiaries

are translated into yen at the rates of exchange in effect at the
balance sheet date, except for components of shareholders’ equity
which are translated at historic exchange rates. Revenues and
expenses are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing when
such transactions are made. Resulting translation differences are
recorded in minority interests and in foreign currency translation
adjustments under the net assets section of the consolidated
balance sheets.

Foreign currency payables and receivables are principally
translated at the rate of exchange in effect at the balance sheet

date, except payables and receivables hedged by qualified forward
exchange contracts.

(c) Marketable securities and investment securities
The accounting standard for financial instruments requires that

securities be classified into three categories: trading, held-to-
maturity or other securities. Under the standard, trading securities
are carried at fair value and held-to-maturity securities are carried at
amortized cost. Marketable securities classified as other securities
are carried at fair value with changes in unrealized holding gains or
losses, net of the applicable income taxes, included directly in net
assets. Non-marketable securities classified as other securities are
carried at cost. Cost of securities sold is determined by the moving
average method. See Note 4.

(d) Allowance for doubtful receivables
A general provision is made for doubtful receivables based on

past experience. Provisions are also made against specific
receivables as and when required.

(e) Inventories
Inventories include aircraft spare parts, supplies and stock in

trade of consolidated subsidiaries.
These are stated at cost principally based on the moving average

method. Net book value of inventories in the consolidated balance
sheet is written down when their net realizable values decline.

(Change in accounting policy)
Effective April 1, 2007, the Company and its domestic subsidiaries
and affiliates have adopted “Accounting Standards for
Measurement of Inventories” (Financial Accounting Standard No. 9
issued by the Accounting Standards Board of Japan on July 5,
2006) since it was allowed to apply this standard from fiscal year
beginning on or after April 1, 2007. 

(f) Property and equipment and depreciation
(excluding leased assets)

Property and equipment excluding leased assets are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of property and
equipment is computed based on estimated useful lives by the
following methods:

1 Basis of presenting consolidated financial statements

2 Summary of significant accounting policies



Aircraft.................................... Principally straight-line method
Buildings ................................ Straight-line method
Other ground property
and equipment..................... Declining balance method

The Company and certain subsidiaries employ principally the
following useful lives, based upon the Company’s estimated
durability of such aircraft:

International type equipment ....... 20 years
Domestic type equipment ........... 17 years

(Supplementary information)
To expand useful lives of its aircraft, the Company traditionally
made capital expenditure for maintenance of aircraft after they
were in service. In response to changes in business environment
including a sharp rise of fuel prices on a global basis, however, the
Company intends to accelerate fleet renewal with more fuel-
efficient aircraft. Now that the timing of runway extensions at
airports in the Tokyo area has become clearer, the Company has
formulated its new mid-term corporate strategy based on detailed
aircraft renewal plan. Given this new strategy, the Company re-
evaluated its method of depreciation for existing aircraft and
reviewed useful lives and residual values of ancillary assets
attached to these aircraft that used to be treated as capital
expenditure. In prior years, the Company depreciated ancillary
assets using useful lives of aircraft to which such assets are
attached. Effective April 1, 2007, the Company has depreciated
ancillary assets based on remaining useful lives of aircraft to which
such assets are attached, because it has become clearer that the
value of ancillary assets are rarely reflected in sales price of aircraft
in the second-hand market.

Consequently, depreciation and amortization expenses
increased by ¥23,782 million ($237,369 thousand), operating
income decreased by ¥1,451 million ($14,482 thousand) and
income before income taxes and minority interests decreased by
¥23,782 million ($237,369 thousand), compared with the
respective amounts that would have been reported under the
previous accounting method.

(Change in accounting policy)
Effective April 1, 2007, the Company and its domestic subsidiaries
and affiliates have changed their method of depreciation based on
an amendment to the Corporation Tax Law of Japan for tangible
fixed assets acquired on or after April 1, 2007.

(Supplementary information)
Effective April 1, 2007, the Company and its domestic subsidiaries
and affiliates have changed their method of depreciation based on
an amendment to the Corporation Tax Law of Japan for tangible
fixed assets acquired on or prior to March 31, 2007. When such
tangible fixed assets have been depreciated to the equivalent of
5% of their acquisition cost, the difference between the equivalent
of 5% of acquisition cost and an appropriate nominal value is
amortized over a period of five years.

Major additions and improvements are capitalized at cost.
Maintenance and repairs, including minor renewals and
improvements, are charged to income as incurred.

(g) Intangible assets and amortization
(excluding leased assets)

Intangible assets included in other assets are amortized by the
straight-line method. Cost of software purchased for internal use is
amortized by the straight-line method over five years, the
estimated useful life of purchased software.

(h) Stock issuance costs
New stock issuance costs are principally capitalized and

amortized over a period of three years.

(i) Bond issuance costs
Bond issuance costs are principally capitalized and amortized

over a period of redemption of bonds by the straight-line method.
Bond issuance costs for the bonds issued up to the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2006 are capitalized and amortized over a period
of three years. 

(Change in accounting policy)
Effective April 1, 2007, the Company has changed its method of
amortization for bond issuance costs due to adoption of the
“Tentative Guidelines for Accounting Treatment of Deferred
Assets” (Practical Issues Task Force No. 19 issued by the
Accounting Standards Board of Japan on August 11, 2006).

(j) Provision for loss on antitrust proceedings
On December 21, 2007, the European Commission antitrust

authorities issued “Statement of Objections” to the Company with
respect to its alleged breach of the European Union Competition
Law in its air freight transport services. The Company has made
provision at an estimated amount of contingent losses that could
arise from the proceedings. However, the estimated amount may
change as the proceedings progress.

(k) Retirement benefits
The retirement benefit plan of the Company and certain

subsidiaries covers substantially all employees other than directors,
officers and corporate auditors. Under the terms of this plan,
eligible employees are entitled, upon mandatory retirement or
earlier voluntary severance, to lump-sum payments or annuity
payments based on their compensation at the time of leaving and
years of service with the Company and subsidiaries.

The Company and certain significant domestic subsidiaries have
trustee employee pension funds to provide coverage for part of the
lump-sum benefits or annuity payments.

Several subsidiaries have tax-qualified pension plans which
cover all or part of the lump-sum benefits.

The Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries adopt
defined contribution pension plans as well as defined benefit
pension plans.

Accrued retirement benefits for employees at the balance sheet
date are provided mainly at an amount calculated based on the
retirement benefit obligation and the fair market value of the
pension plan assets as of the balance sheet date, as adjusted for
unrecognized net retirement benefit obligation at transition,
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unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and unrecognized prior
service cost. The retirement benefit obligation is attributed to each
period by the straight-line method over the estimated service years
of eligible employees. The net retirement benefit obligation at
transition is being amortized principally over a period of 15 years by
the straight-line method. Actuarial gains and losses are amortized in
the year following the year in which the gain or loss is recognized
primarily by the straight-line method over periods (principally 8
years through 18 years) which are shorter than the average
remaining service years of employees. Prior service cost is being
amortized as incurred by the straight-line method over periods
(principally 8 years through 18 years) which are shorter than the
average remaining service years of employees. See Note 7.

The assumptions used in accounting for the above plans as of
March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

(l) Deferred tax accounting
Deferred income taxes are accounted for under the asset and

liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their tax bases and operating losses and tax credits
carried forward. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which the temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities
of a change in tax rates is charged to operations in the period that
includes the enactment date. See Note 8.

(m)Leased assets and amortization
Leased assets arising from transactions under finance lease

contract which do not transfer ownership to lessee are amortized
to residual value of zero by the straight-line method using the term
of contract as useful life.

(Change in accounting policy)
The Company and its domestic subsidiaries and affiliates have
adopted “Accounting Standards for Lease Transactions” (Financial
Accounting Standard No. 13 originally issued by the First
Committee of the Business Accounting Council on June 17, 1993
and revised by the Accounting Standards Board of Japan on March
30, 2007) and “Implementation Guidelines for Accounting
Standards for Lease Transactions” (Financial Accounting Standard
Implementation Guidelines No. 16 originally issued by the
Accounting System Committee of the  Japanese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants on January 18, 1994 and revised by
the Accounting Standards Board of Japan on March 30, 2007)
since it was allowed to apply these standards and guidelines from
fiscal year beginning on or after April 1, 2007.

As a result, tangible fixed assets increased by ¥69,727 million
($695,948 thousand), intangible assets increased by ¥315 million
($3,144 thousand), current liabilities increased by ¥15,797 million
($157,670 thousand) and long-term liabilities increased by ¥56,899
million ($567,911 thousand) in the consolidated balance sheets as
compared with the corresponding amounts that would have been
reported under the previous methods. In the consolidated
statements of income, operating income increased by ¥2,440
million ($24,354 thousand) and income before income taxes and
minority interests decreased by ¥3,022 million ($30,163 thousand)
as compared with the corresponding amounts that would have
been reported under the previous methods.

(n) Derivatives
The Company and its subsidiaries use derivatives, such as

forward foreign exchange contracts, interest rate swaps and
commodity options and swaps, to limit their exposure to
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
commodity prices. The Company and its subsidiaries do not use
derivatives for trading purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value with
changes in unrealized gains or losses charged or credited to
operations, except for those which meet the criteria for deferral
hedge accounting under which an unrealized gain or loss is
deferred as an asset or a liability. Receivables and payables
hedged by qualified forward exchange contracts are translated
at the corresponding foreign exchange contract rates. Interest
rate swaps that qualify for hedge accounting are not measured
at fair value, but the differential paid or received under the
swap agreements is recognized and included in interest
expenses or income.

(o) Appropriation of retained earnings
Under the Corporation Law of Japan (the “Law”), the

appropriation of unappropriated retained earnings of the
Company with respect to a financial period is made by
resolution of the Company’s shareholders at a general meeting
to be held subsequent to the close of the financial period and
the accounts for that period do not therefore reflect such
appropriation. See Note 10.

(p) Net income per share
The computation of net income per share of common stock is

based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding
during each year.

As a result of revision of “Implementation Guidelines for
Accounting Standards for Net Income per Share” (Financial
Accounting Standard Implementation Guidelines No. 4 issued by
the Accounting Standards Board of Japan on January 31, 2006),
the amount of deferred gain on hedging instruments, net of tax,
was included in the net assets as of March 31, 2007 attributable to
common stock.

The net assets per share as of March 31, 2007 would have
been ¥192.54 ($1.63) if the same calculation method in the
previous year had been applied. 
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2008 2007 2006

Discount rate............. 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%
Expected return on
plan assets .............. 0.85%~5.5% 0.85%~5.5% 0.85%~5.5%



Market value information at March 31, 2008 and 2007 is summarized as follows:

Held-to-maturity securities having market value are as follows:

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2007 2008

Gross unrealized gain:
Cost ..................................................................................................... ¥9,994 ¥  3 $99,750
Market value........................................................................................ 9,994 3 99,750

..................................................................................................... 0 0 0
Gross unrealized loss:

Cost ..................................................................................................... – 5 –
Market value........................................................................................ – 5 –

..................................................................................................... – (0) –
Net unrealized gain .................................................................................. ¥       0 ¥  0 $         0

Other securities having market value are as follows:

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2007 2008

Gross unrealized gain:
Cost ..................................................................................................... ¥14,246 ¥14,857 $142,190
Market value........................................................................................ 31,912 33,826 318,515

..................................................................................................... 17,666 18,969 176,325
Gross unrealized loss:

Cost ..................................................................................................... 6,982 3,392 69,688
Market value........................................................................................ 4,774 3,227 47,649

..................................................................................................... (2,208) (165) (22,038)
Net unrealized gain .................................................................................. ¥15,458 ¥18,804 $154,287
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The consolidated financial statements presented herein are
expressed in yen and, solely for the convenience of the reader,
have been translated into United States dollars at the rate of
¥100.19=US$1, the approximate exchange rate prevailing on the

Tokyo Foreign Exchange Market on March 31, 2008. This
translation should not be construed as a representation that the
amounts shown could be converted into United States dollars at
such rate.

3 Financial statements translation

4 Marketable securities and investments in securities

(q) Revenue recognition
Passenger revenues, cargo and other operating revenues are

recorded when services are rendered.

(r) Cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and

short-term, highly liquid investments with a maturity of three
months or less are treated as cash equivalents. See Note 14.

(Change in classification of domestic NCDs)
Domestic negotiable certificate of deposits included in “Cash”

as of March 31, 2007 were reclassified into “Marketable
securities” due to a series of revision for accounting standards
resulting from enforcement of the Financial Instruments and
Exchange Law of Japan.

(s) Reclassification
Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2007 and 2006

financial information in the accompanying financial statements to
conform with the 2008 presentation.



Other securities sold in the years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2007 2006 2008

Proceeds ................................................................. ¥234 ¥464 ¥228 $2,336
Gain on sale............................................................. 44 323 8 439
Loss on sale ............................................................ 3 1 – 30

Breakdown of securities not having market value at March 31, 2008 and 2007 is as follows:

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2007 2008

Held-to-maturity bonds ............................................................................ ¥ – ¥         – $ –
Other securities ....................................................................................... 137,721 22,415 1,374,598

..................................................................................................... ¥137,721 ¥22,415 $1,374,598

The redemption schedule of other securities and held-to-maturity debt securities as of March 31, 2008 and 2007 is summarized as follows:

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2007 2008

Bonds:
Within 1 year ....................................................................................... ¥    9,996 ¥           5 $     99,771
Over 1 year to 5 years ......................................................................... 13 3 130

Others:
Within 1 year ...................................................................................... 119,288 131,879 1,190,618

Total:
Within 1 year ....................................................................................... ¥129,284 ¥131,884 $1,290,388
Over 1 year to 5 years ......................................................................... 13 3 130

61Annual Report 2008

5 Investments in and advances to non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates

Investments in and advances to non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates at March 31, 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2007 2008

Investments in capital stock .................................................................... ¥9,457 ¥8,916 $94,391
Advances ................................................................................................. 46 330 459

..................................................................................................... ¥9,503 ¥9,246 $94,850

6 Short-term loans and long-term debt

Short-term loans at March 31, 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2007 2008

Short-term bank loans ............................................................................. ¥ 2,580 ¥    3,500 $ 25,751
Current portion of long-term loans .......................................................... 68,022 110,224 678,930
Current portion of bonds and notes......................................................... 50,000 45,000 499,052
Current portion of finance lease obligations ............................................ 15,797 – 157,670

..................................................................................................... ¥136,399 ¥158,724 $1,361,403

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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The interest rates on the above short-term loans were between 0.20% and 1.88% per annum in 2008 and between 0.08% and 1.66% per
annum in 2007.

Long-term debt at March 31, 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2008 2007 2008

Bonds and notes:
3.075% notes due 2007 ...................................................................... ¥           – ¥  35,000 $ –
2.75% notes due 2009 ........................................................................ 20,000 20,000 199,621
3.2% notes due 2017 .......................................................................... 20,000 20,000 199,621
3% notes due 2007 ............................................................................. – 10,000 –
3% notes due 2011 ............................................................................. 10,000 10,000 99,810
3% notes due 2010 ............................................................................. 10,000 10,000 99,810
1.33% notes due 2008 ........................................................................ 20,000 20,000 199,621
1.27% notes due 2009 ........................................................................ 10,000 10,000 99,810
1.7% notes due 2011 ......................................................................... 10,000 10,000 99,810
2.27% notes due 2014 ........................................................................ 10,000 10,000 99,810
1.44% notes due 2011 ........................................................................ 10,000 10,000 99,810
2.09% notes due 2014 ........................................................................ 10,000 10,000 99,810
1.97% notes due 2015 ........................................................................ 15,000 15,000 149,716
0.86% notes due 2008 ........................................................................ 20,000 20,000 199,621
1.24% notes due 2011 ........................................................................ 30,000 – 299,431

..................................................................................................... 195,000 210,000 1,946,302

Loans, principally from banks:
Secured, bearing interest from 0.85% to 2.75% in 2008 and

0.85% to 6.80% in 2007, maturing in installments through 2022..... 351,711 369,259 3,510,440
Unsecured, bearing interest from 0.95% to 5.59% in 2008 and
0.93% to 6.90% in 2007, maturing in installments through 2017..... 145,889 166,687 1,456,124

..................................................................................................... 497,600 535,946 4,966,564

Finance lease obligations
Finance lease agreements expiring through 2016 .............................. 72,696 – 725,581

..................................................................................................... 765,296 745,946 7,638,447
Less current portion ............................................................................... 133,819 155,224 1,335,652

..................................................................................................... ¥631,477 ¥590,722 $6,302,795

As is customary in Japan, short-term and long-term bank loans
are made under general agreements which provide that security
and guarantees for future and present indebtedness will be
given upon request of the bank, and that the bank shall have the
right, as the obligation becomes due, or in the event of default

and certain other specified events, to offset cash deposits against
such obligations due to the bank.

Certain bonds and notes and foreign currency loans are
guaranteed by domestic and foreign banks.

The following assets were pledged as collateral for short-term and long-term debt at March 31, 2008:

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

Property and equipment, at net book value:
Flight equipment............................................................................................................ ¥559,739 $5,586,775
Ground property and equipment ................................................................................... 41,932 418,525

............................................................................................................................... ¥601,671 $6,005,300
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The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt after March 31, 2008 are as follows:

U.S. dollars
Year ending March 31, Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2009 ................................................................................................................................. ¥133,819 $1,335,652
2010 ................................................................................................................................. 108,075 1,078,700
2011 ................................................................................................................................. 116,234 1,160,136
2012 and thereafter ........................................................................................................... 407,168 4,063,959

........................................................................................................................... ¥765,296 $7,638,447

The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries have
defined benefit plans, i.e., welfare pension fund plans, tax
qualified pension plans and lump-sum payment plans, covering
substantially all employees who are entitled to lump-sum or
annuity payments, the amounts of which are determined by
reference to their basic rates of pay, length of service and the

conditions under which termination occurs.
A domestic consolidated subsidiary applied for an exemption

from the payment of the benefits related to future employee
services and received approval from the Minister of Health,
Labour and Welfare on February 1, 2008.

7 Retirement benefit plans

The following table sets out the funded and accrued status of the plans and the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets
as of March 31, 2008 and 2007 for the Company and consolidated subsidiaries’ defined benefit plans:

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2008 2007 2008

Retirement benefit obligation ................................................................. ¥(265,910) ¥(278,278) $(2,654,057)
Plan assets at fair value ........................................................................... 97,538 118,190 973,530
Unfunded retirement benefit obligation .................................................. (168,372) (160,088) (1,680,527)
Unrecognized net transitional retirement benefit obligation.................... 45,721 53,698 456,343
Unrecognized actuarial loss .................................................................... 36,273 23,826 362,042
Unrecognized prior service cost .............................................................. (25,168) (29,014) (251,203)

..................................................................................................... ¥(111,546) ¥(111,578) $(1,113,345)
Prepaid pension cost ............................................................................... 707 1,028 7,056
Accrued employees’ retirement benefits ................................................ ¥(112,253) ¥(112,606) $(1,120,401)

The government sponsored portion of the benefits under the welfare pension fund plans has been included in the amounts shown in the
above table.

The components of retirement benefit expenses for the years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2007 2006 2008

Service cost ................................................................ ¥10,873 ¥10,953 ¥12,225 $108,524
Interest cost ................................................................ 6,513 6,426 6,250 65,006
Expected return on plan assets................................... (4,563) (4,369) (4,952) (45,543)
Amortization of net transitional retirement 

benefit obligation ..................................................... 6,634 6,713 6,712 66,214
Amortization of actuarial loss ..................................... 3,968 3,650 4,071 39,605
Amortization of prior service cost................................ (3,845) (3,739) (3,715) (38,377)
Net periodic pension and severance cost ................... ¥19,580 ¥19,634 ¥20,591 $195,429

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Besides the above net periodic pension and severance cost,
the costs for other retirement and pension plans such as a
defined contribution plan and for supplemental retirement
benefit were ¥660 million ($6,587 thousand) and ¥1,217 million
($12,147 thousand), respectively, for the year ended March 31,

2008, and ¥608 million and ¥600 million, respectively, for the
year ended March 31, 2007, and for supplemental retirement
benefit were ¥568 million and ¥4,373 million for the year ended
March 31, 2006. 

The Company is subject to a number of taxes on income
(corporation tax, inhabitants taxes and enterprise tax) which in
aggregate resulted in a normal statutory tax rate of 40.16% in
2008 and 2007.

The Company adopted the consolidated taxation system
effective from the year ended March 31, 2003. For consolidated
taxation system purposes, the Company has consolidated all
qualified, wholly owned domestic subsidiaries.

8 Income taxes

The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to a significant portion of the deferred tax assets and liabilities at March 31, 2008 and
2007 is as follows:

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2008 2007 2008

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued employees’ retirement benefits ........................................... ¥  44,530 ¥ 44,543 $   444,456
Inter-company profits on inventories and property and equipment  ... 11,131 5,428 111,099
Loss on evaluation for hedging exchange .......................................... 10,925 – 109,043
Accrued bonuses to employees ......................................................... 9,880 7,203 98,613
Provision for loss on antitrust proceedings ......................................... 6,505 – 64,927
Valuation loss on investments in securities ........................................ 2,472 1,048 24,673
Impairment loss .................................................................................. – 3,671 –
Tax loss carry-forward  ....................................................................... – 2,306 –
Accrued enterprise taxes .................................................................... 5,758 629 57,471
Allowance for doubtful accounts ........................................................ – 608 –
Other ................................................................................................... 11,605 12,536 115,828

Total gross deferred tax assets ....................................................... 102,806 77,972 1,026,110
Less valuation allowance................................................................. (12,157) (8,611) (121,339)
Total net deferred tax assets........................................................... 90,649 69,361 904,771

Deferred tax liabilities:
Unrealized holding gain on securities ................................................. (6,907) (7,641) (68,939)
Special depreciation reserve................................................................ (3,873) (2,729) (38,657)
Other ................................................................................................... (1,183) (15,521) (11,807)

Total gross deferred tax liabilities .................................................... (11,963) (25,891) (119,403)
Net deferred tax assets ................................................................... ¥  78,686 ¥ 43,470 $   785,368

A reconciliation of the difference between the statutory tax rate and the effective income tax rate for the years ended March 31, 2008,
2007 and 2006 is as follows:

2008 2008 2007 2006

Statutory tax rate ............................................................................... 40.16% 40.16% 40.16%
Reconciliation:

Entertainment expenses not qualifying for deduction ................... 0.85 2.01 1.67
Inhabitants tax per capita levy........................................................ 0.17 0.45 0.44
Change in valuation allowance and related adjustments ............... 2.67 (2.80) 10.23
Other.............................................................................................. (0.29) (5.80) (1.22)

Effective income tax rate ................................................................... 43.56% 34.02% 51.28%
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As lessee

(a) Finance leases
Finance lease transactions other than those that are expected to transfer ownership of the assets to the lessee are accounted for as

assets. Until previous fiscal year, the information on finance leases which are not recorded as assets and liabilities in the balance sheets is
summarized below.

Estimated acquisition costs, accumulated depreciation, accumulated impairment loss and net book value of leased assets at March 31,
2007 are as follows:

Yen (Millions)

2007

Aircraft:
Estimated acquisition cost ............................................................................................................................. ¥223,363
Estimated amount of accumulated depreciation............................................................................................ 138,153
Estimated net book value............................................................................................................................... 85,210

Others:
Estimated acquisition cost ............................................................................................................................. 15,365
Estimated amount of accumulated depreciation............................................................................................ 6,954
Estimated net book value............................................................................................................................... 8,411

Total:
Estimated acquisition cost ............................................................................................................................. 238,728
Estimated amount of accumulated depreciation............................................................................................ 145,107
Estimated net book value............................................................................................................................... ¥  93,621

Outstanding finance lease obligations at March 31, 2007 are as follows:

Yen (Millions)

2007

Current portion of finance lease obligations....................................................................................................... ¥23,169
Long-term finance lease obligations................................................................................................................... 74,341

............................................................................................................................................................... ¥97,510

9 Leases

Estimated amount of depreciation and finance charges for the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

Yen (Millions)

2007 2006

Estimated amount of depreciation
by the straight-line method over the lease period ............................................................. ¥26,737 ¥31,476

Estimated interest cost........................................................................................................ 2,099 3,216

Annual lease expenses charged to income were ¥30,048
million and ¥36,735 million for the years ended March 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively.

Effective April 1, 2007, the Company and its domestic
subsidiaries and affiliates have recorded leased assets and
finance lease obligation due to adoption of new standards for
lease transactions.

Tangible fixed lease assets include mainly aircraft, flight
equipment and host computers. Intangible fixed lease assets
include software.

The depreciation method for leased assets is described in 
“2. Summary of significant accounting policies (m) Leased assets
and amortization.”

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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As lessee

(b) Operating leases
The rental payments required under operating leases that have initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year

at March 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2007 2008

Current portion of operating lease obligations......................................... ¥ 33,275 ¥  32,824 $   332,119
Long-term operating lease obligations .................................................... 173,860 173,450 1,735,303

..................................................................................................... ¥207,135 ¥206,274 $2,067,422
Note: No impairment loss was allocated to leased assets.

Supplementary information for consolidated statements of changes in net assets for the year ended March 31, 2008 consisted of the
following:

(a) Type and number of outstanding shares Number of shares 
(Thousands) 

Balance at Increase in shares Decrease in shares Balance at
Type of shares beginning of year during the year during the year end of year

Issued stock:
Common stock ........................................................ 1,949,959 – – 1,949,959

Total..................................................................... 1,949,959 – – 1,949,959

Treasury stock:
Common stock (*1, *2) ........................................... 1,935 680 273 2,343

Total..................................................................... 1,935 680 273 2,343

(*1) Treasury stock increased by 680 thousand shares due to the repurchase of shares less than one unit.
(*2) Treasury stock decreased by 273 thousand shares due to the sale of shares less than one unit.

(b) Dividends
(1) Dividends paid to shareholders

Amount Amount Amount Amount
Resolution Type of (Millions (Thousands of per share per share Shareholders’ Effective

Date of approval approved by shares of Yen) U.S. dollars) (Yen) (U.S. dollars) cut-off date date

June 25, 2007 Annual general Common ¥5,844 $58,329 ¥3.00 $0.03 March 31, June 26,
meeting of shareholders stock 2007 2007

10 Supplementary information for consolidated statements of changes in net assets

As lessor

(c) Operating leases
The rental payments required under operating leases that have initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year at

March 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2007 2008

Current portion of operating lease obligations......................................... ¥1,175 ¥          – $11,728
Long-term operating lease obligations .................................................... 3,526 – 35,193

..................................................................................................... ¥4,701 ¥          – $46,921
Note: No impairment loss was allocated to leased assets.
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(2) Dividends with a shareholders’ cut-off date during the current fiscal year, ending March 31, 2009, but an effective date subsequent to the
current fiscal year

Amount Amount Amount Amount
Resolution Type of (Millions (Thousands of per share per share Shareholders’ Effective

Date of approval approved by shares of Yen) U.S. dollars) Paid from (Yen) (U.S. dollars) cut-off date date

June 23, 2008 Annual general Common ¥9,738 $97,195 Retained ¥5.00 $0.05 March 31, June 24,
meeting of shareholders stock earnings 2008 2008

In accordance with the Law, the Company provides a legal
reserve which is included in retained earnings. The Law provides
that an amount equal to at least 10% of the amounts to be
disbursed as distributions of earnings be appropriated to the legal
reserve until the total of the legal reserve and the additional paid-in
capital account equals 25% of the common stock account. The
Law provides that neither additional paid-in capital nor the legal
reserve is available for the payment of dividends, but both may be
used to reduce or eliminate a deficit by resolution of the

shareholders or may be transferred to common stock by
resolution of the Board of Directors. The Law also provides that, if
the total amount of additional paid-in capital and the legal reserve
exceeds 25% of the amount of common stock, the excess may
be distributed to the shareholders either as a return of capital or
as dividends subject to the approval of the shareholders. Under
the Law, however, such distributions can be made at anytime by
resolution of the shareholders or by the Board of Directors if
certain conditions are met.

At March 31, 2008, commitments outstanding for the
acquisition or construction of property and equipment amounted
to ¥864,471 million ($8,628,316 thousand).

The Company and consolidated subsidiaries were contingently
liable as guarantor of bonds with debt assumption contracts and
loans, principally to affiliates, amounting to ¥10,154 million
($101,347 thousand) at March 31, 2008.

11 Commitments and contingent liabilities

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries operate
internationally and are exposed to the risk of changes in foreign
exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices of fuel. In
order to manage these risks, the Company and its subsidiaries
utilize forward exchange contracts to hedge certain foreign
currency transactions related to purchase commitments,
principally of flight equipment, and foreign currency receivables
and payables. Also, the Company and its subsidiaries utilize
interest rate swaps to minimize the impact of interest rate
fluctuations related to their outstanding debt. In addition, the
Company also enters into a variety of swaps and options in its
management of risk exposure related to the commodity prices of
fuel. The Company and its subsidiaries do not use derivatives for
trading purposes.

The Company has developed internal hedging guidelines
to control various aspects of derivative transactions, including

authorization levels and transaction volumes. The Company
enters into derivative transactions in accordance with these
internal guidelines. Derivative and hedging transactions initiated
by respective operational departments have been examined by
the accounting department and these transactions, including
their measures and ratios, have been monitored by management
generally on a monthly basis. Assessment of hedge effectiveness
is examined at inception and, on an ongoing basis, periodically.
The consolidated subsidiaries have adopted the same procedures
for hedging activities as the Company.

The Company and its subsidiaries are also exposed to credit-
related losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties
to derivative financial instruments, but it is not expected that any
counterparties will fail to meet their obligations, because most of
the counterparties are internationally recognized financial
institutions.

12 Derivatives and hedging activities

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries conduct
operations in air transportation, travel services and other
businesses. Businesses other than air transportation and
travel services are insignificant to the consolidated results of
operations of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries and,

accordingly, are included in “Other businesses” in the following
industry segment information.

Other segment information of the Company and its
subsidiaries, such as geographical breakdown of sales and assets,
is not disclosed because of its insignificance.

13 Segment information

Segment information for the years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 is as follows:

Yen (Millions)

Air Travel Other Intercompany
As of and for the year ended March 31, 2008 transportation services businesses Total eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenues .............................. ¥1,178,884 ¥195,376 ¥113,567 ¥1,487,827 ¥ – ¥1,487,827

Intra-group sales and transfers............... 122,745 20,021 85,407 228,173 (228,173) –

Total ................................................... 1,301,629 215,397 198,974 1,716,000 (228,173) 1,487,827

Operating expenses ............................. 1,223,692 214,323 193,776 1,631,791 (228,353) 1,403,438

Operating income................................. ¥     77,937 ¥    1,074 ¥    5,198 ¥     84,209 ¥        180 ¥     84,389

Air Travel Other Intercompany
transportation services businesses Total eliminations Consolidated

Identifiable assets ................................ ¥1,669,618 ¥  52,023 ¥122,078 ¥1,843,719 ¥ (60,326) ¥1,783,393

Depreciation and amortization................ 135,202 1,400 2,516 139,118 – 139,118

Impairment loss ................................... 14,111 – – 14,111 – 14,111

Capital expenditure............................... 356,408 2,206 3,377 361,991 (4,258) 357,733

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

Air Travel Other Intercompany
As of and for the year ended March 31, 2008 transportation services businesses Total eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenues .............................. $11,766,484 $1,950,055 $1,133,516 $14,850,055 $ – $14,850,055

Intra-group sales and transfers............... 1,225,122 199,830 852,451 2,277,403 (2,277,403) –

Total ................................................... 12,991,606 2,149,885 1,985,967 17,127,458 (2,277,403) 14,850,055

Operating expenses ............................. 12,213,714 2,139,166 1,934,085 16,286,965 (2,279,200) 14,007,765

Operating income................................. $     777,892 $     10,720 $     51,881 $     840,493 $        1,797 $     842,290

Air Travel Other Intercompany
transportation services businesses Total eliminations Consolidated

Identifiable assets ................................ $16,664,517 $   519,244 $1,218,465 $18,402,226 $   (602,116) $17,800,110

Depreciation and amortization................ 1,349,456 13,974 25,112 1,388,542 – 1,388,542

Impairment loss ................................... 140,842 – – 140,842 – 140,842

Capital expenditure............................... 3,557,321 22,018 33,706 3,613,045 (42,499) 3,570,546
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Yen (Millions)

Air Travel Hotel Other Intercompany
As of and for the year ended March 31, 2007 transportation services operations businesses Total eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenues .............................. ¥1,134,250 ¥186,872 ¥  58,022 ¥110,514 ¥1,489,658 ¥           – ¥1,489,658

Intra-group sales and transfers............... 114,532 21,154 8,615 86,381 230,682 (230,682) –

Total ................................................... 1,248,782 208,026 66,637 196,895 1,720,340 (230,682) 1,489,658

Operating expenses ............................. 1,169,061 206,106 61,415 191,281 1,627,863 (230,395) 1,397,468

Operating income................................. ¥     79,721 ¥    1,920 ¥    5,222 ¥    5,614 ¥     92,477 ¥       (287) ¥     92,190

Air Travel Hotel Other Intercompany
transportation services operations businesses Total eliminations Consolidated

Identifiable assets ................................ ¥1,447,781 ¥  51,870 ¥143,179 ¥116,548 ¥1,759,378 ¥(157,287) ¥1,602,091

Depreciation and amortization................ 81,465 1,241 3,825 2,079 88,610 – 88,610

Impairment loss ................................... 10,704 – – 105 10,809 – 10,809

Capital expenditure............................... 242,572 2,432 2,899 4,357 252,260 (334) 251,926

Yen (Millions)

Air Travel Hotel Other Intercompany
As of and for the year ended March 31, 2006 transportation services operations businesses Total eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenues .............................. ¥1,022,090 ¥180,189 ¥  57,695 ¥108,818 ¥1,368,792 ¥           – ¥1,368,792

Intra-group sales and transfers............... 110,574 19,303 8,681 82,095 220,653 (220,653) –

Total ................................................... 1,132,664 199,492 66,376 190,913 1,589,445 (220,653) 1,368,792

Operating expenses ............................. 1,058,551 196,274 61,741 184,123 1,500,689 (220,699) 1,279,990

Operating income................................. ¥     74,113 ¥    3,218 ¥    4,635 ¥    6,790 ¥     88,756 ¥       46 ¥     88,802

Air Travel Hotel Other Intercompany
transportation services operations businesses Total eliminations Consolidated

Identifiable assets ................................ ¥1,476,599 ¥  50,120 ¥150,367 ¥131,675 ¥1,808,761 ¥(141,918) ¥1,666,843

Depreciation and amortization................ 67,984 1,046 3,822 3,349 76,201 – 76,201

Impairment loss ................................... 1,663 – 9,083 9,705 20,451 – 20,451

Capital expenditure............................... 189,501 1,176 42,881 2,224 235,782 (202) 235,580

14 Supplementary cash flow information

Reconciliation of the difference between cash stated in the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 and cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statements of cash flows is as follows:

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2007 2006 2008

Cash ........................................................................ ¥  51,410 ¥  41,108 ¥234,461 $ 513,125
Time deposits with maturities of

more than three months .......................................... (723) (711) (903) (7,216)
Marketable securities .................................................. 129,279 131,884 24,645 1,290,338
Marketable securities with maturities of 

more than three months .......................................... (2) (7) (15,418) (20)
Cash and cash equivalents.......................................... ¥179,964 ¥172,274 ¥242,785 $1,796,227

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Significant non-cash transactions for the year ended March 31, 2006 are as follows:

Yen (Millions)

2006

Issuance of new stock by execution of stock acquisition rights:
Credited to common stock............................................................................................................................. ¥    4,208
Credited to capital surplus.............................................................................................................................. 4,208

¥    8,418

The following are major components of assets and liabilities of the hotel business, which was sold by the Company, as well as a
reconciliation of the difference between the sales price of these assets and liabilities and the proceeds from the sale of the hotel business.

U.S. dollars
Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

2008 2008

Current assets ................................................................................................................... ¥ 142,087 $1,418,175
Fixed assets....................................................................................................................... 125,305 1,250,674
Other assets ...................................................................................................................... 117 1,167
Current liabilities ................................................................................................................ (136,266) (1,360,076)
Fixed liabilities ................................................................................................................... (6,027) (60,156)
Unrealized profits............................................................................................................... (2,934) (29,284)
Gain on sale of hotel business assets ............................................................................... 132,992 1,327,398

Sales price of hotel business............................................................................................. 255,274 2,547,898
Cash and cash equivalents ................................................................................................ (9,365) (93,472)
Proceeds from sale of hotel business assets.................................................................... ¥ 245,909 $2,454,426

The following are major components of assets and liabilities of ANA Real Estate Co., Ltd., which has been excluded from consolidation
due to sale of all of interests by the Company, as well as a reconciliation of the difference between the sales prices of this subsidiary’s stock
and the proceeds from the sale of subsidiary’s stock with changes in scope of consolidation.

Yen (Millions)

2006

Current assets .................................................................................................................................................... ¥   4,872
Fixed assets ....................................................................................................................................................... 37,948
Goodwill ............................................................................................................................................................. 275
Current liabilities................................................................................................................................................. (26,496)
Fixed liabilities .................................................................................................................................................... (11,014)
Gain on sale of subsidiary’s stock ...................................................................................................................... 11,372

Sales price of subsidiary’s stock ........................................................................................................................ 16,957
Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary............................................................................................................ (4,738)
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary’s stock with 

changes in scope of consolidation .................................................................................................................. ¥ 12,219
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The assets of the Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries are grouped by individual property in the case of  rental real estate,
assets expected to be sold, idle assets, and by management accounting categories in the case of business assets. Due to assets expected to
be sold, the book value of assets whose profitability dropped notably in the year ended March 31, 2008 and fell to the recoverable value, is
accounted for as impairment loss of ¥14,111 million ($140,842 thousands) under extraordinary losses.

U.S. dollars
As of and for the year ended March 31, 2008 Yen (Millions) (Thousands)

Application Category Impairment loss

Assets expected to be sold Aircraft ¥14,111 $140,842
Total ¥14,111 $140,842

As of and for the year ended March 31, 2007 Yen (Millions)

Application Location Category Impairment loss

Business assets 1 in Hokkaido Buildings ¥       44
Land 61
Total ¥     105

Assets expected to be sold Aircraft ¥10,704
Total ¥10,704

Note: The recoverable amount of the assets was measured using the net realizable value based on real estate appraisal or sales agreement, or using 
the value in use method with discount rates of 3.5% to 11.7%.

As of and for the year ended March 31, 2006 Yen (Millions)

Application Location Category Impairment loss

Hotel business assets 1 in Kanto / 2 others Buildings and others ¥  8,232
Others 806
Total ¥  9,038

Rental real estate assets 1 in Kanto / 5 others Land, buildings, and others ¥  7,462
Buildings and others 3,154
Total ¥10,616

Idle assets 2 in Kanto / 5 others Land and others ¥     778
Intangible fixed assets and others 19
Total ¥     797

Note: The recoverable value of the assets is calculated by the value of use, real estate appraisal, or fair value less costs to sell, minus future cash flow
of 3.5% to 10.0%.

15 Impairment loss

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Millions of yen

Percentage
ANA and Principal Subsidiaries Paid-in Owned by
and Affiliates Principal Businesses Revenues(Note) Capital(Note) the Parent

Air Transportation: Transportation Related

All Nippon Airways Co., Ltd. (ANA) Air transportation ¥1,341,360 ¥160,001 Parent

Air Nippon Co., Ltd. (ANK) Air transportation (mainly domestic mid/long-distance routes using 87,062 5,400 100.0
narrow-body aircraft)

Air Nippon Network Co., Ltd. (AKX) Air transportation (mainly within Hokkaido and Itami arrival/departure 13,852 50 100.0
routes using turbo-prop aircraft)

Air Japan Co., Ltd. (AJX) Air transportation (mainly Asian resort routes) 12,877 50 100.0

Air Central Co., Ltd. (CRF) Air transportation (mainly Nagoya arrival/departure routes using 7,672 300 86.7
turbo-prop aircraft)

Air Next Co., Ltd. (NXA) Air transportation (mainly Fukuoka and Nagoya arrival/departure 6,790 50 100.0
routes using narrow-body aircraft)

ANA & JP Express Co., Ltd. (AJV) Air cargo transportation 9,371 80 51.7

Air Transportation: Transportation Support Related

International Airport Utility Co., Ltd. Haneda Airport aircraft taxi/towing operations ¥     13,002 ¥       100 99.5

ANA Catering Service Co., Ltd. Preparation of in-flight meals 12,769 352 100.0

New Tokyo Airport Service Co., Ltd. Narita Airport aircraft taxi/towing operations 10,481 60 100.0

ANA Aircraft Maintenance Co., Ltd. Maintenance, repair, and improvement of aircraft and equipment 9,046 450 100.0

Travel Services

ANA Sales Co., Ltd. Travel services (development, support, and sales of domestic and ¥   205,097 ¥    1,000 100.0
international travel packages)

ANA SALES AMERICAS Travel services (support for travel packages in the United States) $       8,437(thousand) $    1,020(thousand) 100.0

Other Businesses

All Nippon Airways Trading Co., Ltd. Trading and retail (development of airport stores and other stores ¥   144,245 ¥       360 100.0
and direct sales through ANA in-flight magazine and other methods)

ANA Information Systems Planning Co., Ltd. System consulting and system integration services 19,063 52 100.0

Sky Building Service Co., Ltd. Contracting of building/facility maintenance, management, 11,647 80 93.6
and cleaning services

ANA Logistic Service Co., Ltd. Air cargo imports warehousing and import/export administration 8,586 465 95.0

ANA Business Create Co., Ltd. Air ticket inspection/HR dispatch and introduction services 7,996 200 100.0

Note: Figures for revenues and paid-in capital of each company are stated before intercompany eliminations.

(As of March 31, 2008)

Operating segment Total of Subsidiaries of which, consolidated of which, equity method Total of affiliates of which, equity method

Air Transportation 40 40 － 4 4

Travel Services 9 9 － 1 1

Other Businesses 63 32 5 35 13

Total 112 81 5 40 18
Note: ANA sold its hotel business in June 2007.

Number of Subsidiaries and Affiliates

Major Subsidiaries

The ANA Group
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ANA Route System

Domestic Network

Passengers

Number of routes: 124
Number of flights: 910 per day

Cargo

Number of routes: 4
Number of flights: 10 per day

● Cities served by ANA Group, 
including code-sharing with 
IBEX Airlines (IBX),
Air Do (ADO),
Skynet Asia (SNA), and
Starflyer (SFJ)
Cargo-only route

Philadelphia

New York (Newark, 
J.F. Kennedy, La Guardia)

Providence
Portland

BurlingtonNorfolk
Albany

Syracuse

Rochester

Cleveland

Detroit

Harrisburg
Pittsburgh

Greenville
Roanoke

Greensboro

Richmond

Raleigh-Durham
Columbia

Charleston
Jacksonville

Washington,
D.C

ワシントン
D.C.

Shenyang

Beijing
Tianjin

Xian

Dalian
Seoul (Incheon)

Busan

Seoul (Gimpo)

JejuQingdao

Shanghai
(Pudong)

Shanghai(Hongqiao)

Chongqing
Chengdu

TaipeiXiamen
Hong Kong

Shenzhen
Guangzhou

Bangkok
Chiang Mai

Chiang Rai Hanoi

Cairo

Luxor

Johannesburg

Doha Dubai

Istanbul

Kuala Lumpur

Bangalore
Chennai

Delhi

Mumbai
Phuket

Langkawi
Penang

Ho Chi Minh City
Hat Yai

Krabi
Kota Kinabalu

Kuching

Jakarta

Singapore

Paris Vienna
Salzburg 

Linz Praha

Innsbruck Graz

Frankfurt
Munich

Zurich

Dusseldorf
Bruxelles

New York
(J.F. Kennedy, Newark).

Charlotte

Atlanta 

Washington, D.C. (Dulles)

Philadelphia

San Francisco

Portland

Honolulu

Guam

Boston

Chicago

St. Louis
Nashville

Vancouver

Anchorage

Seattle
Denver

Narita
Haneda

Sendai
Fukushima

Kansai
Chubu

Toyama 
Kanazawa
(Komatsu)

Fukuoka
Kumamoto

Miyazaki

Okinawa

Takamatsu
Matsuyama

Asahikawa

Sapporo

Hiroshima
Yonago

Mexico City

Salt Lake City

Las Vegas
Phoenix

San DiegoSanta Ana 

Toronto

Minneapolis
Cincinnati

Buffalo
Baltimore

Hamburg

Amsterdam Warsaw

Copenhagen

Oslo
Stockholm

Helsinki

Edinburgh
Aberdeen

Glasgow
Leeds London

Belfast

Dublin
Manchester Berlin

Geneva 

Lisboa

Madrid

Lyon Milan

Roma

Nice

Miami
Orlando

TampaHoustonLos Angeles

Cleveland
Montreal
Pittsburgh
OttawaColumbus

Richmond

Hangzhou
Wuhan

New Orleans
Raleigh-Durham

BirminghamDetroit
Indianapolis

Kansas City
HarrisburgMemphis

Manchester
Milwaukee
Madison

Omaha
Norfolk

Providence
Portland

Roanoke
Rochester

San Antonio
Louisville

Syracuse
Westchester

Knoxville
Winnipeg

Lexington
Jacksonville

Greenville

Grand Rapids
Greensboro

Des Moines
Charleston
Columbia
Burlington

Dallas
Dayton

Allentown
Albany
Austin
Hartford

Chicago

Austin
Albuquerque

Baltimore

Bakersfield

Tucson

Sacramento

Santa Barbara

Boise

Fresno

Monterey

Palm Springs
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Memanbetsu
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Fukushima

Iwami
Tsushima
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Ishigaki

Gotofukue
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Sendai
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Okayama

Osaka
(Kansai)

Osaka
(Itami)

Oita
KumamotoNagasaki

Kagoshima

Matsuyama

Kochi
Tokushima

Fukuoka 
Kitakyushu

Saga

Takamatsu

Tottori

KobeYamaguchi/
Ube
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Kanazawa
(Komatsu)
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Hiroshima

Okinawa
(Naha)

Nagoya
(Chubu)

Narita

Oshima
Miyakejima

Miyazaki

Noto

Hachijojima

Nakashibetsu

Sapporo
 (Chitose)

International Network

Passengers

Number of routes: 39
Number of flights: 626 per week
(ANA Group flights only, excluding
charter flights to / from Haneda)

Cargo

Number of routes: 18
Number of flights: 104 per week

●Cities served by ANA Group
●Cities served by code-sharing

Cargo-only routes

(As of June 6, 2008)



Trade Name
All Nippon Airways Co., Ltd.

Date of Foundation
December 27, 1952

Head Office
Shiodome City Center, 1-5-2 Higashi-Shimbashi, 
Minato-ku, Tokyo 105-7133, Japan
TEL: 81-3-6735-1000
FAX: 81-3-6735-1005
URL: http://www.ana.co.jp/eng/index.html

Offices
Japan
Sapporo, Tokyo, Nagoya, Osaka, Fukuoka, Okinawa, 
and 39 offices in other cities
United States
Los Angeles; New York; Washington, D.C.; Chicago; 
San Francisco; Honolulu; Guam
Europe
London, Paris, Frankfurt, Dusseldorf, Hamburg, Zurich, Geneva,
Brussels, Moscow, Rome, Madrid
Asia
Beijing, Tianjin, Shenyang, Dalian, Qingdao, Shanghai, Xiamen,
Hangzhou, Guangzhou, Hong Kong, Taipei, Seoul, Bangkok, 
Ho Chi Minh City, Yangon, Kuala Lumpur, Singapore, Mumbai

Number of Employees
31,345 (Consolidated) 

Paid-in Capital
¥160,001 million 

Fiscal Year-End
March 31 

Number of Shares of Common Stock
Authorized: 3,900,000,000 shares
Issued: 1,949,959,257 shares

Number of Shareholders
285,117

Stock Listings
Tokyo, Osaka, and London

Ticker Code
9202

Major Shareholders

Number of Percentage of
shares held total shares
(Thousands) in issue

Nagoya Railroad Co., Ltd. 71,982 3.69%
Japan Trustee Service Bank, Ltd. (trust account) 46,624 2.39
State Street Bank and Trust Company 41,497 2.13
Tokio Marine & Nichido Fire Insurance Co., Ltd. 41,452 2.13
The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (trust account) 39,479 2.02
Mitsui Sumitomo Insurance Co., Ltd. 34,770 1.78
Nippon Life Insurance Company 30,681 1.57
All Nippon Airways Co., Ltd. Employee Stock 29,590 1.52Ownership Association
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation 26,820 1.38
Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd. 26,753 1.37

Total 389,648 19.98%

Transfer Agent
The Sumitomo Trust and Banking Co., Ltd.
1-10, Nikko-cho, Fuchu, Tokyo 183-8701, Japan

Independent Auditors
Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC

American Depositary Receipts
Ratio (ADR:ORD): 1:2
Exchange: OTC (Over-the-Counter)
Symbol: ALNPY
CUSIP: 016630303
Depositary:

The Bank of New York Mellon
101 Barclay Street, 22 West, New York, NY 10286, U.S.A.
TEL: 1-201-680-6825
U.S. Toll Free: 1-888-269-2377 (888-BNY-ADRS)
URL: http://www.adrbnymellon.com

Stock Price and Ratios (Consolidated)
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Stock Price* (¥):
High ....................................... 486 489 509 403 364
Low ....................................... 385 392 321 312 191

PER (times):
High ....................................... 14.8 29.2 32.5 23.3 22.6
Low ....................................... 11.7 23.4 20.5 18.1 11.8

Price / Cash Flow Ratio (times):
High ....................................... 5.2 7.9 8.9 6.8 6.3
Low ....................................... 4.2 6.3 5.6 5.3 3.3

PBR (times):

High ....................................... 2.1 2.4 2.9 3.1 3.7
Low ....................................... 1.7 1.9 1.8 2.4 2.0

Net Income per Share (¥)............... 32.93 16.77 15.64 17.26 16.14

Equity per Share (¥) ....................... 232.58 204.42 177.89 128.31 97.66

Cash Dividends per Share (¥)......... 5.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00

* Tokyo Stock Exchange

Stock Price

Stock Price Range and Trading Volume

Composition of Shareholders (by number of shares)

April 2005 April 2006 April 2007 April 2008

(¥) ■ Trading Volume  (right scale)    (Thousands of shares)Stock Price (left scale)
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Financial institutions　25.08%

Other Japanese companies
21.50%

Foreign companies　8.47%

Government and local government　0.06%

Securities companies　0.46%
Individuals and others
44.43%
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Investor Information
(As of March 31, 2008)

Contact:
Investor Relations 
All Nippon Airways Co., Ltd.
Shiodome City Center, 1-5-2 Higashi-Shimbashi, 
Minato-ku, Tokyo 105-7133, Japan
TEL: 81-3-6735-1030    FAX: 81-3-6735-1185
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